
 
 

Please ask for: 

Lisa Young 
Direct dial: 

(023) 9254 5340 
Fax: 

(023) 9254 5587 
E-mail: 

lisa.young@gosport.gov.uk 
 

9 November 2021 
 

S U M M O N S 
 
MEETING: Economic Development Board 
DATE: 17 November 2021 
TIME: 6.00 pm 
PLACE: Council Chamber 
Democratic Services contact: Lisa Young 

 

 
PAUL GRANT 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD 

 

The Mayor, Councillor Hook (ex-Officio) 
Chairman of the Policy and Organisation Board, Councillor Burgess (ex-Officio) 

 
Councillor Philpott (Chairman) 

                                                         Councillor Beavis (Vice-Chairman)  
 
  

 

Councillor Bateman 
Councillor Casey 
Councillor Mrs Furlong 
Councillor Hutchison 
Councillor Johnston 
 

Councillor Mrs Jones 
Councillor Miss Kelly 
Councillor Mitchell 
Councillor Pepper 
Councillor Scard 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 
FIRE PRECAUTIONS 

 
(To be read by the Chairman if members of the public are present) 

 
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, please leave the room immediately. Proceed 
downstairs by way of the main stairs or as directed by GBC staff, follow any of the emergency 
exit signs. People with disability or mobility issues please identify yourself to GBC staff who 
will assist in your evacuation of the building. 
 

IMPORTANT NOTICE: 
 

 If you are in a wheelchair or have difficulty in walking and require 
access to the Committee Room on the First Floor of the Town Hall 
for this meeting, assistance can be provided by Town Hall staff on 
request. 

 
If you require any of the services detailed above please ring the Direct Line 
for the Democratic Services Officer listed on the Summons (first page). 

 
NOTE: 
 

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak.  

 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting. 

 

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 

consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded.  

 

iv. Please wear a mask moving around the Council Chamber and take a lateral flow test before 

attending.  

 



Economic Development Board 
17 November 2021 

 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1.   Apologies for non-attendance   

2.   Declarations of Interest   

 All Members are required to disclose at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter, any disclosable pecuniary interest or 
personal interest in any item(s) being considered at this meeting.   
 

 

3.   Minutes of the previous meeting of the Economic Development 
Board held 22 September 2021 (Pages 1 - 4) 

 

 To sign the minutes of the meeting held on the 22 September 2021 
as a true and correct record.  
 

 

4.   Deputations - Standing Order 3.4   

 (NOTE: The Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Monday 15th November 2021.  The 
total time for deputations in favour and against a proposal shall not 
exceed 10 minutes). 
 

 

5.   Public Questions - Standing Item 3.5   

 (NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Monday 
15th November 2021) 
 

 

6.   Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan - GBC Response 
to HCC Consultation (Pages 5 - 22) 

 

 This report sets out details of Hampshire County Council’s Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) consultation and 
the basis for the Borough Council’s formal response. 
 

 

7.   2021-36 DRAFT CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY, 
EVIDENCE BASE AND ACTION PLAN (Pages 23 - 194) 

 

   



Economic Development Board 
17 November 2021 

 
 

To request that the Board considers the contents of the 2021-36 Draft Cultural 

Development Strategy, Evidence Base and Action Plan supporting it, and give its 

approval to carry out a short public consultation exercise. 
 

8.   Fareham Local Plan 2037: Statement of Common Ground 
between Fareham Borough Council and Gosport Borough 
Council (Pages 195 - 246) 

 

 In accordance with the Government’s National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) public bodies have a duty to cooperate on 
planning issues that cross administrative boundaries.  Consequently 
it is necessary for both Gosport Borough Council (GBC) and 
Fareham Borough Council (FBC) to agree a Statement of Common 
Ground (SoCG) for their respective Local Plans. This report sets out 
the details of the SoCG for the Fareham Local Plan 2037 (FLP2037). 
 

 

9.   High Street Heritage Action Zone Project G14: High Street 
Markets Development (Pages 247 - 298) 

 

 To update the Economic Development Board with progress on the 
Gosport High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) project to 
enhance and reinvigorate Gosport High Street’s Saturday and 
Tuesday markets. 
 

 

10.   Any Other Items   

 Which the Chairman determines should be  considered, by reason of 
special circumstances, as a matter of urgency 
 

 

11.   Exclusion of the Public   

 That in relation to the following items the public be excluded from the 
meeting, as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the 
public were present during these items there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information within Paragraph 3 of Part 3 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972, and further that in all 
circumstances of the cases, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, for 
the reasons set out in the report. 
 

 

12.   HSHAZ Lease of 51-52 High Street, Gosport (Pages 299 - 306)  

 The contracts are at this point still subject to negotiations. 
 

 

13.   EXEMPTIONS FROM CORPORATE PROCUREMENT  



Economic Development Board 
17 November 2021 

 
 

REGULATIONS FOR HSHAZ STRATEGIC INITIATIVES (Pages 
307 - 314) 

 Negotiations with various organisations will still be ongoing at the 
time of the November Board and as such will be ‘Commercially 
Confidential’. Details of these should therefore not be put into the 
public domain. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Economic Development Board 
22 September 2021 

 

1 

A MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD 
WAS HELD ON 22 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
Councillor Burgess 
 
Councillors Philpott, Beavis, Casey, Hutchison, Miss Kelly, Mitchell and Scard 
 
 
59. APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE  
 
There were none.  
 
60. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none.  
 
61. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

BOARD HELD  
 
RESOLVED: That the minute of the meeting held on the 1st July 2021 be signed as a true 
and correct record.  
 
62. DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4  
 
There were none.  
 
63. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ITEM 3.5  
 
There were none.  
 
64. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & REGENERATION ACTIVITY UPDATE  
 
Consideration was giving to a report of the Economic Development and Regeneration 
Manager updating the Board on the progress of current projects and outline the Activity 
programme until the end of March 2022. 
 
The Board was advised that the Art Council had identified Gosport as one of the priority 
areas and that Gosport had also been identified as a priority for levelling up and that both of 
these would have a positive and important impact on the Borough. The Board was also 
advised that there was confidence this would bring tangible results.  
 
Members thanked the Economic Development Officers for the work they had undertaken.  
 
The Board noted the report.  
 
 
 
65. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) NEIGHBOURHOOD FUND- REVIEW 

OF ARRANGEMENTS  
 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3



Economic Development Board 
22 September 2021 

 

2 

Consideration was given to a report of the Planning Policy Manager advising Members of 
the 2021 arrangements regarding the neighbourhood portion of the CIL which the Council is 
currently collecting from developers . 
 
Members recognised that the pandemic had reduced the amount of development being 
undertaken and it was hoped this would be a temporary measure.  
 
That this Board: 
 

- Note progress of previous grant awards 

- Agree that the Round 3 Neighbourhood CIL Fund is deferred to 2022 due to 
limited funds in the Neighbourhood CIL pot (as at 1st September 2021). 

 Agree to pay GVA a reduced management fee for this year to cover ongoing duties with 
existing CIL projects. 
 
66. CONSULTATION DRAFT (REGULATION 18) OF THE GOSPORT BOROUGH 

LOCAL PLAN 2038  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Manager of Planning Policy seeking 
consideration and approval for publication of the Consultation Draft of the Gosport Borough 
Local Plan 2038 for public comment.  
 
In answer to a Member’s question the Board was advised at this Regulation 18 stage the 
report was not a Part I report, to be considered by Full Council as this was for consultation 
and liable to still be changed. However at the stage all consultations and amendments had 
been completed the Plan would be considered by Full Council.  
 
A Members questioned that whether, with the proposals for increased housing, would be 
accompanied by a better provision of infrastructure, like doctors surgeries.  
 
The Board was advised that evidence studies had been undertaken on the provision of 
medical facilities and that an infrastructure assessment had shown that there was not an 
issue with the provision of facilities, but there were localised issues with management of 
surgeries and availability of medical practitioners.  
 
The Board was also advised any additional construction would need to consult sewer 
policies to ensure capacity was sufficient and the developer would need to contribute to any 
upgrades necessary. 
 
There were other localised aspects such as Haslar Bridge improvements would need to be 
considered as development came forward.  
 
In answer to a Member’s question, the location of the proposed site in Heritage Way was 
clarified and that any development would be subject to a planning application.  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Board  

 Approves the Gosport Borough Local Plan 2038 for consultation purposes (as set 
out in Appendix A) together with the Draft Policies Map (Appendix B). 



Economic Development Board 
22 September 2021 

 

3 

 Delegates authority to the Manager of Planning Policy to make minor amendments 
to the Local Plan prior to the consultation period starting. 

 
67. INTERIM LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR THE NEW GOSPORT 

BOROUGH LOCAL PLAN 2038  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Planning Policy Manager seeking approval to 
publish an interim Local Development Scheme.  
 
The Board was advised that the report was the timetable for the publication of the 
preparation of the Local plan and was a robust document.  
 
In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that the consultation would be 
published on the website as well as in public areas and that there would be a booking 
scheme for consultation venues as well as drop ins to limit numbers.  
Consultation venues would include local library and hubs.  
 
It was reiterated that there was more consultation sessions available than normal and that 
there would be a press release detailing the process.  
 
RESOLVED:  
That the board approves the Interim Local Development Scheme September 2021 
 
68. HOUSING DELIVERY TEST ACTION PLAN (SEPTEMBER 2021)  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Planning Policy Manager requesting the annual 
review of the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan.  
 
The action plan was required as the delivery of housing was less than 95% of the required 
amount.  
 
A request had been made to consider the nitrates issue as mitigating circumstances, 
however this had not been accepted. There had also been a reduction in development as a 
result of the Covid 19 pandemic.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Board approves the 2021 Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (Annex 
1) for publication by 24 September 2021, and that any minor amendments be delegated to 
the Manager of Planning Policy. 
 
69. ANY OTHER ITEMS  
 
There were none.  
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

 
Concluded at 6.34 pm 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Board/Committee: Economic Development Board 

Date of meeting: 17th November 2021 

Title: Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan – GBC 
Response to HCC Consultation 

Author: Manager of Planning Policy 

Status: FOR DECISION 

 

Purpose 

This report sets out details of Hampshire County Council’s Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) consultation and the basis for the Borough 
Council’s formal response. 

Recommendation 

That the Council: 

i) Supports and welcomes the LCWIP to order to improve walking and 
cycling infrastructure within the Borough. 
 

ii) Recommends to HCC that the LCWIP references a suggested list of 
additional walking and cycling -related schemes in Gosport Borough 
and relevant routes into neighbouring local authority areas. 
 

iii) Delegates authority to the Manager of Traffic and Transport to provide 
detailed technical and typographical comments to HCC. 

 

1.0 Background 
 

1.1 Hampshire County Council have been preparing draft Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) for a number of Boroughs in the 
county including Fareham, Havant, Eastleigh, Test Valley and Gosport. 
They have been working with the active travel charity ‘Sustrans’ and the 
local authorities in developing these draft LCWIPs. 

  
1.2 LCWIPs, as set out in the Government’s Cycling and Walking and 

Investment Strategy in 20171, are intended to help increase cycling and 
walking rates in local areas, and enable a strategic approach to be taken 
through an understanding of existing and future travel patterns. This 
includes identifying barriers to travel by these modes, and where increases 
in walking and cycling trips can be promoted. It is intended that LCWIPs 
will identify a prioritised programme of infrastructure improvement options 
for future investment over a period of up to 10 years (but be reviewed and 
updated approximately every 5 years, or when significant changes occur). 
HCC considers the adoption of an LCWIP to be essential for bidding for 

                                                           
1
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-investment-strategy  

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-investment-strategy


national sustainable travel funding, when opportunities arise. 
  
1.3 LCWIPs will form a key component of the Government’s strategy to 

increase the number of trips made on foot or by bicycle. To support the 
drawing up of these documents the Department for Transport has provided 
an LCWIP Technical Guidance (2017)2, which identifies the key outputs of 
these documents as being: 
 

 a network plan for walking and cycling which identifies preferred 
routes and core zones for further development; 

 a prioritised programme of infrastructure improvements for future 
investment; 

 a report which sets out the underlying analysis carried out and 
provides a narrative which supports the identified improvements and 
network. 

  
1.4 The Technical Guidance also outlines the methodology that should be 

used to draw up an LCWIP, which involves the following process: 
 

 Determining scope; 

 Gathering information; 

 Network planning for cycling; 

 Network planning for walking; 

 Prioritising improvements; 

 Integration and application. 
  
1.5 HCC have followed this process in the preparation of this LCWIP and 

subject to adoption, are now at the final stage – integration and application. 
  
1.6 LCWIPs link with other strategic planning documents, including Local 

Transport Plans (HCC), Local Plans (Local Planning Authorities) and other 
walking and cycling strategies to ensure that opportunities for identifying 
new and improved infrastructure is at the heart of land use and transport 
planning, enabling people to have access to a wide range of well-
connected networks. 

  
1.7 LCWIPs are supported by HCCs Local Transport Plan 3, their emerging 

Local Transport Plan 4, and Hampshire’s walking and cycling strategies. 
The aims of  HCC’s walking and cycling strategies are defined as: 
 

 Walking: By 2025, walking will be the travel mode of choice for 
short trips and the most popular and accessible means of 
recreation. 

 Cycling: By 2025, cycling will be a convenient, safe, healthy, 
affordable and popular means of transportation and recreation 
within Hampshire. 

                                                           
2
 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/90
8535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf


1.8 The LCWIPs seek to build on HCC’s established high-level, countywide 
Walking and Cycling Strategies and focus on the development, 
prioritisation and delivery of schemes at the local level. 

  
1.9 Improvements to the walking and cycling infrastructure will help towards 

building healthy and friendly neighbourhoods and fulfil HCC’s duty to 
improve both the physical and mental health of our residents, and bringing 
physical activity into daily routines. The adoption of the LCWIP will also 
assist in delivering HCC’s emerging Healthy Weights Strategy 2025 - for 
which GBC is a stakeholder - and support HCC and GBC Climate Change 
Strategies. 

  
1.10 An initial ‘rapid’ LCWIP was undertaken by HCC in 2018 and covered a 

limited travel zone within both Gosport and Fareham Boroughs. It was 
completed in 2018 as part of a programme to address projected air quality 
exceedances at a section of the A27 between the Quay Street and Delme 
junctions in Fareham. The Draft LCWIP for the whole of the Borough 
follows on from this initial work in order to seek longer-term and more 
ambitious measures along with engaging with stakeholders and users to 
develop the wider network. 

  
1.11 Hampshire County Council is now seeking views on their Draft LCWIP, 

which was published on 6 September 2021, and the Borough Council has 
been invited to comment formally. 3 

  
2.0 Report 
  
2.1 Early stakeholder engagement took place in August 2019, where a 

workshop was hosted by HCC and Sustrans at the Town Hall in order to 
seek the views of a variety of user groups with local knowledge, which has 
fed into the draft LCWIP.  Information gathered included knowledge of the 
existing transport network, travel patterns, the location of significant 
destinations (existing and planned) including employment sites, transport 
interchanges, housing developments, retail/town centre areas and 
leisure/recreation facilities. Information and views on the perception of 
existing walking and cycling facilities was also sought in order to highlight 
any areas of concern. This initial engagement has shaped the content of 
this Draft LCWIP. 

  
2.2 The Draft LCWIP contains detail with regards to the methodology, case 

studies and background mapping data used in its production. The majority 
of the document however focuses on a number of key significant routes 
which would benefit from infrastructure improvements. These routes have 

                                                           
3
 A copy of the document can be viewed at the following link 

https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-

limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-

Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf 

 

https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf
https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf
https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf


been identified through an audit process, supplemented with local 
stakeholder consultation. 

  
2.3 The key routes are identified as being either ‘primary routes’, which are 

busy, direct and main routes, or ‘secondary routes’, which are medium 
usage routes through local areas, which connect to primary routes. 

  
2.4 The routes identified for improvement are: 

 

 Gosport Core Walking Zone: this is centred on the Town Centre, 
Stoke Road and their immediate surroundings. 

 Route 350: Henry Cort Way to Gosport Ferry Terminal 

 Route 265: Warsash to Gosport 

 Route 266: Broom Way / Cherque Way junction to Gosport Ferry 
Terminal 

 Route 267: Daedalus Drive / Stubbington Lane junction to Heritage 
Way  

 Route 268: Rowner to Gosport Town Centre 

 Route 346: Fort Fareham to Pier Street, Lee-on-the-Solent 

 Route 347: Fareham Common to Privett 

 Route 348: Grove Road / St Thomas’s Road junction to Crescent 

 Access to bus stops: improving access to the BRT from Standard 
Aero, Vian Close and Grange Road Roundabout 

  
2.5 Plans of these routes are shown in Appendix 1. It is noted that some of 

these routes extend beyond the Borough boundary and in these instances 
HCC is coordinating with the Fareham LCWIP4 to link up the routes. 

  
2.6 Each of the identified routes has a series of recommended interventions, 

which are detailed in a route section and summarised into a ‘Table of 
recommendations’ on pages 86 – 88 of the Draft LCWIP, which includes a 
very high-level cost estimate (low / medium / high cost). The exception to 
this is the ‘Access to bus stops’ project which has been roughly costed at 
£1m. Further viability and technical assessments will be required before 
any of these route recommendations could be taken forward. 

  
2.7 With the exception of the Gosport Core Walking Zone and Access to bus 

stops, all of the proposed route improvements are for cycling. This cycle-
focused approach ensures that a network of improvements is proposed 
across the Borough and prioritises the most efficient routes for increasing 
walking and cycling trips, as identified through the methodology and 
consultation process. Some of the infrastructure improvements proposed 
for cycling are also likely to provide ancillary pedestrians benefits too, such 
as through junction narrowing and traffic calming. The focused scope of 
the LCWIP has however excluded many other potentially effective 
sustainable travel schemes, particularly those for pedestrians (such as 

                                                           
4
 https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-

limited/image/upload/v1630939595/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Fareham-LCWIP-Report-
1920x1080-Small.pdf  

https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939595/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Fareham-LCWIP-Report-1920x1080-Small.pdf
https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939595/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Fareham-LCWIP-Report-1920x1080-Small.pdf
https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939595/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Fareham-LCWIP-Report-1920x1080-Small.pdf


other walking zones). 
  
2.8 
 

To supplement this, and broaden future options, the Council has submitted 
a suggested list of other suitable walking and cycling projects (see 
Appendix 2). Whilst these projects may not have been identified through 
the methodology they are considered to add value to the document and 
are based on local experience. These schemes support the overall 
objectives of the LCWIP and will enhance the wider network of walking and 
cycling routes. This is likely to deliver increases in the number of people 
walking and cycling as well as improving the quality of the overall 
experience. This includes assisting individuals in walking and cycling for a 
variety of purposes, such as commuting and trips to school and community 
facilities, as well as encouraging the use of routes for recreation and 
exercise. Importantly given the health issues identified by HCC’s Public 
Health team, proposals on the suggested list accord well with objectives to 
lead healthier lives. Examples of projects from the suggested list include: 
 

 Huhtamaki Cycle Route: Provision of new cycle route along the 
southern boundary of the Huhtamaki site which will improve access 
to Brune Park school. 

 Various improved cycle links to and within the Alver Valley 

 Various linkages to improve cross-Gosport routes (for example 
adjacent Military Road) 

  
2.9 In addition to the suggested list of additional LCWIP projects, the Council 

will submit written detailed comments to HCC which includes 
recommendations for a number of amendments to the overall document, 
both technical and typographical as well as suggestions to improve clarity. 

  
3.0 Conclusion 
  
3.1 The principle of the document is very much welcomed and will provide a 

firm basis for Hampshire County Council as the Local Highway Authority to 
promote cycling and walking infrastructure improvements within the 
Borough, and seek the required funding to deliver schemes once they have 
been developed further. It will also assist in the delivery of a number of the 
Borough Council’s corporate objectives and strategies, as well as 
supporting a number of HCC strategies.  

  
3.2 As indicated above some further amendments of this draft document are 

suggested. The most significant of which is the inclusion in the LCWIP of 
the suggested list of additional cycling and walking projects in the Borough. 
Whilst it is understood that the preparation of the LCWIP, including the 
selection of the key routes, has followed the prescribed methodology as 
well as the consultation process, it is considered useful to both HCC and 
GBC to append the suggested list of other projects to assist with future 
funding bids and to incorporate these into other relevant plans and 
strategies produced by both Councils. It is therefore recommended that the 
LCWIP refers to the suggested list in the main document for further 
consideration, which for the reasons set out in this report are relevant to 



the objectives of the LCWIP. 
 

Financial 
Services 
comments: 

There will be no immediate cost to the Council as the preparation of the 
document is being undertaken by HCC 
 

Legal 
Services 
comments: 

None 
 

Equality and 
Diversity: 

This is a strategy produced by HCC and not GBC and consequently 
would need to be subject to their internal processes. 
 

Climate 
Change 
implications: 

By improving walking and cycling routes in the Borough, the LCWIP will 
contribute towards the Council achieving its climate change reduction 
targets.  
 

Crime and 
Disorder: 

This is a strategy document produced by HCC.  Individual schemes as 
they arise from the document will need to be assessed in terms of their 
safety with regard to crime and disorder including appropriate mitigation. 
 

Corporate 
Plan: 

The enhancement of local walking and cycling routes will assist a 
number of objectives within the Council’s Plan on a Page. This includes 
'ensuring easier access to local facilities and open space' (Enhance the 
environment), 'improving transport to and from and also in the borough' 
(Develop the economy) and 'improving health and well-being' (Empower 
our residents). 
 

Risk 
Assessment: 

Without an established LCWIP in place providing an assessment of 
existing walking and cycling facilities, together with proposals for 
improvements and the setting of a priority list there is likely to be less 
success when bidding for funding to deliver walking and cycling 
improvements. 
 
The inclusion of the suggested-list of LCWIP projects is recommended 
to ensure a broader range of sustainable travel options going forward. 

Background 
Papers: 
 

Borough of Gosport-Draft Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure (KCC 
Plan (HCC and Sustrans September 2021) 
https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-
limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-
Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf 

 

Appendices:  Appendix 1: Key routes identified for infrastructure improvements 

 Appendix 2: ’Suggested  List’  of  further local cycling and walking 
infrastructure projects 

Report 
Author/Lead 
Officer: 

Andrew Broster, Traffic and Transport Manager 
 

 

Appendix 1: Key routes identified for infrastructure improvements 

https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf
https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf
https://res.cloudinary.com/commonplace-digital-limited/image/upload/v1630939590/projects/Hampshire%20LCWIPs/Gosport_LCWIP-Report_1920x1080-Small.pdf


 

Figure 1 - Gosport Core Walking Zone (Source: Gosport LCWIP) 

 

Figure 2 - Primary and Secondary routes (Source: Gosport LCWIP) 



This page is intentionally left blank



   
1 

  

Appendix 2: 
GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
‘SUGGESTED LIST’ FOR LOCAL CYCLING 

AND WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE 
PLAN (LCWIP) PROJECTS 

 
 

SUPPLEMENT TO LCWIP 
CONSULTATION  

RESPONSE FROM GBC 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   
2 

 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

 

1.1 This document is intended to supplement GBC’s comments on the Draft Local 

Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). The document sets out the 

Borough Council’s aspirations for the delivery of walking and cycling infrastructure 

projects in the Borough, as well as complimentary walking and cycling initiatives, 

which it is considered will add to the overall LCWIP narrative. 

 

1.2 Enhanced active travel is a priority for Gosport Borough Council to reduce 

congestion, deliver health and wellbeing benefits, and support the town’s tourism 

and visitor economy. 

 

 

 

  



 

   
3 

LCWIP PROJECTS 
 
 
 

Project Details Type Location Delivery 
 

 
Gosport Ferry Ticketing 
Ticketing initiatives to support 
increased use of the ferry. Initiatives 
could include: 

 Lower price tickets including 
season tickets 

 Taking a bike on the ferry for 
free 

 Introduction of a single ticket 
fare 

 

 
Walking and 
cycling initiative, 
recreational and 
commuter 

 
Gosport 
Transport 
Interchange 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 
Enhanced Park and 
Float trial currently 
underway – initial 
period of 6 months 
(July to end 
December 2021) 

 
Gosport Cycle Map Update 
Update and reprint of the Gosport 
Cycle Map, with copies provided at 
key locations throughout the 
borough. Update to include new 
shared space routes. 
 

 
Cycle initiative, 
recreational 
users and 
commuters 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 

 
Gosport Walking Map 
Creation of a walking map of Gosport 
with key routes, quiet streets, 
heritage walks, tourist attractions, 
and public rights of way shown. The 
map would also include the location 
of tourist attractions and 
conveniences including benches, 
public toilets, drinking fountains, and 
pubs and cafes. The map would be 
provided online as well as in print. 
This could include a ‘cut out’ in the 
Council’s Coastline magazine. 
 

 
Walking initiative, 
recreational 
users and 
commuters 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Inactive Lifestyles Research 
Research into the main causes of 
obesity in Gosport, and barriers for 
individuals to lead a more active 
lifestyle. Identification of obesity 
hotspots and of walking/cycling 
infrastructure which may be needed. 
 

 
Public Health 
research 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Gosport Bus & Ferry Interchange 
Improvements 
Replacement of bus station and 
improved multi-modal access for 
cycles, buses, taxis and ferry 
passengers.  
 

 
Walking, cycling 
and public 
transport 
infrastructure 

 
Gosport 
Town Centre 
/ The Hard 

 
Long-term (>5 
years) 
 
Project has been 
approved within the 
Gosport Waterfront 
and Town Centre 



 

   
4 

Project Details Type Location Delivery 
 

Proposal could also include a cycle 
hub bike shop and cycle hire, which 
could form part of the commercial 
development opportunity. 
 
 

SPD (2018). 
 
Delivery dependent 
on market 
conditions and 
subject to funding. 
 
TCF Funding has 
been awarded for 
improvements to 
the Transport 
Interchange – Bus 
Station, Taxi Rank, 
Drop-off and short-
stay parking to be 
delivered. 
 

 
Mumby Road and South Street 
Parking 
Removal of some on-street car 
parking in Mumby Road and South 
Street, to improve the safety of on-
street cycle route.  This could for part 
of the assessment of the A32 Safer 
Roads Schemes and / or be a 
complementary scheme to the TCF 
proposals. 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 

 
Gosport 
Town Centre 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Small Scale Improvements 
Review of crossing points etc  
 
Audit of pram ramps – i.e. are they in 
correct locations / any missing links. 
 

 
Small-scale 
improvements 
e.g. pram ramps 
etc. 

 
Borough 
Wide 

 
Subject to funding 

 
Shared Space Assessment 
Audit of the borough’s footways to 
identity routes which would be 
suitable for conversion to shared 
space. Routes through the borough’s 
parks and green spaces could also 
be assessed. 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
commuter 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Anns Hill Road to Military Road 
Creation of an east-west link 
between borough’s main cycle route 
and the Alver Valley Country Park. 
Route could be a widening and 
resurfacing of existing footpath to the 
north of Ann’s Hill Cemetery, or via 
Willmott Lane. 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
commuter 

 
Brockhurst 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Fort Road Multi-user Route 

 
Walking and 

 
Stokes Bay 

 
Medium-term (<5 



 

   
5 

Project Details Type Location Delivery 
 

Provision of a dedicated off-road 
cycle and pedestrian route between 
Lifeboat Lane and the Fort Road car 
park, utilising land along the 
southern edge of the QinetiQ Fort 
Road site. 
 
Provision of a shared space footway 
along Fort Road, south of the 
Institute of Naval Medicine. Road 
currently has limited footway. 
 
 

cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 

years) to long-term 
(>5 years) 
 

 
Haslar Hospital Coastal Path 
Extension of Solent Way to include a 
coastal path from GBC carpark to 
Blockhouse. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational 

 
Haslar 
Peninsula 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 

 
Military Road Cycle Link 
Extension of shared space multi-user 
route from Fairview Court crossing to 
shared space route north of Bay 
House School Playing Fields. Route 
could also extend northwards 
(preferably on the western side of 
Military Road) to the junction with 
Station Road, where it could join the 
strategic cycle network (Henry Cort 
Way). 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
commuter 

 
Brockhurst 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Blockhouse Coastal Path 
Extension of Solent Way to include a 
coastal path around Blockhouse, 
when the site is released by the 
MOD. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational 

 
Haslar 
Peninsula 

 
Long-term (>5 
years) 
 

 
Street Trees Programme 
Planting of street trees, hedgerows 
and other vegetation along key 
routes to make walking and cycling 
more attractive, and to reduce air 
and noise pollution. 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Bench Programme 
Provision of new benches in key 
locations, particularly in shopping 
areas and areas which are well used 
by older persons. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
shoppers 

 
Borough-
wide 
 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Drinking Fountain Programme 
Provision of drinking fountains in key 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 



 

   
6 

Project Details Type Location Delivery 
 

locations, particularly in shopping 
areas and along popular jogging and 
cycling routes. 
 

recreational and 
shoppers 

  

 
Improved Signage 
New signage along key walking and 
signage routes, including directions 
to and from the English Coast Path. 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling signage, 
recreational 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Review of Existing of Wayfinding 
Infrastructure (Gosport Town 
Centre) 
 
Updates to existing mapping as 
required, accounting for new 
developments etc. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
shoppers 

 
Gosport 
Town Centre 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Extension of Wayfinding Project 
Erection of new wayfinding totems in 
key locations across the borough.  
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
shoppers 
 

 
Borough-
wide 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Improved Cycle Parking 
Provision of additional cycle parking 
in key locations across the borough. 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
commuter, 
leisure  

 
BRT route 
 
Transport 
Interchange 
 
Town / local 
centres 
 
Seafront 
Locations 
 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Extension to Alver Way 
Extension of existing route from 
Privett Road into the Alver Valley 
Country Park beyond Apple 
Dumpling Bridge 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure 

 
Stokes Bay 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 

 
Rowner to Daedalus – Cycle Track 
The opportunity to provide a traffic-
free segregated path, segregated 
from but parallel to Shoot Lane 
between Cherque Way and St 
Nicholas Ave could be explored for 
improved connectivity. 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational and  

 
Alver Valley 
Country Park 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 
 
 

 
Fareham Road Cycle Track, 
Heritage Way to Rowner Road 
Conversion of east side footway to 

 
Cycle 
infrastructure, 
commuting 

 
Elson 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 



 

   
7 

Project Details Type Location Delivery 
 

shared use. Likely to be linked to 
redevelopment of former Frater 
House site (GBC Transport 
Statement). 
 

 

 
BRT Walking Route 
Creation of walking route alongside 
the BRT, to provide an alternative 
route to the A32. Could form part of 
the English Coast Path. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure 

 
Bridgemary 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 

 
Daisy Lane Cycle Track, St 
Andrew’s Road to Whitworth 
Conversion of footpath to shared use 
to improve access to local schools, 
Stoke Road shops and town centre 
(GBC Transport Statement). 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
commuters 

 
Leesland 

 
Delivery uncertain 
due to uncertainties 
over land 
ownership and 
legal process. 
 

 
Upgrade to Apple Dumping Bridge 
The bridge is a key east-west 
crossing point over the River Alver. 
Raising the level of the bridge will 
overcome flooding of the river 
making the route inaccessible. 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure 

 
Alver Valley 
Country Park 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 
The works have 
been adopted 
within the Alver 
Valley Country 
Park Strategy 
(2014). 
 

 
Multiuser route alongside 
Browndown Camp 
Creation of a new pedestrian and 
cycle route.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure 
 

 
Alver Valley 
Country Park 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 

 
Huhtamaki Cycle Route 
Provision of new cycle route along 
the southern boundary of the 
Huhtamaki site. 
 
Would provide the upgrading of an 
existing informal walking route 
between Grange Road and the cycle 
track / the rear access gates to 
Brune Park School. 
 
Has safer routes to school benefits. 
 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure 

 
Brockhurst 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 
Subject to land 
acquisition, 
however funding of 
£150k approved by 
GBC Economic 
Development 
Board in November 
2015. 
 
£30k contingency 
also available if 
required 
 

 
A32 Improvements 
Measures to improve the walking 
and cycling experience along the 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure 

 
Bridgemary 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) to long-term 
(>5 years) 



 

   
8 

Project Details Type Location Delivery 
 

A32. 
 
 
 
 

  

 
Sandhill Lane to Shoot Lane route 
Formalisation of route with multi-user 
Hoggin surface (approximately 
250m) and provision of crossing over 
Shoot Lane. 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 
 

 
Alver Valley 
Country Park 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Extension to Millennium 
Promenade 
New coastal footpath north of 
Mumby Road and east of Royal 
Clarence Yard. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 
 

 
Gosport 
Town 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

 
Seafield Sea Defences 
New flood defence wall at Seafield 
provides an opportunity to widen and 
enhance existing creekside walk. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational 

 
Seafield 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) to medium-
term (<5 years) 
Project underway. 

 
Falklands Garden to Quay Lane 
Footpath 
Extension to the Millennium 
Promenade across Gosport Marina 
site.  
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 
 

 
Gosport 
Town 

 
Long-term (>5 
years) 

 
Forts Cycleway 
Cycle route linking Fort Brockhurst, 
Fort Rowner, Fort Grange and 
Stokes Bay (Fort Gilkicker). Project 
dependent upon release of HMS 
Sultan by the MOD in 2026. 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 

 
Elson to 
Stokes Bay 

 
Long-term (>5 
years) 
 

 
Multi-User Pylon Route 
Multi-user route following electricity 
pylons between Brune Lane and 
B3334 (adjacent to Lee-on-the-
Solent Golf Course), connecting to 
PROW 2b, and on to Brookers Lane. 
Improved route to Alver Valley 
Country Park. 
 

 
Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 

 
Rowner 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 

 
Creekside Path 
New footpath from Stokes Bay to 
Gosport Town Centre, including path 
alongside Haslar Marina. 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational and 
commuter 
 

 
Gosport 
Town 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) 
 

    



 

   
9 

Project Details Type Location Delivery 
 

Gosport Lines Walk 
Walk following the historic route of 
the town’s ramparts, from ramparts 
adjacent to Weevil Lane, to Forton 
Road. South via Walpole Park to 
Bastion No.1. Option to make it a 
multi-user route. 
 

Walking and 
cycling 
infrastructure, 
recreational 

Gosport 
Town 

Short-term (<3 
years) to long-term 
(>5 years) 
 
 

 
Ramparts Park, Priddy’s Hard 
Recreational pedestrian route 
through new park in Priddy’s Hard 
Ramparts. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational 
 

 
Priddy’s Hard 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 
 

 
Royal Clarence Yard Retained 
Area Footpath 
Extension to the Millennium 
Promenade from Weevil Lane. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational 

 
Gosport 
Town 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) to long-term 
(>5 years) 
 

 
Potential complementary schemes outside the Borough 
 

 
(Old) Newgate Lane Improvements 
Installation of dropped kerbs, new 
signage and a link to the Alver Valley 
Country Park to make the route more 
cycle-friendly. 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
commuter 

 
Fareham 

 
Short-term (<3 
years) to medium-
term (<5 years) 
 

 
Northern extension to BRT 
Provision of a cycle route along the 
former railway line north of Redlands 
Lane 
 

 
Cycling 
infrastructure, 
commuter 
 

 
Fareham 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) to long-term 
(>5 years) 
 

 
Bridgemary to Titchfield Walk 
Creation of new recreation route 
around fields near HMS Collingwood. 
 

 
Walking 
infrastructure, 
recreational 
 

 
Bridgemary 
to Fareham 

 
Medium-term (<5 
years) 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Board/Committee: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD 

Date of Meeting: 17TH NOVEMBER 2021 

Title: 2021-36 DRAFT CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT 
STRATEGY, EVIDENCE BASE AND ACTION PLAN 

Author: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & REGENERATION 
MANAGER 

Status: FOR DECISION  

  
Purpose 
  

To request that the Board considers the contents of the 2021-36 Draft Cultural 

Development Strategy, Evidence Base and Action Plan supporting it, and give its 

approval to carry out a short public consultation exercise. 

  

Recommendation 

  

i) that the Board notes the contents of the 2021-36 Draft Cultural 

Development Strategy, Evidence Base and Action Plan. 

 

ii) that the Board agrees to the commencement of a short external 

consultation involving Members, residents, local businesses, community 

groups and regional/sub-regional stakeholders on the basis of the agreed 

draft documents. 

  

  

1.0 Background 

  

1.1 

 

 

 

 

1.2 

 

 

 

 

 

1.3 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council currently has no Cultural Development Strategy (‘CDS’) in 

place and therefore has no framework upon which to plan, develop or 

deliver policy supporting growth of the arts and cultural sector within the 

Borough. 

 

The Council is committed to a policy of securing growth in cultural 

development as one of the drivers of regeneration and economic 

development efforts, however it lacks serious engagement with key 

stakeholders and residents as a consequence of having no agreed 

Economic Development ‘framework’ or strategy document. 

 

Over recent years there has been an increase in the pace of cultural 

development locally, driven by efforts to support the High Street via the 

High Street Heritage Action Zone (‘HSHAZ’).  

Working with the Place Board and Hampshire Cultural Trust (‘HCT’) and 

using pilot funding from Historic England, the HSHAZ Cultural 

Programme has stimulated interest from local ‘makers’, town centre  

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

      1.4 

 

 

 

 

  1.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      1.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      1.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      1.9 

retailers, market traders and cooperatives across the Borough. 

 

The forthcoming redevelopment of Gosport Museum and Gallery will 

provide a further significant boost to future cultural development and 

provide a significant focal point for a wide range of development activity, 

whilst providing local makers a year-round showcase for their products. 

 

The recent announcement by Arts Council England (‘ACE’) of Gosport 

being one of their 54 ‘Priority Places’ is a timely confirmation of the 

significant strides which the Town has made in putting in place a ‘Cultural 

Compact’ which is pulling together expanded arts and cultural 

partnerships locally. The Council and Place Board are developing a 

strong relationship with ACE and, as Gosport is a Priority Place, are in 

early stage discussions regarding increased ACE funding over the period 

until March 2024. 

 

The effects of the recent Covid pandemic have highlighted the need to 

re-appraise how the Council best delivers its support to the local cultural 

sector, plus the relationships that it has or needs to put in place with 

Government, regional and sub-regional partners, in order to secure 

external resource capable of transforming the local cultural landscape. All 

of this will have the combined effect of creating greater opportunities for 

local residents to engage and participate at every level. 

 

Whilst Gosport is slowly emerging from the pandemic, the potential exists 

- using one-off additional Government resources – to instigate a 

programme of temporary public realm changes and animation events, in 

order to encourage an increased number of residents to participate in 

cultural activity and help regain the confidence to venture out more 

frequently. 

 

It is increasingly important that the Borough develops both short, medium 

and long term plans to stimulate cultural development, encouraging 

greater levels of investment, driving participation, enterprise and skills 

development, increasing cultural employment locally and providing local 

residents with greater opportunity to experience, participate in or share 

access to, an increased programme of cultural activity.  

 

The 2021-36 Draft Cultural Development Strategy and Action Plan 

provide a strong framework for aligning all potential audiences and 

interest groups behind a mix of short, medium and longer term initiatives 

designed to address historical cultural capacity weaknesses, thus placing 

the Borough in a better place to target future opportunities. 

  



 

2.0 2021-36 Draft Cultural Development Strategy and Action Plan 

  

2.1 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2 

 

 

 

 

2.3 

 

 

2.4 

 

 

 

 

Gosport Borough Council is developing a 2021-36 Draft Cultural 

Development Strategy and Action Plan in order to provide the framework 

for future growth of the arts and cultural sector locally, providing 

opportunities for local residents and seeking to diversify economic 

activity. 

 

The starting point for the development of this Strategy was the 

engagement by the Place Board of consultancy ‘the Means’ following a 

rigorous procurement process, using joint funding from the Council and 

ACE, to advise on the development of a new CDS. 

 

A thorough review was undertaken of existing reports and evidence to 

create a base for consultation with a number of local stakeholders.   

 

The Council now intends to use the Draft CDS as it seeks to extend 

consultation further, so as to develop a Final CDS to meet the needs of 

as many stakeholders as possible and to identify early stage priorities 

locally and begin the process of increasing investment in the sector.  

 

     3.0 

 

     3.1 

 

 

     3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

3.3 

 

 

 

 

     

3.4 

 

Outcomes 
 

The 2021-36 Draft Cultural Development Strategy and Action Plan is set 

within the context of a significant evidence base and local consultation.  

 

The Draft Strategy has identified a central vision plus five themes, along 

with a number of approaches or principles that support them. 

 

The five Themes being: 
 Culture on our doorstep 

 Connected communities 

 A clear focus on children and young people 

 Fresh content with a heritage context 

 Enterprising creative culture 

 

Each theme explains the ambition plus a number of strategic approaches 

towards delivery, derived from the evidence base and local consultations. 

Many of the themes embrace Gosport’s unique natural environment plus 

the quality of its heritage built environment, establishing platforms to 

provide further support to ongoing regeneration activity. 

 
The Action Plan sets out a number of potential interventions targeting 

different groups or sections of the local community and suggesting 



 

 

 

 

    3.5 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

inclusive cultural development activity capable of securing widespread 

engagement.  

 

Evidence from elsewhere shows that cultural development has the 

potential to secure widespread engagement from a diverse cross section 

of local people, including many of those who do not currently participate.  

 

In particular in Gosport it is anticipated that arts and culture have the 

potential to reach out to excluded individuals or groups currently 

experiencing health/wellbeing or educational deprivation within the Town, 

and further local efforts to support the Armed Forces Veteran community. 

 

Cultural development has an ’all-age, all background’ focus and can help 

in breaking down historical barriers to participation, providing key 

stakeholders the opportunity to use it as a platform around which 

broaden the take up of a wider range of local services. 

 

  

    4.0 Proposed Funding 

 

    4.1 

 

     

    

 4.2 

 

 

 

    4.3 

 

 

 

 

    4.4 

 

 

 
The costs of developing the Strategy have been 50% funded within the 

Economic Development Budget agreed by Council, with match funding 

provided by Arts Council England. 

 

There will be no other significant costs incurred in delivery of the public 

consultation, which will use a mixture of PR, email and social media 

contacts, backed up by the use of a social media response mechanism. 

 

There may be additional costs in developing and delivering those 

recommendations in the Strategy prioritised by the Council. These will, 

however, be considered and resourced by the Council in future Financial 

Years. 

 

ACE ‘Priority Place’ designation also suggest that further support may be 

available in the period until March 2024, for agreed programme activity 

arising from the Action Plan. 

 

   5.0 

 

   5.1 

 

 

 

    

Risk Assessment 
 
The consultation will not progress as currently planned if the ED Board 

does not agree the contents of the Draft Strategy, Evidence Base or 

Action Plan for consultation purposes. 

 

Any delays in agreeing the content of the draft documents or the timing of 



 

  5.2 

 

 

 

 

   6.0 

 

   6.1 

 

 

 

 

    6.2 

 

 

 

 

6.3 

the consultation process would extend the delivery of the final Strategy 

beyond December 2021, introducing a degree of uncertainty regarding 

budget funding for 2022/23 priority recommendations within it. 

 
Conclusion 

 
The 2021-36 Draft Cultural Development Strategy and Action Plan 
provides a strong framework for aligning all potential audiences and 
interest groups behind a mix of short, medium and longer term cultural 
development initiatives & proposals designed to secure the future 
expansion of arts & culture development within the Borough. 
 
There currently exists a strong and supportive national and regional 
approach towards ‘cultural expansion’ within Gosport and the proposal 
represents a key step in ‘Levelling Up’ Gosport with many of its 
neighbouring Authorities, let alone towns and cities across England. 
 
A one-off transformational opportunity exists to build a strong and 
sustainable cultural sector in Gosport for the benefit of local residents 
and a driver for an expanded future visitor economy. 
 

 

Financial Services 
comments: 

No comment 

Legal Services comments: Contained within the report.  

Equality and Diversity: In terms of E & D, the IIA is fine  

Climate Change: Climate change & environment part of the IIA looks 
good 

Council Plan: Raise aspirations 
Enhance the environment 
Develop the economy 
Empower our residents 
Deliver effective services 

Risk Assessment:  

Background papers:  

Appendices Appendix ‘A’ – Draft 2021-31 Gosport Economic 
Development Strategy 
Appendix ‘B’ – Draft Evidence Base 
Appendix ‘C’ – Action Plan 
Appendix ‘D’ – IIA Report 

Report author/ Lead 
Officer: 

Andrew Sugden, Economic Development & 
Regeneration Manager 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Need to add connecting lines

SHARED AMBITION – GOSPORT’S CULTURAL STRATEGY 

1



CONTENTS: Part 1

Part 1

Executive Summary and Introduction

Vision

Themes

Part 2

Introduction

What we did

The context

Cultural landscape

Results from surveys and field work

Strategic foundations and cross-cutting themes

Programme – projects ideas, how they meet the thematic objectives

2



Executive Summary
Culture widens horizons and life chances, enriches our everyday, creates opportunity and transforms how we think about ourselves, our place – and how others see us.

Culture is rooted in place, and successful places evolve culturally. They understand their opportunities and challenges and adopt new ways to respond to them. This does not 
deny the past, rather it takes confidence from heritage as evidence of the prospect of a viable, sustainable future. In Gosport, the richness of heritage is matched by the hopes 
of local communities and regional partners alike. 

Shared Ambition, Gosport’s cultural strategy, brings opportunities together, identifies challenges and charts a unique map to bring tangible social, economic and 
environmental benefits to the whole borough. It provides the conditions for culture to flourish through new ways to learn, create and work together. It raises expectations, 
encourages engagement and participation and broadens opportunity.

• It seeks to build on existing provision, not duplicate it, and to open new avenues.
• It maps out a strategic action plan with achievable projects. 
• It is grounded in a huge number of conversations, consultations and research, with the community and Gosport’s partners who have taken part to help shape it.
• Its 15-year horizon means its ways of working will reflect and respond to changes, just as Gosport itself evolves.
•

Just as culture is rooted in place, so Shared Ambition takes its definition of culture from Gosport’s unique strengths and characteristics: a distinctive maritime heritage and 
valued natural environment, cutting edge innovations in education, tech and design, energetic young businesses and creative risk-taking. It builds on existing activity across all 
these sectors. It inspires and supports new aspirations with routes to skills, digital platforms and premises, so more people of all ages can be part of this cultural opportunity. 

Shared Ambition shows how the people of Gosport will help deliver the cultural strategy. 

While the target audience is the whole of Gosport society, its special focus is on those communities who for whatever reason feel most constrained and cut off from cultural 
opportunity. The focus on young people in particular aims to use early impression to make a life-long impact. And it looks beyond the borough, to build Gosport’s reputation 
and put it on a bigger map.

A cultural strategy is not just a product, it is a process: of inclusion, new types of dialogue, and the creative re-imagination of what makes a place distinctive. It can 
enhance opportunities to engage with local communities and create healthier neighbourhoods, as well as unlock different types of investment and bring 
together different types of activity under a unified goal for the future of the area…”

Culture in a Box. Local Authority Guide to Cultural Strategies
3



Shared Ambition has two parts.

Part 1 is the Strategic Action Plan: the Vision, and five Themes that support the Vision, with case studies from Gosport and beyond.

The Vision – to raise shared ambition, embed culture as a way of life for everyone, connect communities, grow ideas and bridge to opportunities – has five key Themes:

1. Culture on our doorstep

2. Connected communities

3. Focus on children and young people

4. Fresh content with a heritage context

5. Enterprising creative culture

Part 2 sets out the Background to the strategy – Gosport’s context, cultural landscape and consultations with communities, businesses, partners and stakeholders, the Foundations 

that underlie the vision and themes, the Programme and Project Bank, and Delivery and evaluation KPIs.

The Foundations for the strategy are:

• Greater communication and co-ordination including between communities, regional partners and the Place Board

• Culture to be more engaging, interactive and immersive; e.g. using digital technology to bring heritage to life so everyone can engage with Gosport’s story

• Putting Gosport on the map by growing a reputation for quality, making the most of outstanding assets and maximising investment 

• Promoting Inclusivity through finding means by which previously under-represented groups, such as children and young people, can play a fuller part

• Responding to the global climate emergency by creating a stage for action

Successful implementation of the cultural strategy requires both strategic and operational progress:

• To advance and direct the vision and strategy, further support to develop and broaden the Place Board to ensure it can work alongside a dedicated Cultural sub-group 

• To maintain and build momentum, designing a mix of quick wins and more challenging projects, and appointing a dedicated delivery team including Cultural Development 

Officer, Communications Officer, Events Officer and Community Projects Officer, to work alongside the Place Board and colleagues in partner organisations. 

The role of monitoring and review in measuring progress and keeping the achievements of the strategy on track over its 15-year life is key, and the considerations around its design are 

outlined  . 4



OUR VISION FOR GOSPORT

5



OUR VISION

Gosport tells its proud story in its buildings, green spaces and 
its waterfront – and in the energies and ambitions people here 
have for making things happen. Raising shared ambitions for 
Gosport will make this story stronger, richer and more 
resilient, as culture becomes embedded as a way of life for 
everyone, creating new ways to connect communities, grow 
ideas and bridge to opportunities. We are ambitious to work 
with partners to make this change. 

6



Culture connects us, and it thrives on 
connectivity. As Gosport’s cultural network 
grows, its impact will reach out to the whole 
borough and beyond.

7



SHARED AMBITION – the 5 themes

CULTURE ON OUR DOORSTEP

We will programme accessible activities to ease and ingrain participation

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES

We will embed delivery and practice through a devolved and networked approach

A CLEAR FOCUS ON CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

We will transform the lives of young people and their families with arts and culture

FRESH CONTENT WITH A HERITAGE CONTEXT

We will curate outstanding experiences framed by Gosport’s rich heritage

ENTERPRISING CREATIVE CULTURE

We will support cultural innovation and creativity in our people and sectors

8



9



THEMES

10



CULTURE ON OUR DOORSTEP
We will programme accessible activities to ease and ingrain participation 

11



CULTURE ON OUR DOORSTEP

Gosport is at its best when it throws open its doors. 
A curated programme over different times of the 
year will maintain interest and increase the number 
taking part in collective activities.

These must be fun and easy to access. Free or at 
relatively low cost, many will be delivered at a 
community level or where people currently 
congregate such as the town centre or waterside, as 
well as in locations previously off-limits – the 
government sites, and commercial premises re-
purposed and hospitable for the whole community.

Diverse in nature in order to have broad appeal, 
they will provide the chance to perform, to 
produce, as well as to spectate.

Gosport Marine festival, 2021, photo credit:  Robbie Khan 

12



WE WILL PROGRAMME ACCESSIBLE ACTIVITIES TO EASE 
AND INGRAIN PARTICIPATION

FESTIVALS AND CARNIVALS WILL
BRING NEW WAYS TO INTERACT WITH 
GOSPORT'S DISTINCT HERITAGE

TAKING PART, MAKING AND PERFORMING 
INTRODUCE NEW SKILLS AND EXPERIENCES 
THAT CAN BE INSPIRING AND EVEN LIFE
CHANGING, OFFERING NEW DIRECTIONS AND 
OPPORTUNITY

CREATE A BOROUGH WIDE CALENDAR THAT 
WILL SHOW THERE IS ALWAYS SOMETHING 
HAPPENING TO TAKE PART IN AND ENJOY

PLAN MORE EVENTS ON THE DOORSTEP, FREE 
AND EASY TO ACCESS. AND IN PLACES WHERE 
PEOPLE CONGREGATE, MAKING USE OF THE 
BRILLIANT OUTDOOR SPACES AND HERITAGE 
BUILT ENVIRONMENT

13



CREATE A BOROUGH WIDE CALENDAR THAT WILL SHOW THERE IS 
ALWAYS SOMETHING HAPPENING TO TAKE PART IN AND ENJOY

This all builds on what is already going on, resulting in a rich and diverse calendar of 
events that people can inform, deliver and enjoy. Making everyone aware is a challenge 
that can be met partly through using the new digital mechanisms. But also through the 
new profile that culture will achieve through the implementation of this strategy and its 
endorsement and adoption by champions and ambassadors at all levels. Alongside these 
mass events, festivals, installations and carnivals there will be opportunities for 
individuals, and for existing institutions to make their contribution through Gosport’s 
Culture Card which will allow every family In Gosport to attend and sample parts of the 
calendar free of charge or at a heavily discounted rate.

.

PLAN MORE EVENTS ON THE DOORSTEP, FREE AND EASY TO ACCESS. 
AND IN PLACES WHERE PEOPLE CONGREGATE, MAKING USE OF THE 
BRILLIANT OUTDOOR SPACES AND HERITAGE BUILT ENVIRONMENT
The way and extent to which culture is consumed differs across Gosport. Some of the barriers 
to entry depend on where people live and their level of disposable income. Accessing the 
cultural offer needs to be easier, and disincentives need to be removed.
One aspect of this is that there needs to be accessible provision at the hyper-local level. Taking 
the offer into local communities, as the county council has found beneficial with its work with 
families.

In addition, venues already popular across Gosport society provide attractive cultural locations. 
The Discovery Centre, the High Street and the waterfront can offer open and welcoming 
environments. And further opportunities are emerging from the revamp of Gosport museum 
and the prospect that heritage sites can be repurposed to create venues with the broadest 
appeal.

The other aspect involves cultural co-creation - work with our communities to explore what 
interests them and what connections make our history relatable to a wider audience. Heritage 
can be many things; we must continually assess what stories and places are important to our 
community and celebrate them.

Whale 

An enormous inflatable whale was beached in Gosport High Street, 
2021. With the use of exquisite puppets, comedy and music, Circo Rum 
Ba Ba explore the tale of sea creatures and their battle to survive in an 
ocean full of rubbish. The audience help to save the turtle and the whale 

from a deluge of plastic.

. 

Photo credit: Robbie Khan

14



.

FESTIVALS AND CARNIVALS WILL BRING NEW WAYS TO 
INTERACT WITH GOSPORT'S DISTINCT HERITAGE

Gosport knows how to host events. Home to the country’s first and most 
successful Heritage Open Days, which styles itself as a “family festival celebrating 
local history”, over 10 days in 2021 it boasts more than 70 free events. Here the 
town comes together, responding to the opportunity to explore hidden parts of 
its history and to show off its cultural assets to visitors.

Festivals such as this encourage mass participation. The stock of heritage 
buildings and natural and maritime assets provide an enviable level of 
touchpoints and themes around which initiatives can be hung.
These assets are of a regional and national significance. And there are 
opportunities at the local level too. Gosport’s varied communities have their own 
character and flavour, and their uniqueness can be celebrated. The tradition of 
carnival survives in many places and where it doesn’t, new interest can be 
encouraged, harnessed and developed through new agencies that are committed 
to reviving the practice.

.

CASE STUDY

TAKING PART, MAKING AND PERFORMING INTRODUCE 
NEW SKILLS AND EXPERIENCES THAT CAN BE INSPIRING 
AND EVEN LIFE CHANGING, OFFERING NEW DIRECTIONS 
AND OPPORTUNITY

Involvement in carnivals and festivals, and in cultural activity more generally, 
are some of the many ways that culture can augment the building of 
community capacity and capabilities. Skills and confidence acquired here can 
translate seamlessly into other areas of both civic and personal life. 
Recognising this and potentially formalising it through devices such as the 
Gosport Ambassadors programme can amplify the impact

Gosport Heritage Open Days

Gosport was the first place to host this nationwide event which is free of charge and 
right on peoples doorstep. Twenty years later and it is the largest voluntary cultural 
event in England. In 2019, over 8 days the town held 79 events that attracted a record 
16,701 visits. 

Photo credit:

15



LARGE PHOTO

**** Festival . Photo credit: Robbie Khan

The Whale, 2021 Photo credit: Robbie Khan

16



CONNECTING COMMUNITIES
We will embed delivery and practice through a devolved and networked approach

17



CONNECTING COMMUNITIESThere is lots happening across Gosport, but 
activities and communities can be isolated and 
disconnected.

Connecting and supporting activity within a 
network that is linked with a central hub will 
mean provision and opportunity will be 
maximised, and participation built. The 
potential to increase wellbeing and widen life-
chances will grow.

The Makers Market, 2021, Photo credit: Robbie Khan

18



19



CREATE A NETWORK ANCHORED BY A HUB

Creating a cultural network will link and support Gosport’s communities, with a 
central hub at its heart. It will provide coordinated communications to make sure 
that more people know about the activities taking place and they are better 
supported, with shared resources such as meeting spaces and people. Supporting 
the network both from the hub and the sub-region will maximise benefits for the 
whole borough, encouraging overlap rather than duplication, and supporting cross 
fertilization of new ideas.

There are new opportunities to harness data management to understand and aid 
audience development. Intelligence about participation can help inform outreach, 
engagement and investment strategies.

SUPPORT COMMUNITY OWNERSHIP

Scoping and developing projects in collaboration with local people will help ensure 
activities and investment are relevant and supported, with communities feeling a 
greater sense of ownership. This can include the co-design of exhibitions – such as the 
choice of the stories being told in the new Museum, as well as takeover days of 
cultural spaces by different groups that might not have engaged with them in the past. 
Co-design can also help shape the wider public realm and new developments.
Capacity will be uneven and the capabilities at a community level will need to be built. 
Utilising a federated structure and encouraging inter-action and interchange will 
enhance opportunity to learn from the best.

EVOLVE NEW COMMUNITIES

Communities can grow around shared interests, ideas and activities as well as being 
based on places and neighbourhoods. This will encourage new opportunities to explore 
immersive and experiential culture, as well as growing cultural events and communities 
that reach beyond the borough, building Gosport’s cultural and creative reputation.

Gosport Shed choir. Photo credit:

The Gosport Shed 

The project provides workshop facilities and a friendly meeting place 
for older men. It is available for community projects and for 
members' own projects and hobbies.

20



.

SUPPORTING AND BENEFITTING FROM THE ENVIRONMENT

Supporting local culture and keeping the experience closer to home will be good for the 
environment and more sustainable. It will help communities and the council address the climate 
challenge and meet their ambitions. Low intervention, climate-aware activities such as the 
promotion of walking and cycling should underpin cultural projects, as part of higher 
environmental standards becoming embedded in community-designed elements of new 
neighbourhoods.

POSITION AND PROMOTE GOSPORT IN ITS SUB-REGION

High quality and locally owned cultural and creative activity will not only build new audiences 
here, but in turn help Gosport step up to a bigger role within the sub-region. Gosport 
once earned a national reputation for providing exemplar social housing. Now, becoming 
known as a place for best practice for cultural engagement, it will attract more investment and 
resource for culture and opportunities that will enrich its future.

Gosport and Fareham Wombles

Gosport and Fareham Wombles is a group of like minded people 

whose mission is to raise awareness and educate those who feel 

it is acceptable to litter. The group clean up the towns beaches, 

parks, green spaces and streets both as individuals and at group 

events.

21



Gosport Marine Festival 2021. Photo credit: Robbie Khan
22



A CLEAR FOCUS ON CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

We will transform the lives of young people and their families with arts and culture

23



A CLEAR FOCUS ON CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Evidence and experience points to young people being at the heart 
of a strategy that has a 15-year horizon.

There are significant positives to draw on in Gosport, including the 
energy and dynamism of our many educational and community 
leaders. We need to bring together all our energy, enthusiasm and 
resource across the public sector, local business, the third sector 
and the wider community to deliver this ambition. They need 
resources, funding, support, and access to space.

The means’ Welcome Spaces project
24



25



There is much energy already behind this vision. Building a shared 
approach across education providers will allow for collaboration, efficient 
use of resources and equal opportunities for all young people to access 
arts and culture as part of their education. To achieve this, all providers 
will need external support to assist with planning, funding applications 
and moderation processes. A dedicated open access space would allow 
for schools, creative practitioners and institutions to tap into and share 
resources and expertise. Qualifications linked to arts and culture will help 
towards structuring this ambition, however it is the exposure that will be 
transformative. Experiences should be prioritised over outcomes.

EMBED ARTS AND CULTURE AT THE 
HEART OF THE EDUCATION SYSTEM

OFFER A ROUTE INTO THE CREATIVE AND CULTURAL 
INDUSTRIES AND SUPPORT THE JOURNEY

Education in Gosport should explore and exploit better linkages between 
education and industry. Such an interconnection is key to supporting a route 
into the creative and cultural sector. There is already a growing relationship 
between education and business that should be developed and promoted so 
that all young people can access an extended network of creative industries 
and facilities in proximity to the town. This includes the marine sector, CCIXR 
and heritage. Young people should be able to access careers guidance and 
mentorship (business and alumni), skills, apprenticeships and qualifications. 
Teachers should also benefit through CPD training provision. The whole 
journey should be considered as young people transition between primary, 
secondary, higher education and employment.

Bridgemary School was awarded the prestigious Gold 

Artsmark Award in 2021. The award is the only creative 

quality standard for school accredited by the arts council. 

Bridgemary developed their arts and culture provision to 

embed a broad and balanced curriculum and deliver 

cross-curricular STEAM-based projects. This was achieved 

by working alongside Artswork, a charity which support 

increased arts and cultural education. 

Bridgemary School

26



GIVE EVERY CHILD AND YOUNG PERSON THE CHANCE TO PARTICIPATE 
IN ARTS AND CULTURE

Opportunities will be created by taking arts and culture out into the community, offering 
activity locally through outreach and street work. Barriers to participation will be removed by 
offering free or subsided entry to activities and facilities, and fares included or transport 
provided as part of entry. Food provision offered as part of an activity will increase participation 
numbers and foster wellbeing. Consider the home as another touch point by offering home 
visits, art packs and by harnessing digital platforms.

Perceptions of young people can be influenced through intergenerational projects and through 
the active sharing of positive stories that come out of this work. The digital sphere is a space 
where many young people connect and express themselves; Gosport should seek to celebrate 
these stories too. As a generation with more opportunity for cross cultural contact, young 
people should be given a platform of influence such as at events and online to promote their 
learnings and shared values of diversity and tolerance.

As our future caretakers, young people and their families should be empowered to inform and 
own the decisions that affect them. A young peoples' panel was formed as part of the Youth 
Voice project 2021 and a Youth Council has also been set up. This work should be built upon, 
ensuring young people and their families are always given a seat at the table in any established 
boards. Young people have much to offer, including knowledge and understanding of new 
media and culture. They should be invited and trusted to lead on strategy and projects which 
will benefit from this knowledge and perspective, with their families included in this approach.

ELEVATE THE VOICES OF ALL CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND THEIR 
FAMILIES TO SHAPE THEIR OWN FUTURE

Youth Voice Project
A pupil voice and engagement project with the children and young 
people of Gosport, Hampshire Inspection and Advisory Service (HIAS), 
GMAT, MOTIVE 8 and Gosport Police. The project aims to facilitate and 
strengthen pupil voice across county in a variety of different contexts. 
Data results will be available in October 2021.

Let's Get Connected
The project brings together a number 
of organisations that are providing 
activities for young people across the 
Borough during the summer holidays. 
The scheme provides free, open 
access diversionary activities for young 
people of secondary school age living 
or attending school in the local 
area. All activities include a food 
element.

27



Artist-led workshop with Clarke Reynolds - ‘ The blind brail artist’.at Motive 8’s and Gosport Borough Council's Summer Passport event 17th August in Forton
park as part of the development of the strategy.The means’ Welcome Spaces project

28



Gosport’s rich heritage would benefit from a fresh perspective. Young People will play a vital 
role in how these stories are brought to life through regular projects which shape our museums 
and public spaces. Their ongoing input should influence what stories are important and how 
they are told. Heritage providers can increase a connection with young people by inviting them 
to rework existing provision and create new experiences. Offering template projects which can 
form part of any awards or qualifications, with fully risk assessed packages, will make it easier 
for education providers and young people to access them. This could form one component of a 
Young Ambassador programme.

INVITE YOUNG PEOPLE TO ENGAGE WITH HERITAGE THROUGH THEIR LENS

CREATE WELCOMING SPACES WHERE YOUNG PEOPLE CAN EXPRESS 
THEMSLEVES AND FLOURISH

Culture cannot be parachuted into a space, it must grow out of it. There are many empty
spaces within Gosport which can be handed over to young people to shape their own forms of 
expression. Provision should be spread across all communities to take into account that not all 
young people can travel. Young people in Gosport are proud of the town's natural assets and 
want to access nature safely without feeling that they are trespassing - a welcome space to 
them is also about an attitude.

St Johns church 

The church will become a creative space for young people with a 
coffee shop, free computers, gig space and a recording studio. This 
is a collaboration between Gosport Harbour Church, GFMAT, St 
Vincents , Gosport Harbour Church and Quay West Studios.

29



30



FRESH CONTENT WITH A HERITAGE CONTEXT
We will curate memorable experiences framed by Gosport’s rich heritage 

31



FRESH CONTENT WITH A HERITAGE CONTEXT

Gosport has an abundance of buildings, 
stories and stand out natural assets. Now is 
the time to tell the rest of the world. 
Bringing the towns distinct story to life 
through the animation of the public realm, 
event programming and the digital sphere 
will increase pride in place, connect people 
to nature and wellbeing and give a reason to 
linger longer for locals and visitors 
alike. Striving to tell the town's stories in 
new, relevant and exciting ways will bring in 
new audiences and put Gosport firmly on 
the map.

Photo credit:
32



33



SEEK CONTEMPORARY CONNECTIONS IN OUR HISTORY 
AND HERITAGE

USE THE NATURAL AND BUILT HERITAGE AS A BACKDROP AND 
MOTIF TO SHOWCASE OUR OFFER

Gosport’s story is told through some outstanding historic buildings and independent 
museums, plus the pioneering Heritage Open Days, all powered by committed communities 
and volunteers. To reach new audiences in the future, both locally and from further afield, 
we will work with our communities to explore what connections make our history relatable 
to a wider audience and keep the content contemporary. Heritage can be many things; we 
must continually assess what stories and places are important to our community and 
celebrate them. Opportunities to refresh and invest in the way these stories are presented 
to, and accessed by, audiences will help build a wider reputation as well as opening 
learning resources to local communities.

Offering up the town's wealth of outdoor and indoor spaces to play host to world class 
touring productions and experiences, and piggy-backing on the established draw of other 
events and nearby festivals, will allow Gosport to increase the cultural offer and quality 
in a way which is economical.

WELCOME AND HOST EXPERIENCES AND PRODUCTIONS FROM 
FURTHER AFIELD

Connecting the waterfront and Gosport’s green spaces into everyday cultural life is key. 
Gosport’s parks and beaches offer an especially valued environment in which to tell our 
stories: they can support engaging new experiences such as digital trails to animate, link 
and interpret our public spaces, increasing dwell time and encouraging exploration for 
locals and visitors alike. Connecting the waterfront to our town centre physically and 
through storytelling will increase pride in place and wellbeing. Realising our capacity to 
hold large scale outdoor events, festivals and performances will bring in tourism and 
promote our borough globally.

Gosport Gallery and Museum Co-creation Project

Members of the community have been invited to shape 
the content for the museum displays. Each group has 
selected a few objects from the collection linked to a 
theme. They are in the process of researching and writing 
information to accompany the final displays

34



CREATE A ROTATING PROGRAMME OF ACTIVITY

.

HARNESS THE OPPORTUNITY OF CCIXR TO BRING OUR STORIES 
TO LIFE IN NEW AND IMMERSIVE WAYS

A varied and cross-promoted programme in our museums and galleries will encourage 
repeat visits. Bringing activity onto the streets, from buskers to festivals, will create a 
constant rhythm of activity and shared experience in our public spaces to enliven the town 
for locals and visitors to enjoy. Each activity also provides an opportunity to generate digital 
content to reach even wider audiences, increasing engagement and reach, and helping build 
Gosport’s reputation as a place where there is always something happening.

It is important to encourage people to connect with their public spaces. Many people also 
access culture at home through media. This presents another touch point for Gosport to build 
new audiences. New experiences should be developed that can be accessed online, as well as 
ensuring regular content is generated from activity happening within the town, such as blogs, 
podcasts and videos. Social media is an important promotional tool as well as a platform for 
expression. Establishing a central digital platform which also feeds into online social groups will 
allow for better promotion of events. This platform should also be used to celebrate positive 
stories. Young people would add much insight into how to manage this and stay in touch with 
new cultural developments in the digital space.

UTLISE AND DEVELOP THE DIGITAL SPACE AS A PLATFORM FOR 
PROMOTION, ENGAGEMENT AND EXPRESSION

Immersive experiences bring in new audiences. With the the UK’s first Centre for Creative and 
Immersive Extended Reality (CCIXR) just across the water, Gosport is in an excellent position 
to develop innovative, interactive content which brings its rich heritage to life in new and 
exciting ways in our museums, public spaces and online. Additionally, it has the potential to 
engage young people in the content and presentation of Gosport’s stories and encourage links 
to learning and skills through higher education.

Dream was a series of live performances created in March this 
year, in which audiences explored the world of a virtual 
midsummer forest, inspired by the setting of A Midsummer 
Night's Dream.
A collaboration with Portsmouths CCIXR and the RSC, the show 
used motion capture as the culmination of a major piece of 
cutting-edge research and development to explore how 
audiences could experience live performance in the future in 
addition to visits to a performance venue. It was watched by 
more than 65,000 people across 92 countries.

Dream,                                                               RSC photo credit:

35



LARGE PHOTO

: 36



CREATIVE AND CULTURAL ENTERPRISE
We will support cultural innovation and creativity in our people and sectors

37



CREATIVE AND CULTURAL ENTERPRISE

There are exciting innovations across the sectors 
in Gosport and the wider area. Creating routes 
into these sectors and supporting the journey 
will attract and retain talent in the town and 
feed our economy. Supporting individuals, 
businesses and organisations from musicians to 
marinas to think commercially and navigate 
change in a fast moving world will help them 
survive and thrive. Focusing on innovation will 
bring about new products and experiences. 
Investment in peoples’ thoughts and ideas, and 
providing the space to experiment, will build 
capacity and raise public value.

PHOTO

Advanced Marine Innovation Technology Subsea Ltd.

38



39



PROMOTE AND EXPAND ROUTES INTO EMPLOYMENT IN THE 
CREATIVE AND CULTURAL INDUSTRIES

.

Work across sectors is already putting Gosport on the map, with innovative and 
renowned creative and culture activity including marine technology, state-of-the-art 
design and manufacturing, defence and Extended Reality (XR). This means that with 
access to the right training and skills, local employment opportunities are available to 
people across Gosport. Cultivating a network which involves all of these sectors to 
promote what careers are possible will inspire those first steps. Industry mentorship will 
further support the journey, maintaining a continuous dialogue with these sectors to 
plug any skills gaps to transform aspiration into employment.

SEED AND INCUBATE ENTERPRISE THROUGH SPACE, SUPPORT AND 
TRAINING 

Offering space, training and support to start-ups taking their first steps, as well as helping mid-
career and established creative and cultural businesses to accelerate growth or scale up, will 
aid growing the local and wider economy. Business incubation provides an opportunity for peer 
support. Building on other’s experience through the sharing of ideas and knowledge and 
building a network will be invaluable in bringing new products and innovation onto the market. 
As important is investing in people – celebrating their talent and expertise by opening up space 
to experiment and the platform they need to showcase their ideas.

Futurelabs and Platform

Future Labs which was established as a pilot initiative with 
support from Leeds City Council in 2016 to support the 
city’s grassroots community of start ups and freelancers. 
runs from Platform. Platform is a tech incubator enjoying 
support from Leeds City Council’s Tech Hub Fund which is 
designed to support start up and scale up businesses from 
the digital technology and creative industries across the 
city and beyond.

Platform networking event

40



ENABLE INNOVATION THROUGH CONVERSATIONS AND 
COLLABORATIONS 

HELP BUSINESSES FLEX IN THIS FAST MOVING DIGITAL SPHERE

There is vast potential in Gosport for creative collaboration between its diverse sectors to 
create new products and experiences which raise the quality of its cultural offer and put the 
town on the map. This approach will also develop people’s skills and confidence, as well as 
develop new ways of working.

Projects which bring different disciplines together, such as performance and tech to create new 
forms, need space and time for experimentation. Investing in R & D stages and valuing process 
as well as outcomes will support innovation. These learnings should be shared across all 
sectors so others can benefit and build on them.

Digital culture is moving fast. Our creative and cultural industries need support to remain 
responsive, relevant and resilient. As well as needing financial investment, skills and resources, 
all of our sectors should be encouraged to share skills and knowledge to help them rise to this 
challenge. Avoiding digital waste through sharing of digital assets and resources will make it 
more affordable and sustainable for all.
Collaboration between education and industry will facilitate commercial exposure and keep 
skills and training relevant and cutting edge.

Spike Island

Spike Island has collaborated with other creative and artistic organisations. 
“We are home to a number of inspiring businesses across a broad range of 
industries, including theatre, arts education, printmaking, and digital, graphic 
and product design.
Our creative businesses play a vital role in making Spike Island a centre for 

artistic and creative production in the heart of Bristol”.

Photo Lisa Whiting

41

https://www.spikeisland.org.uk/


ENABLE INNOVATION THROUGH CONVERSATIONS AND 
COLLABORATIONS 

HELP BUSINESSES FLEX IN THIS FAST MOVING DIGITAL SPHERE

There is vast potential in Gosport for creative collaboration between its diverse sectors to 
create new products and experiences which raise the quality of its cultural offer and put the 
town on the map. This approach will also develop people’s skills and confidence, as well as 
develop new ways of working.

Projects which bring different disciplines together, such as performance and tech to create new 
forms, need space and time for experimentation. Investing in R & D stages and valuing process 
as well as outcomes will support innovation. These learnings should be shared across all 
sectors so others can benefit and build on them.

Digital culture is moving fast. Our creative and cultural industries need support to remain 
responsive, relevant and resilient. As well as needing financial investment, skills and resources, 
all of our sectors should be encouraged to share skills and knowledge to help them rise to this 
challenge. Avoiding digital waste through sharing of digital assets and resources will make it 
more affordable and sustainable for all. Collaboration between education and industry will 
facilitate commercial exposure and keep skills and training relevant and cutting edge.Make Gosport

42

https://www.spikeisland.org.uk/


ENABLE INNOVATION THROUGH CONVERSATIONS AND 
COLLABORATIONS 

HELP BUSINESSES FLEX IN THIS FAST MOVING DIGITAL SPHERE

There is vast potential in Gosport for creative collaboration between its diverse sectors to 
create new products and experiences which raise the quality of its cultural offer and put the 
town on the map. This approach will also develop people’s skills and confidence, as well as 
develop new ways of working.

Projects which bring different disciplines together, such as performance and tech to create new 
forms, need space and time for experimentation. Investing in R & D stages and valuing process 
as well as outcomes will support innovation. These learnings should be shared across all 
sectors so others can benefit and build on them.

Digital culture is moving fast. Our creative and cultural industries need support to remain 
responsive, relevant and resilient. As well as needing financial investment, skills and resources, 
all of our sectors should be encouraged to share skills and knowledge to help them rise to this 
challenge. Avoiding digital waste through sharing of digital assets and resources will make it 
more affordable and sustainable for all. Collaboration between education and industry will 
facilitate commercial exposure and keep skills and training relevant and cutting edge.

CCIXR, Portsmouth

CCIXR delivers immersive and creative extended reality 
(XR) facilities which enable, support and grow the 
significant Digital Creative Industries sector. 
Through innovation and the application of XR 
technology, CCIXR aims to support economic growth and 
enhanced productivity in a variety of sectors locally, 

nationally and globally.

43

https://www.spikeisland.org.uk/


GOVERNANCE

44



Organising for delivery - board

Predating the production of this cultural strategy, substantial progress has been made in Gosport in assembling the elements required to effect lasting, sustainable change: -

• Financial resource has been attracted and often competitively won, for programmes that have a clear heritage focus. For example, there are two Heritage Action Zones. Other 
significant sums are currently applied for. 

• The level of stakeholder engagement has increased both in terms of breadth and depth. There is active participation across a number of sectors. One of the most notable outcomes 
is the establishment of a Place Board charged with taking an overview of the numerous regenerative projects that are already in train

• An active group of ambassadors have been recruited to champion the town, raising the opportunities for both harnessing voluntary effort and communicating progress to the wider 
community through their networks

Looking ahead, the successful implementation of the cultural strategy will depend on continuing progress at both the strategic and operational levels. 

At the strategic level the vision needs to be developed and promoted to the wide range of interest groups whose support is required to meet the extent of the strategic ambition. This 

entails clarifying the role and function of the Place Board and putting in place a development plan designed to build its capacity and broaden its representation. Given the scope of the 

programmes and the scale of project activity, the Place Board will need to adapt its structure to suit the foreseeable demands. The aspiration is for a holistic approach to regeneration, 

one in which culture impacts on all programme strands. Practical considerations however dictate that specific arrangements are put in place for directing the implementation of this 

strategy, and it is recommended that a dedicated Cultural sub-group be formed as part of other proposals for evolving the Place Board and wider governance structures. Its work and its 

relationship with the Place Board will be carefully annotated in the development plan referred to above.

At the operational level, the imperative in order to maintain interest and momentum is the effective execution of projects. Belief and patience in the promise of any strategy will wear 

thin without evidence of regular fulfilment of project objectives and the hitting of the identified milestones. Further to this, it is not enough to meet targets, those successes must be 

communicated. 

Hence the response is twofold: -

• Programme design will take into account that some objectives are far more complex than others to deliver. The project mix will be calibrated to allow for incremental achievements 

to be celebrated, whilst slower progress is made on the more challenging longer-term projects. These so called “quick wins”, resulting in tangible outcomes, will boost confidence 

and build support. 

• For the ambition of this strategy to be delivered, there will be a dedicated delivery team. This team will also have clear links with other officers and organisations whose 

collaboration is essential to meet Gosport’s strategic cultural development aims. 

45



Organising for delivery – executive team

Arrangements should be put in place so that work plans can be aligned, to avoid duplication and to maximise impact. Drawing on existing and potential sources of 
funding the team will comprise:

• A Cultural Development Manager who in conjunction with the Place Board 
will define the way in which the strategic objectives will be delivered, and 
co-ordinate activities to that end. With so many things that could be done, 
the challenge will be to direct activity to the best ends, and to focus the work 
of colleagues, and other potential collaborators. 

• A Communications Officer who will address the information deficit that 
already exists and be tasked with improving awareness and opportunity in 
both the cultural and wider regeneration or heritage spheres.

• Events are a key tool of the strategy. They have broad appeal and will be 
one of the primary means of cultural engagement at the community level.  
Initially the Events Officer will organise the first events. Progressively this role 
will evolve into one of co-ordination and support as communities of place and 
interest take ownership and responsibility for their events

• Another post which will deliver quick and visible wins is the 
Community Projects Officer. The potential agenda here is a broad one. 
As is the opportunity to work with public, private, voluntary and community sectors.

This team, working closely with the Place Board and colleagues within the partner organisation will have the responsibility to drive the strategy forward and 
communicate outcomes. 
There will be times where their skills and knowledge will be augmented with external expertise, and this will have the added benefit of introducing further diversity into 
the programme. 
This is the recommended start point for proposed cultural development in Gosport. Within such a fast moving and broad-ranging sector, both governance and delivery 
structures will need to be kept regularly under review and be adapted to respond to any future emerging circumstances.

Place board

Community 
Projects

CommunicationsEvents

Cultural sub-
group

Cultural 
Development 

Manager

46



MONITORING AND EVALAUTION

47



Setting goals and measuring outcomes 

The process of cultural development is subtle. There will be significant milestones to celebrate. But mostly success will be more nuanced, evidenced by incremental progress that
needs to be captured through quantitative and qualitative means. In designing a monitoring system to support the delivery of this strategy the two key considerations are: -
• That it is sensitive enough to detect in what are complex social processes, signs of progress, and of delay or impasse, 
• That it functions in a user-friendly manner. That its’ accessibility and ease of use means that it continues to be applied by lead partners and other collaborating stakeholders.

Monitoring and review
The process of monitoring and review is to assist all stakeholders in managing planning and project delivery. Through identifying measurable targets in the projects that make up
the action plan and linking these with the vision and objectives, we can evaluate where success has or has not been achieved in delivering change on the ground. Reviews will both
focus on improving performance and be used as an opportunity to identify and celebrate successes as objectives are realised.

Review intervals
Progress on the action plan will be reviewed annually and a more strategic / programme review will be undertaken every five years. These yearly reviews will test the achievement
of targets, assess past events to inform future plans, and at the five-year point the overall effectiveness of the strategy in promoting cultural development and change will be
assessed .

Components of review
It is proposed that key performance indicators be split in to four categories: Strategic; Funding Related, Project and Local.
• Strategic refer to indicators that are used to assess the overall effectiveness of the direction and impact of the programme. These will draw on perception analysis, data

collected on participation rates etc. and comparisons with the baseline position.
• Funding Related refer to indicators agreed between the partners and funding bodies in programmes that are being implemented as part of this strategy.
• Project level indicators identify those things that require to be met in order for each project to be considered a success – deadlines, resource use, outputs, approvals
• Local refers to indicators that are important at a community level to assist project promoters to both assess their progress and provide evidence for continuing support e.g., by

illustrating how they contribute to achieving the wider strategic objectives

Arguably, as important as developing the framework for gathering this objective and subjective data, is formulating a basis of future reporting that will ‘tell the story’ of the way in
which the strategy evolves.
This can assist in looking beyond outputs towards recognising the real differences that interventions have made:
• to heritage and what that means for those who enjoy and benefit from it
• for people who directly experience programme / project work or who can derive benefit in the longer term or indirectly
• to organisations and how their capacity has been built
•

Artists and other practitioners have a role here in capturing experience through a cultural lens – visually, graphically, orally, digitally as well as through the written word.
48



KPIs
The breadth of the Ambition means that the scope and number of key performance indicators will be wide. (The Arts Council provides many relevant examples 1.)
Measures of success will include:

• Changes in numbers of people taking part;
• Changes in the profile of audiences / participants
• Levels of satisfaction and enjoyment
• More positive attitudes towards the cultural life of Gosport
• Increased awareness and recognition of its facilities and its heritage

Quantitative and qualitative measures to determine success of activities will broadly include:
• Visits – numbers of participants and their characteristics e.g., spatial spread across the borough
• Number of activities, events and attendees
• Diversity of activities and events
• Usage by target group e.g., children and young people and the level of activities / events provided for them
• Number of heritage/culturally related activities and attendees
• Satisfaction levels among users

o Enjoyment, inspiration and creativity
o Development of personal skills and capabilities
o Attitudes and values

Collecting this data will involve a range of methods including:
• Activity based research
• Focus groups and Interviews
• Surveys – On-site, Postal, Online, Telephone

Individuals and groups will be asked some core questions which will inform future planning:
• Why they get involved
• What they thought of the activities/information provided.
• What they enjoyed about being involved
• What they found difficult and what would have made it easier for them.
• What we could have done to get them more involved.
• What difference their participation has made to them. Whether anything else changed for them as a result of being involved.
• What they think has stopped other people getting involved.

Socio-economic metrics
The periodic strategic review will also share and draw on the indicators referenced by the wider regeneration work in Gosport, particularly through identifying
those sets which can be influenced by the implementation of the cultural strategy.
• 1. https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/delivery-plan-2021-2024/measuring-impact 49

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/delivery-plan-2021-2024/measuring-impact


Swyddfa Cymru
Unit 3, 21-25 West End, Llanelli, Sir Gâr / Carmarthenshire, SA15 3DN
Phone / Ffôn: +44 (0)1554 780170

London Office
28 Marshalsea Road, London SE1 1HF
Phone / Ffôn: +44 (0)20 7403 4135

The means Limited. Registered Office
80-83 Long Lane, London EC1A 9ET

Website: www.themeans.co.uk

The means: to change places for the better.

50

http://www.themeans.co.uk/


Need to add connecting lines

SHARED AMBITION – GOSPORT’S CULTURAL STRATEGY 



CONTENTS: Part 2
Part 1
Introduction
Vision
Themes

Part 2
Introduction
What we did
The context
Cultural landscape
Results from surveys and field work
Strategic foundations and cross-cutting themes
Programme – projects ideas, how they meet the thematic objectives
Governance and Stewardship
Monitoring and evaluation



How to use Part 2: Evidence and rationale for the strategy

Shared Ambition – Gosport’s Cultural Strategy comes in two parts:
Part 1 is the Strategic Action Plan: the Vision, five Themes that support the Vision, and the Approaches or Principles that underlie these themes [and some 
examples of projects].
Part 2 sets out the evidence and rationale for the strategy – what the team from the means did, who we spoke to and what we learned.

A cultural strategy is not just a product, it is a process: of inclusion, new types of dialogue, and the creative re-imagination of what makes a place distinctive. It can 
enhance opportunities to engage with local communities and create healthier neighbourhoods, as well as unlock different types of investment and bring 
together different types of activity under a unified goal for the future of the area…” 
Culture in a Box. Local Authority Guide to Cultural Strategies 

As well as being a record of what the means did and who we spoke to, Part 2 is an important step in this process of producing the strategy and identifying the 
unifying goal for culture in Gosport. The learning captured here can also be a valuable resource during the life of the strategy.

Background & Evidence explores and explains the Context, including Gosport’s opportunities and challenges and a survey of the Cultural Landscape including: 
natural heritage, health and wellbeing; cultural activity and participation, education and careers; heritage; the high street; creative and cultural Industries; creative 
and cultural spaces; community & relationships.
Shared Ambition is grounded in meetings, conversations and surveys with the people of Gosport – its communities, businesses, partners and stakeholders. The 
results from surveys and fieldwork analyses what we learned from these findings.
We consider from the perspective Arts Council England’s four strategic foundations and cross-cutting themes of ambition and quality; inclusivity and resilience; 
environmental responsibility and dynamism.
All of this evidence leads to four Foundations which underpin the Themes in Part 1:
communication and co-ordination
interactive and engaging content
Gosport on the map
Climate Challenge
This is followed by the Programme for the Cultural Strategy – with a Project Bank
Governance and Stewardship [will be added to]

Monitoring and Evaluation [will be added to]



What we did
In the Spring of 2021, the means were commissioned by a client group drawn from the Place 
Board to create an Arts and Culture Strategy for Gosport. The first and second phases of work 
included

• Desktop review of existing information and data

• Spatial review

• Stakeholder mapping

• 50+ 1:2:1 interviews

• Stakeholder workshop

• Artist-led workshop with 23 young people

• Workshop with Gosport Ambassadors

• Online community survey

• Young person survey

• Artist led engagement workshop

• Mapping the cultural landscape

The Gosport Place Board partners are:

∙ Gosport Borough Council 

∙ Hampshire Cultural Trust

∙ Hampshire County Council

∙ St Vincent College/Lighthouse Trust

∙ Gosport & Fareham Multi-Academy Trust

∙ Gosport Discovery Centre

∙ Standard Aerospace

∙ Portsmouth Harbour Marine

∙ Gosport Voluntary Action

∙ Gosport Society

∙ Arts Council England



BACKGROUND & EVIDENCE



The earliest recordings of Gosport go back as far as the mention of Rowner within the Doomsday book in the 11th Century. The town was clearly established by the 13th

century but it wasn’t until the 17th Century that it rose to prominence, playing a role in the English Civil War of 1642 as the fortified port for the Parliamentarians laying 
siege to the Royalist port of Portsmouth. Gosport was sacked by the Royalists in 1645.

The town recovered in the late 17th Century and throughout the 18th Century became a base for the Royal Navy, but was still estimated to have only around 5,000 
inhabitants by 1777. It was in the 19th Century that the town really started to grow, firstly due to additions made by the naval industry in the area, but also because of 
the real possibility of a French invasion. More fortifications were made, and the old ones improved upon to make sure that protection from both land and sea invasion 
were adequate. Many of these naval facilities and fortifications can be seen today and partly define the town, with some serving a function and others being part of 
the “Palmerston Follies”.

At the time of the first official census in 1801 the town’s population was around 7,000. This more than doubled to over 16,000 by 1851, changing the dynamic of 
Gosport from being a garrisoned fishing village to a bustling dockyard fortress. During this time there were over 70 pubs/inns within the town centre of Gosport, with 
a culture of press gangs and debauchery that were characteristic of most naval towns of the time. Landlords of pubs created side doors and exits within their 
establishments to allow for patrons to escape the clutches of the press gangs. The narrow and atmospheric alleys and snickleways that punctate the high street add 
greatly to its character.

In 1894, Gosport and Alverstoke Urban District Council was formed, with the population continuing to grow rapidly through into the 20th Century, eventually reaching 
50,000 by 1939. During the Second World War, Gosport was targeted by the Luftwaffe (61 raids and 10,000 incendiary bombs in total), which led to the destruction 
of large swathes of the town and port with thousands of buildings being damaged and destroyed. The entire area of architectural distinction at Clarence Square 
became a “sad ruin”.

The means: to change places for the better.

6

Gosport – a historic borough



The earliest recordings of Gosport go back as far as the mention of Rowner within the Doomsday book in the 11th Century. The town was clearly established by the 13th

century but it wasn’t until the 17th Century that it rose to prominence, playing a role in the English Civil War of 1642 as the fortified port for the Parliamentarians laying 
siege to the Royalist port of Portsmouth. Gosport was sacked by the Royalists in 1645.

The town recovered in the late 17th Century and throughout the 18th Century became a base for the Royal Navy, but was still estimated to have only around 5,000 
inhabitants by 1777. It was in the 19th Century that the town really started to grow, firstly due to additions made by the naval industry in the area, but also because of 
the real possibility of a French invasion. More fortifications were made, and the old ones improved upon to make sure that protection from both land and sea invasion 
were adequate. Many of these naval facilities and fortifications can be seen today and partly define the town, with some serving a function and others being part of 
the “Palmerston Follies”.

At the time of the first official census in 1801 the town’s population was around 7,000. This more than doubled to over 16,000 by 1851, changing the dynamic of 
Gosport from being a garrisoned fishing village to a bustling dockyard fortress. During this time there were over 70 pubs/inns within the town centre of Gosport, with 
a culture of press gangs and debauchery that were characteristic of most naval towns of the time. Landlords of pubs created side doors and exits within their 
establishments to allow for patrons to escape the clutches of the press gangs. The narrow and atmospheric alleys and snickleways that punctate the high street add 
greatly to its character.

In 1894, Gosport and Alverstoke Urban District Council was formed, with the population continuing to grow rapidly through into the 20th Century, eventually reaching 
50,000 by 1939. During the Second World War, Gosport was targeted by the Luftwaffe (61 raids and 10,000 incendiary bombs in total), which led to the destruction 
of large swathes of the town and port with thousands of buildings being damaged and destroyed. The entire area of architectural distinction at Clarence Square 
became a “sad ruin”.

The means: to change places for the better.

7

Gosport – a historic borough



The earliest recordings of Gosport go back as far as the mention of Rowner within the Doomsday book in the 11th Century. The town was clearly established by the 13th

century but it wasn’t until the 17th Century that it rose to prominence, playing a role in the English Civil War of 1642 as the fortified port for the Parliamentarians laying 
siege to the Royalist port of Portsmouth. Gosport was sacked by the Royalists in 1645.

The town recovered in the late 17th Century and throughout the 18th Century became a base for the Royal Navy, but was still estimated to have only around 5,000 
inhabitants by 1777. It was in the 19th Century that the town really started to grow, firstly due to additions made by the naval industry in the area, but also because of 
the real possibility of a French invasion. More fortifications were made, and the old ones improved upon to make sure that protection from both land and sea invasion 
were adequate. Many of these naval facilities and fortifications can be seen today and partly define the town, with some serving a function and others being part of 
the “Palmerston Follies”.

At the time of the first official census in 1801 the town’s population was around 7,000. This more than doubled to over 16,000 by 1851, changing the dynamic of 
Gosport from being a garrisoned fishing village to a bustling dockyard fortress. During this time there were over 70 pubs/inns within the town centre of Gosport, with 
a culture of press gangs and debauchery that were characteristic of most naval towns of the time. Landlords of pubs created side doors and exits within their 
establishments to allow for patrons to escape the clutches of the press gangs. The narrow and atmospheric alleys and snickleways that punctate the high street add 
greatly to its character.

In 1894, Gosport and Alverstoke Urban District Council was formed, with the population continuing to grow rapidly through into the 20th Century, eventually reaching 
50,000 by 1939. During the Second World War, Gosport was targeted by the Luftwaffe (61 raids and 10,000 incendiary bombs in total), which led to the destruction 
of large swathes of the town and port with thousands of buildings being damaged and destroyed. The entire area of architectural distinction at Clarence Square 
became a “sad ruin”.

The means: to change places for the better.

8

Gosport – a historic borough



Gosport had to rebuild as demand for housing ballooned to accommodate returning servicemen and the high birth rate. Like much of post-war re-development, some 
was of questionable quality. But Gosport earned a nationwide reputation for municipal housing. The decision to locate this in new communities at the periphery rather 
than infill on the dereliction in the High-street environs inevitably had future implications for the centre. The main reason for this was the problems around land 
assembly. After the war, the Crown Estate owned half of Gosport’s 6,215 acers. The MOD’s influence extended to infrastructure planning. Their blocking of road 
schemes has been a contributory factor to the growing congestion, and the insistence that the rail head not be within the ramparts contributed to the later decision of 
the station being axed, leaving the town without a rail service.
This lends support to the contentious claim that Gosport is ”a town handicapped by nature and by history”. But the argument now turns this on its head - it its heritage 
both natural and built which provides its USP.

The town has kept growing in population to the current day estimate of 84,000, a sizeable increase to what it was 75 years ago. Despite the ravages of the war and 
redevelopment, Gosport has maintained its heritage. In the 1950s it was criticized by the Royal Commission of Ancient and Historic monuments for the number of 
restorable buildings the council chose to demolish. Fortunately it has managed to retain the largest collection of listed buildings other than two London 
Boroughs. That this is valued is evidenced by the town hosting the longest lasting and largest Heritage Open Days.

The town has significant potential for further growth based on:

• Excellent connections by road, rail, air and sea. It is a short ferry hop from the centre of a major city
• People increasingly want to recreate and live on the coast, and the peninsula creates miles of waterfront
• Flagship employment sites, such as the Solent Enterprise Zone (Daedalus) are coming forward
• And the sensitive restoration of heritage buildings and neighbourhoods provide attractive placemaking opportunities

.

The means: to change places for the better.

9



The means: to change places for the better.

10

.

There are a number of key regeneration 
opportunities that attract wide support…



The means: to change places for the better.

11

.
• Peninsulas by their nature, surrounded by sea on three sides, can be isolating.

At Gosport this can be true at the micro level impacting on the local journey
times. However, of more consequence are the world class connections within
Gosport’s hinterland.

• Placing Gosport at the centre of the Solent LEP area is instructive. Gosport is 
one of ten local authorities covered. The others being Eastleigh, Fareham, 
Havant, Isle of Wight, Portsmouth, Southampton and New Forest, along with 
Hampshire County Council and the New Forest National Park.

• Creative and Cultural Hub - Over 70% of current jobs and 75% of projects 
roles are paired with technology, and almost 90% of roles have some digital 
aspect. The Solent’s creative economy is modest in size, but emphasis is 
placed on how it could play an important place-shaping role for the Solent 
through developing and enhancing creative workspaces to provide an 
opportunity for micro-SMEs and freelancers to connect and collaborate.

• Gosport’s aspirations align with the LEPs Emerging Strategic Framework, the
following Themes have the most relevance to this commission.

• Renaissance of Coastal Communities – the objective to reinvigorate and 
develop key coastal sites, to provide hubs for development and innovation in 
line with its cultural and maritime heritage.

• Visitor Economy – the commitment to preserve and enhance the natural and 
cultural assets for residents and visitors to enjoy, for generations to come.

Drilling down further, the Enabling Factors the framework identifies for the 
delivery of this strategy are: -

• A Celebration of our Cultural, Heritage and Creative Assets
• Emphasising how the enviable array of cultural, heritage and creative 

assets make the Solent an attractive place to visit, live and invest.

The Update goes on to align the Current Initiatives to these Enabling Factors. 
Alongside Southampton’s bid for City of Culture, mention is made of the Gosport 
Heritage Action Zone, described as a 5-year project that will harness the area’s 
military heritage to unlock business potential on the waterfront and support 
the town’s wider regeneration.

The wider context

“The Solent’s position also means it is one of the UK’s most 
important gateways to European and global markets, with 
direct highway and rail links to London and the strategic 
national corridor, and international connections through an 
airport and two ports, which lie just 20 nautical miles from 
the world’s busiest shipping route from Shanghai to 
Rotterdam”

Solent Economic Profile Final Report Solent Local Enterprise
Partnership July 2019 Lichfields



The means: to change places for the better.

12

.
• Gosport confronts the same regeneration challenges that other places face. In 

addition there are special factors, linked with its military history. These have 
impacted on people and place, and skewed the pattern of lands use.

• Improving heritage is interwoven with the sense of place for Gosport, it is the 
most important element to be considered when undertaking development 
within the borough.

• The Local Plan commentary on the improvement of the economy of Gosport 
recognizes that there is limited land for employment opportunities, and that 
careful consideration will need to be given to the mix of different use classes 
within the four main regeneration areas. It also identifies what areas within 
the economy should have attention, with protecting sites that currently 
promote skills and training in the area and promoting new planning 
applications for sites that help add to skills and training provision (subject to 
area specific policy) being flagged up as vital for the borough.

Gosport’s Distinct Challenges



Gosport underperforms the region in 
education and training…

The means: to change places for the better.

13

.• Population of 84,800 of which 51,900 (61%) are working age - the same as the South East but marginally below GB average

• Qualifications
• % with NVQ levels 2-4 are below SE and GB. 
• % at NVQ4 at 30.1% is significantly below the SE (44.9%) and GB (43.1%)

• Education, Skills and Training is the most deprived ‘domain’ across the Local Authority

• Of the 53 LSOAs
• 1 is in the most deprived 10% in England
• 7 are in the most deprived 20%
• 7 are in the most deprived 30%
• 5 are in the most deprived 40%
• Domains include: Income; Employment; Education, Skills and Training; Health; Crime; Barriers to Housing and Services; and Living Environment



…and this feeds through into the labour 
market

The means: to change places for the better.

14

.Labour Supply Labour Demand

• Employment and Unemployment
• 71.4% economically active. Below South East (81.6%) and GB 

(79.1%)
• Employment and employees below average

• Economic Inactivity
• Economic Inactivity is high (28.6%) vs. SE (18.4%) and GB 

(20.9%)
• Long-Term Illness is high (37.4%) vs. SE (19.9%) and GB 

(23.6%)
• Of these a higher percentage want a job at 44% vs. SE (21.3%) 

and GB (22.6%)

• Employment by Occupation
• While managers / professionals / associates are the highest 

employment group, it is below GB averages. Sales and 
customer service are almost 3x higher than SE and GB at 
17.8%

• Employment by Occupation
• While managers / professionals / associates are the highest 

employment group, it is below GB averages. Sales and 
customer service are almost 3x higher than SE and GB at 
17.8%

• Employee Jobs
• Part-time employment at 36.8% is marginally higher than SE 

and GB
• Wholesale and retail trade, Human health and social work, 

Manufacturing, and Education are the highest % jobs by 
industry. Manufacturing is double that of SE

• Jobs Density
• At 0.52 is significantly below SE (0.90) and GB (0.87)
• Earnings by place of work at £583.00(FTE) is below SE at 

£608.60
• So too is Earnings by Residence at £550.90 vs SE at £631.80



But the small business sector is strong…
The means: to change places for the better.

15

.

• Business Counts
• Micro sized enterprises (employing 0-9 people) account for the highest 

% of businesses at 89.8%. Almost the same as the SE. 
• Small enterprise (employing 10-49 people) account for slightly more 

than the SE at 8.9% vs 7.9%
• The number of local units across the various sized enterprises suggests 

that small enterprises have more / multiple units / locations than the SE

Coastal Collective

Coastal collective launched April this year aiming to bring life back into the high 
street, champion independents through their online directory, social media, shop 
and quarterly creative markets. The collective also offers business development 
classes and seeks to connect businesses and support collaboration.



The latest data on the volume and value of the visitor economy estimates:

• 0.12m overnight tourism trips were made to Gosport in 2018, down by 7% compared to 2016.
• Of these trips, domestic visitors made up 93% and overseas visitors made 7%
• Around £17.7m was spent by all overnight visitors on their trip to Gosport in 2018, a fall of 7% compared to 2016
• Around 1.3m tourism day trips were made to Gosport in 2018, a rise of 2%, who spent in the region of £50.3m, 5% increase on 2016
• Around £64.8m directly benefitted local businesses from hotels and restaurants to cafes, shops and attractions
• Additional expenditure on second homes, boats, VFR (visits to friends and relatives) etc generated a further £6.7m in direct turnover for businesses

Drawing together direct business turnover, supplier and income induced expenditure and the additional expenditure spent on second homes etc, the total value of 
tourism activity in 2018 is estimated to have been around £85.5m (up 2% compared to 2016).

The income is estimated to have supported 1,267 FTE jobs, which translates (with part-time and seasonal jobs) into an estimated 1,762 Actual Jobs, an increase of 
1.6% compared to 2016. This equates to around 8.8% of employee jobs across Gosport.

.

The means: to change places for the better.

16

Tourism in Gosport has more to offer…



The data shows that the visitor economy makes an important, if small, contribution to the borough’s economy. The jobs percentage of 8.8% employed in the sector
compares to a national figure of 11% and 12.1% in Portsmouth, which illustrates the potential room to make up that gap. The market is dominated by the domestic
market, specifically day-trips.

The borough includes a range of tourism assets with a particular strength in naval heritage, including the Royal Navy Submarine Museum, which is part of the National
Museum of the Royal Navy. Gosport’s maritime heritage is a key component of the Borough's distinct identity.
The Gosport waterfront is of regional significance with three marinas, three boatyards and associated businesses, as well as prime viewing of the Solent and Harbour
for marine related events. Gosport is in a good geographic position in the Solent for increasing harbour and marina usage for leisure vessels as well as supporting
major maritime events.

However, the area is lacking in key tourism infrastructure such as hotels and accommodation in general. And these are needed to spur economic and employment
growth.

As set out in the Gosport Coastal Community Economic Plan,

"Gosport’s tourism sector is an important element of the local economy, but currently fails to live up to its potential as a visitor destination.”

.

The means: to change places for the better.

17



The means: to change places for the better.

18

Cultural Landscape
Through the various forms of engagement we found an energetic community with an independent entrepreneurial spirit, passionate about their town 
and its potential, with a strong tradition of volunteering and charity, and much pride in their naval heritage.

We also found a split community – with affluent members enjoying an active marine lifestyle, whilst others spoke of children that despite their proximity 
have never been to the beach. This sense of a divide is also present between young and old; community and council; military and civilian. 

Gosport’s marine and maritime heritage is an integral part of the town’s DNA but it is yet to reach and engage a wide section of its communities.

There was much optimism about the appetite for arts and culture in Gosport if it were to be embedded early, with a platform for growth and network for 
support.



Natural Heritage, Health & Wellbeing

.

The means: to change places for the better.

19

.
Gosport’s natural assets provide much opportunity for an active 
lifestyle. Many make good use of the town’s cycle routes and describe 
safe and pleasant walks through parks and along the beach. The 
addition of more family led activities and cafes in outdoor spaces would 
be welcomed by many.

There is a growing marine scene in Gosport, yet some children do not 
access the water at all despite their locality. There are organisations 
and community groups trying to get children active and on the water 
but describe a struggle to find affordable facilities. The same reason is 
cited for others seeking sporting activities in Portsmouth instead.

The waterfront is a significant asset for the town and provides many 
opportunities for leisure, job creation, health and wellbeing but it is yet 
to realise its potential and is often taken for granted. Regeneration is in 
planning including a much needed connection to the town centre. There 
is a strong desire for a vision for the waterfront as a community asset 
rather than for housing.

.

Gosport Road Runners

A running club for runners of all 
abilities, from those happy to do 
short distances to those who run 
marathons and ultra marathons.

Alver Valley Country Park

Alver Valley offers great views, walks 
and cycle routes through woodland 
and grassy meadows, past lakes and 
ponds. There is a well frequented 
children’s play area. The arrival of a 
café and toilets is much anticipated. 
Carparking is £1 an hour.



Gosport Waterfront 
Gosport has 24 miles of coastline – but with limited access as much of it is privately owned, including MOD land and private marinas. It is currently
under utilised but with plans for a major regeneration scheme, including a new transport interchange and an improved public realm. Potential is being 
explored for a mixed-use development with cultural and recreational facilities, bars and restaurants.



Cultural Activity & Participation

.

The means: to change places for the better.

21

.
There is an appetite for more quality, forward looking cultural activity in 
Gosport. Portsmouth is seen to have the ‘cool’ events, markets and 
festivals and Gosport’s offer caters for a more traditional crowd. Whilst 
there is some activity, many are unaware of what is happening and 
when. There is a particular lack of activity and space for teenagers.

Poor take up by some communities was attributed to a lack of 
confidence to as how to interact with arts and culture through limited 
exposure from an early age, a lack of role models and a route for 
progression.

The cost of cultural activities and transport is seen as a barrier. Parent 
child groups are considered expensive – this combined with the cost of 
travel and parking means they gravitate instead to the parks, yet find it 
hard to extend their stay longer than an hour.

Some businesses, organisations and community groups are working 
hard to engage and reach wider. Many feel much more could be done 
across all sectors to ensure all young people in particular get the 
opportunity to participate.

Gosport Seagulls FC

Gosport Seagulls FC is a foundation 
phase football club offering physical 
sport participation from the age of 5-6 
and then football specific training as 
part of a squad from U7- U12. The 
club is focused on providing playing 
opportunities and development to 
players aged 5-11 and supporting the 
local community. Their mission is to 
provide an inclusive accessible football 
club within Gosport’s community.

‘Families can’t afford to belong’



Education & Careers

Oarsome Chance 

Oarsome Chance develops programmes to benefit educational and route to 
employability outcomes using vocational education and training; focusing on 
young people aged from 9 -21 years old who are disengaged from mainstream 
education and are at risk of exclusion and suffering disadvantage.

The means: to change places for the better.

22

Schools have educational ambitions for their children, valuing the role of arts and 
culture in a broad education. As such they are developing aspirations for young people 
through a creative curriculum and insight into creative careers post education, e.g:

The STEAM network is exploring how collaborative, creative approaches can link 
and  enrich learning across the whole curriculum.

Artsmark are working within the school community to create aspiration for the young 
people of Gosport and encouraging parents and grandparents to see the value of 
culture.

Integrating Gosport’s assets into school life activates the surroundings - e.g. Beach 
School at Stoke’s Bay.

Just as the sea is a major part of Gosport’s identity, the water provides a significant 
opportunity for jobs, from engineering to sail training, but many people are not even 
aware this would be an option for them. Portsmouth Harbour Marine and individual 
marinas recognise the huge potential for local people to access training and aspire 
towards careers in these local, but internationally-important industries.

“ Gosport has 160 marine sector businesses - don’t just 
churn out car mechanics and nail technicians”

‘’



Portsmouth University

Portsmouth University has a wider range of creative courses, such as graphic design, fashion, animation and gaming. It also houses the brand new centre of XR, the 
first of its kind in the UK.



Heritage
The means: to change places for the better.

24

Connecting with the community

‘If we don’t bring our rich history alive then it 
will die, we have to engage the future’

Gosport’s maritime history is what most feel makes the town distinctive 
and gives it identity. Lots of people are proud and interested in its naval 
history. When the ships come in on memorial days, hundreds of people 
go and spectate and many can recall memories linked to loved ones 
who served in the Navy.

Yet the town’s rich stories are not yet currently visible in the public 
realm or reaching and engaging many sectors of the community. 
Gosport’s heritage stories are being told within its museums, yet some 
people struggle to engage in these environments feeling either these 
types of spaces, the stories and how they are presented are ‘not for us’.

‘heritage can be about seeing things 
differently, putting yourself in someone else’s 
shoes’
Telling contemporary stories that connect communities with heritage is 
key, e.g. Explosion’s use of human stories to connect people to heritage 
in a more direct way, through personal testimonies of the people who 
worked there. Past intergenerational and co-created projects can also 
be built upon.

sjkhsajkfhkjsa

Story Exchange Intergenerational Film Project
National Museum of Royal Navy 2014

Over the summer 20 year 5 pupils from Stamshaw Junior
School became documentary filmmakers to capture the
fascinating and inspiring stories of naval veterans from World
War 2 to the present day.



Heritage

.

The means: to change places for the better.

25

. .

Orgs/Groups

Connecting heritage together

Image left: Work is underway to bring the town’s rich heritage
to life as Historic England is starting to map some of
Gosport’s heritage stories and attribute them to
location.

However, in terms of museums and heritage sites, the split into two 
types - local independents and national organisations - and this also 
brings a lack of joined-up strategy or story-telling. Resource is often 
stretched, with reliance on volunteers in the first case or the 
requirement to look to outside organisational priorities in the 
latter.

There is a major opportunity to strengthen the wider museums and 
cultural sector, as well as ensuring each place links to and 
reinforces Gosport’s wider cultural ecosystem.

‘I often just invite myself to meetings’



The High Street
The means: to change places for the better.

26

The broad sweep of the High Street connects the waterfront with the 
museum and beyond. It naturally draws visitors on a path through the town 
centre. Its breadth contrasts with the more intimate and atmospheric 
alleyways that line it. Both are littered with buildings of interest and 
importance.

One of the hardest hit sectors, retail will never be the same again post-Covid. 
The number of empty shops will undoubtedly increase, and successful re-use 
strategies will require ingenuity and creativity.

Reassuringly the HAZ is directing efforts at finding such uses and both the 
Makers Guild and Gosport Voluntary Action are pursuing options to be 
located on the high street.

There are already quirky businesses, independents such as A Slice of Vinyl 
and Katie’s Vinyl Bar & Kitchen, who could be interested in co-creating town 
centre events which would provide new reasons to visit a centre that is 
currently underutilised, both by locals and visitors like those using the local 
marinas. Making stronger connections between the waterfront and the high 
street should have benefits in both directions.

Elsewhere – in Portsmouth, Southampton, Poole, Bournemouth, Worthing –
it is Business Improvement Districts that are making these connections. Many 
are involved in promoting ambitious place-shaping cultural programmes.

An attempt to establish a BID in Gosport failed through lack of interest in 
2016. If this is not to be revisited, some representative body from the High 
Street community should be facilitated. 

Gosport High Street.



Creative and Cultural Industries
The means: to change places for the better.

27

There is a small but growing ‘independent entrepreneurial micro 
community’ who are passionate about harnessing arts and culture to 
improve the town. Katie’s Vinyl Bar & Kitchen plays host to art 
exhibitions and gigs, and Quay West studios puts on events and gigs.
Gosport is also home to Iron Heart, a well-loved brand in the Japanese 
denim market.

Shinichi Haraki established 
The Works Inc and the Iron 
Heart brand in 2002. After 20 
years of working in the 
garment industry in Japan as 
designer and director for 
Edwin created his own 
clothing brand, with a focus 
on heavyweight denims and 
durable fabrics, designed for 
and aimed at the Japanese 
motorcycling community..
Iron Heart runs a regular 
podcast - Iron Cast

Gosport’s thriving marine sector can also be considered as a cultural 
industry in this context. The Endeavour Yard, on the site of Camper & 
Nicholson’s historic yard where there has been shipbuilding since 1792, 
today hosts 10 small businesses, many of which are attracted here for 
its cultural connections. Similarly the marina at Haslar hosts other 
cultural businesses, with historic vessels including HMS Medusa and the 
1946 lightship, giving a distinctive personality for organisations including 
Alex Thomson Sailing and the new charitable Andrew Simspon
Foundation.

The Centre for Creative and Immersive Extended Reality, the UK’s first 
integrated facility to support innovation in the creative and digital 
technologies of virtual, augmented and extended realities, is just across 
the water. A relationship is already being pursued here between the 
council and CCIXR.



Creative and Cultural Spaces
The means: to change places for the better.

28

People often travel outside of Gosport to go to the cinema, theatre or 
watch a band. Due to the lack of these spaces, children can often miss 
out on field trips.

Many people participate in cultural activity in their homes such as film, 
gaming and social media. With no dedicated spaces for live 
performance , there are no stepping stones for potential new artists to 
graduate from their bedrooms. There is a feeling that new spaces and 
venues would only work with consideration of the wider picture of how 
alternative culture forms connect. Young people currently do not have 
spaces where they can congregate and express themselves, such as 
skate parks, music venues, youth clubs or arcades.

In response, the church in collaboration with local music businesses has 
started to carve out a space that welcomes young people and provides a 
platform for expression. Bars and pubs are also offering up their spaces 
for live music, exhibitions and record fairs to plug the gap. Gosport 
Multi-academy trust are developing a venue in a decommissioned 
church that can house live performances, galleries and community use.

Makers guild is also looking for a new space on the high street.

There are artists moving into the town to take advantage of the cheaper 
spaces, but Portsmouth is still a choice for many. Lots of the buildings 
with interesting heritage and appeal to creatives go to housing, which 
people think are not needed. Designated units for creative businesses 
often lie empty.

MAKE Gosport

A new 5,000sq ft (450sqm) shared community workshop, laboratory 
and studio run by a group of local artists, engineers, makers and 
thinkers who work together to provide tools and learning resources to 
the community. It includes woodworking, metal , engineering, finishing, 
blacksmithing workshops, arts and craft areas, 3D fabrication, 
electronics and robotic labs, a media suite and social breakout areas 
with gaming, BBQ patio and a café.



.

The means: to change places for the better.

29

. .
Yellow Edge Gallery

Founded in 2019, the Yellow 
Edge Gallery is one of 
Hampshire’s newest 
contemporary art galleries. It is 
not a commercial gallery but 
instead was set up to provide 
artists with a space of their own 
to exhibit, discuss, engage and 
share their work with an 
audience. Its mission is to 
exhibit contemporary works by 
practicing artists, promoting and 
strengthening the community, 
and fostering new relationships 
with fellow artists.



Community & Relationships

.

The means: to change places for the better.

30

.
The community has a strong tradition in charity and volunteering. 
Voluntary Action are looking for space on the high street.

However, a disconnect was described in every direction between 
culture, community, council, business and the military. Many were 
bewildered by the structure of most sectors. People feel out of the loop 
with plans for the town and expressed a sense of lethargy and apathy 
from reaching out for support or information and not getting anything 
back. This has created a cynicism - ‘ have we heard this before?’

Sectors of the business community feel isolated without a network, 
sense of team or wider scope. There is however little knowledge of 
what the other is doing, I.e. yet to hear of the Ambassadors scheme. 
The Fallen Acorn Brewery is actively trying to connect businesses 
through their brand and the Coastal Collective set up in March this year 
to support businesses through training and networking.

.



RESULTS FROM SURVEYS AND FIELD WORK



Conduct of the surveys and field work
• This work was undertaken under Covid -19 restrictions

• 1:2:1 interviews were conducted on line in the main. 60 interviews were completed

• A young people’s workshop and artist led engagement was conducted in the open air at a local park

• 24 completed the young people’s survey

• The workshop with the town’s Ambassadors took place on-line

• The workshop with stakeholders took place in person at the Museum 

• The on-line community survey generated 239 responses



The on-line community survey
• The survey was promoted through a variety of channels

• 239 responses were received

• The profile of the respondees was assessed from postcode data. This was mapped to illustrate spatial spread and analysed using the MOSAIC tool (see following
slides)

• These are useful references when deriving conclusions from the survey results and in understanding who responded and where they live

• We deal with the community survey first, then that undertaken with young people

• At the Ambassador workshop we asked a sample of the same question as at the community level, and we contrast the results

• Similarly, we compare what young people responded with the broader community survey results



The means: to change places for the better.

MOSAIC profile of response to community survey



The means: to change places for the better.

Mosaic Classification Number of Responses

B Prestige Positions 19

D Domestic Success 21

E Suburban Stability 14

F Senior Security 51

H Aspiring Homemakers 38

I Urban Cohesion 6

J Rental Hubs 12

K Modest Traditions 27

L Transient Renters 21

M Family Basics 12

N Vintage Value 12

O Municipal Tenants 5

Grand Total 238

Mosaic profile of response to on-line survey



Mapping the 
response to the 

community survey



9/10
respondents plan to stay in 
Gosport for at least 5 years

The means: to change places for the better.

A LONG-STANDING AND STABLE COMMUNITY

7/10
respondents have lived in 
Gosport for over 15 years



In Gosport
36%

Outside 
Gosport

29%

Both
35%

Where people go for leisure activities overall

The means: to change places for the better.



0 50 100 150 200 250

Top 10 leisure activities

Walking

Cafes/restaurants

Beach

Shopping (non-essential)

Meeting friends

Parks/green spaces

Bars/pubs

TV/film at home

Events

Cinema

The means: to change places for the better.



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

TV/film at home Parent toddler groups Reading/libraries Beach Cycling

Top 5 activities done in GosportThe means: to change places for the better.



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Cinema Gigs Shopping (non-
essential)

Arts and crafts Museums

Top 5 activities done outside GosportThe means: to change places for the better.



MUSEUMS

EXHIBITION
S

The means: to change places for the better.

of respondents who 
visit museums do so 
only once a year

61%
of respondents who 
go to exhibitions do 
so monthly

47%



0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Top 10 things Gosport lacks

Cinema

Shops/high street

Cafes/restaurants

Culture

Entertainment

Activity facilities

Community

Transport

Theatre

Events

The means: to change places for the better.



76%
respondents use 
social media to 
find out what’s 
happening in 
Gosport

How equipped is 
Gosport to service 
this social media 
usage?

Our survey 
says…

The means: to change places for the better.

Promotion



76% of respondents said they know 
a moderate to a great amount of 
Gosport’s heritage and history

85% of respondents said they 
would like to learn more 
about Gosport’s heritage

67% of respondents felt they may 
have a role to play in boosting 
Gosport’s cultural future

ASPIRATION

POTENTIAL

KNOWLEDGE
1

2

3

A role to play 

The means: to change places for the better.



54% of respondents 
believe there is a ‘fair’ 
sense of community

PROVISION GROUPS

COMMUNITY

CONNECTION

WORKING

58% would rate the 
provision for community 
activities as ‘OK’

139 respondents connect with 
their local community by 
socialising with neighbours

Community groups, sport 
groups and online groups are 
important to the community

36% of respondents 
work in Gosport, while 
37% don’t work at 
present

The means: to change places for the better.



What people think would improve arts and culture offer
The means: to change places for the better.

“Heritage seems to be 
restricted to certain 
times and should be 
celebrated all year.”

“Giving Gosport the 
waterfront it deserves.”

PUBLICITY EVENTS VENUES 

HERITAGE COMMUNITY YOUTH 
OFFER

“More linked up 
partnership working.” 

“Listen and represent 
the local community.”

“Engaging young 
people in schools 

about the area they 
live in so hopefully 

they grow up to respect 
the area.”

“Better promotion.”

“A central directory 
would be good.”

“Giving permits for 
outdoor music 

events.”

“Open air events. As there 
used to be (e.g. festivals 

at Walpole park).”

“Multi use facilities, 
utilising old 
buildings.”

“We need a venue 
for theatre, cinema, 
live music and art 

studios”



Most the youth club provisions 
have been cut which are vital to get 
young people involved all kinds of 
activities. Youth Work is expensive 
to run but has long term benefits for 

the community.

Are there 
any? 

The is no clear 
plan or engagement 

strategy. This appears 
primarily undertaken in 

education. 

Many hang out in parks or at the 
waterfront but could do with activities 

such as volleyball or table tennis. 
Some miss McDonalds which was 

situated in the High Street as it was a 
place they could meet. They haven't 
got too many places where they feel 

welcome. 

To be honest, arts and 
culture for young people 
is poor, but the leisure 

provision is good.

Youth Provision

The means: to change places for the better.



The means: to change places for the better.

Youth Survey



The means: to change places for the better.

5/10
respondents don’t know if they will 

be living in Gosport in 15 years’ 
time

Q3



Other

Theatre

Performing

TV/Film

Music

Gaming

Arts/crafts

Sports

Social media

Beach

Socialising with friends

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

Leisure activities popular wth young peopleThe means: to change places for the better.



The means: to change places for the better.

Q6

Respondents rated Gosport an 
average 2.8 stars for things to do



The means: to change places for the better.

Q7 What young people do in 
Gosport

15 mentions of parks, 
nature and space

11 mentions of beach, 
sea and water

6 mentions of location 
and amenities

7 mentions of friends, 
community and people



64% of respondents said they know 
a little about Gosport’s heritage and 
history

59% of respondents said they 
would like to learn more 
about Gosport’s heritage

55% of respondents said they 
would like to get involved in making 
access to arts and culture easier 
for young people

ASPIRATIO
N

POTENTIAL

KNOWLEDGE
1

2

3

Q9 + 10 + 11

The means: to change places for the better.



The means: to change places for the better.

Q9 what do you know about Gosport’s
heritage

A lot or a 
moderate 

amount, 76%

A little, 23%

Nothing, 1%

Community survey results

A lot, 9%

A little, 64%

Nothing, 27%

Youth Cultural survey results



Yes
85%

No
15%

Community survey results

Yes
59%

No
23%

Don't know
18%

Youth Cultural survey results

The means: to change places for the better.

Q10



Ambassadors’ workshop
• The workshop included break out groups and a plenary session

• The opportunity was taken to compare the responses from the Ambassadors to that of the broader community

"My aspiration is that my grandchildren choose to remain to live in Gosport in 15 years' time"

An attendee at the Ambassador Workshop



Poll Results – Knowledge of the town’s heritage

• The Ambassadors were asked about the extent of their 
knowledge of Gosport’s heritage

• Somewhat surprisingly they considered themselves less 
informed than the wider population

• This is perhaps a case of the “known unknowns” – the 
Ambassadors being aware of how much heritage there is 
in the town that they are yet to learn about

A lot, 3%

A moderate 
amount, 74%

A little or not at 
all, 23%

Ambassadors poll



Poll Results – Knowledge of the town’s heritage

A lot, 24%

A moderate 
amount, 52%

A little or not at 
all, 24%

Our survey results

A lot, 3%

A moderate 
amount, 74%

A little or not at 
all, 23%

Ambassadors poll



Poll Results – Appetite for learning more

• Predictably almost all the Ambassadors had an 
appetite for learning more

• But the 239 responses from the wider population 
were almost equally keen

• We should consider that the sample who 
responded, self selected, will not be fully 
representative of the town as a whole

Yes
94%

No
6%

Ambassadors



Poll Results – Appetite for learning more 

Yes
85%

No
15%

Community survey results

Yes
94%

No
6%

Ambassadors



Poll Results – ‘sense of community’

• Both groups were asked about whether they 
considered there was a strong sense of community 
within Gosport

• There was a significant variance here, with three times 
as many Ambassadors considering there was a “strong 
sense” than the population at large

• This gives rise to two observations. Firstly, about the 
nature of people who put themselves forward for the 
role

• And secondly whether exposure to the role and to 
others doing it, can contribute to building that sense of 

community

Yes, 
strongly

48%
Yes, fairly

45%

No
7%

Ambassadors Poll



Poll Results – ‘sense of community’

Yes, strongly
16%

Yes, fairly
54%

No
30%

Our survey results

Yes, strongly
48%

Yes, fairly
45%

No
7%

Ambassadors Poll



STRATEGIC FOUNDATIONS 
& 

CROSS-CUTTING THEMES



Ambition and Quality

The means: to change places for the better.

65

.Gosport has a very strong sense of community identity, and pride in its heritage 
and its open and public spaces.

The potential of existing and new communities as actors and producers of culture, 
with economic and social benefits, is huge.

However…

There are wide variances in cultural provision, often reflecting economic and 
social divisions in the community.

There is some existing provision which is very good but clear information and 
wide access is limited.

There are a number of positive funding and development initiatives. However, to 
date they lack connectedness with each other and visibility with the community.

The primary step change required in realising a meaningful value-based Cultural 
Strategy will be to develop active forms of community and partner involvement in 
both the governance and cultural development.

There is also the imperative to be bold.

By 2030, we want England to be a 
country in which the creativity of each of 
us is valued and given the chance to 
flourish, and where every one of us has 
access to a remarkable range of high-
quality cultural experiences.

Let’s Create. Strategy 2020-2030 Arts 
Council England.



The means: to change places for the better.

66

.
The data and oral evidence reveals significant separation and divisions within 
local communities. There are high levels of social and economic deprivation and 
dislocation. The levels of worklessness and deprivation will impact on cultural 
participation.

Work needs to be done to discover what stories are important to all of its 
different communities and to include a diverse range of voices, especially those 
seldom heard. Targeted interventions are needed, both to engage with the 
different communities and to encourage collective activities and ownership.

Individual projects and initiatives are a good starting point but a more coherent 
approach, both within cultural venues and the public realm, is needed.

Partnership is the key element of the cultural strategy which can make a 
difference in these wider societal issues.

e.g What are the effects of being a military town?

•Lots of “singles”

•Those with families often are stationed here with their families elsewhere

•Those who do move with families are here for a relatively short time

•Military make their own entertainment / culture

•The rationale around land use and development is based on very different 
criteria. The need for security can work against encouraging footfall and access

We want to ensure the sector is actively 
listening to, and taking account of, the 
views of the local community. We want 
organisations to actively form relationships 
with under-served communities. As a result, 
publicly funded culture will matter more to 
more people.”

Arts Council Let’s Create

Inclusivity and Resilience



The means: to change places for the better.

67

.Our approach to Environmental Responsibility should be clearly informed by data. 
Good, relevant data can underpin effective planning more generally, as well 
as programme evaluation. Setting place the capacity and capability to capture 
data needs to be hard wired from the outset.

The history and relative geographical isolation of Gosport can become its major 
strength going forward.

The potential for better use of Gosport’s green spaces, as well as the water, is 
often mentioned as key by stakeholders.

Sustainability should be embedded into processes and outcomes.

Unique environmental ecosystems have been created by decades of isolation.

The personal and built environment heritage of the area can be further explored 
with the opening up of the former MOD land.

Environmental Responsibility 



The means: to change places for the better.

68

.
What is impeding change?

•Is there a “psycho-geography” of Gosport that despite the physical opening up of 
sites like Clarence Yard means that they still feel out of bounds for locals, and 
bereft of vibrancy for visitors?

•This is a 800 year old borough described as “innately conservative and 6th
generation white working class”

•A contrast was drawn with cultural life of Hull and Chatham

•The time it has taken to replace the cinema – the relative sparsity of grass roots 
activity

Our response needs to harness:

•Social capital - people can be the primary change factor in Gosport, bringing 
established and new communities together.

Cultural and creative activity - can be the key to this. Learning and skills linked to 
emerging creative and maker economies can be a strong driver in establishing 
conditions to retain young people in the area and to stimulate economic 
development through SMEs and a creative workforce. For example, hubs around 
F&B, and new maritime and urban food production are possible.

A cultural strategy is not just a product, it is a 
process: of inclusion, new types of dialogue, and 
the creative re-imagination of what makes a 
place distinctive. It can enhance opportunities to 
engage with local communities and create 
healthier neighbourhoods, as well as unlock 
different types of investment and bring together 
different types of activity under a unified goal 
for the future of the area…”

Culture in a Box. Local Authority Guide to 
Cultural Strategies.

Dynamism 

Technology - Look at both creative experimentation and application. Adopt new 
digital technologies which result in innovation. Consider technology’s 
transformative powers when engaging new audiences, creating new 
experiences and content, and improving the performance of organisations.



Communication and co-ordination
What we found:
There is lots going on that would benefit from better co-ordination, promotion and 
awareness raising.

What this requires:
• Overlap is healthy, but duplication is a waste of scarce resource
• Joined up programming and joint marketing will amplify the aggregate impact
• Bringing players together will spark creativity and reciprocal support
• Delivering culture within communities – as well as centrally – calls for resource 

both to bridge and build opportunities and strategic co-ordination from local and 
regional partners

• Support for the future role of the Place Board in driving and delivery



Interactive and Experiential Content

What we found:
Across all ages and communities there is a desire for culture to be more 
engaging and immersive.

What this requires:
• Bringing heritage stories to life in the public realm and through events and 

celebration
• Appealing to a wider demographic with interactive storytelling
• Ensuring everyone, and especially children and young people, can engage with 

Gosport’s story
• Harnessing the opportunity of CCIXR and digital technology to bring our 

stories to life in new and immersive ways
• Bringing CCIXR to town, whether physically or through projects



Gosport on the map
What we found:

Gosport now has the chance to promise, and deliver, much more – building new audiences and 
bringing future opportunities.

What this requires:

• Achieving a step change in its wider reputation as a place for high quality cultural and creative 
activity

• Making the most of the outstanding green, coastal and built heritage

• Winning recognition for best practice in delivering cultural opportunity

• Continuing to maximise available investment and resource for culture in a strategic way

• Extending and deepening people’s engagement with culture



Climate challenge

What we found

Culture can be at the heart of Gosport, playing its part responding to the global climate emergency 
by engaging, inspiring and creating a stage for action.

What this requires

- Participation and agency becoming the norm within communities

- The local provision of cultural and creative opportunity supporting walking within 
neighbourhoods

- Encouraging cycling across the borough when engaging with the network of cultural opportunities 
for making and participating

- Cultural and creative projects embedded in new developments such as the bus and ferry 
interchange, and new housing developments



PROGRAMME



• Establish central board for young people, education, community arts 
officer, funding officer, arts award facilitator, police, industry, outreach/charity, 
youth council, LCP.

• Grow Youth Council/forum
• Create standardised approach for all schools- STREAM, ATELIER, ARTS AWARD 

opportunities.
• Youth Ambassador scheme Volunteering in a cultural institution

Exposure to the creative industries – work experience, visit
Opportunity to arts award – Primary discover and explore, secondary bronze, 
silver, Higher education – gold. Track awards – borough awards evening 
celebrated and acknowledged – Key to the city - 25
Mentoring
Discount card
4 annual YA events
Operated through licenced partners – educational and heritage institutions, 
clubs and societies

Project bank

N.B. Projects to follow – stacked here pro temps
• Temporary Contemporary - CCIXR
• Gaming Cafes – test sites for Portsmouth high street
• Youth Beach Hut
• Youth Park Hut
• Rework heritage trails with young people
• Creative projects between education and industry
• Intergenerational projects
• Artists in residence in all schools
• Museums to create templates/packages for awards and qualification
• Open up an incubation space/hub for industry to feed into which benefits education, 

artists and wider community. Offer skills, leadership coaching, mentorships, careers advice, 
alumni mentors, open access space for education and arts. Open centre/ hub schools feed 
into link to exam boards, btech’s , training, look wider

• At home art packs
• Youth run digital platform
• Youth platforms at events/ diversity /tolerance



Project profile
N.B. Possible project template to discuss with client

Project Code 
/Name

Project Purpose /Aims Part
ners

Timescale Bud
get

1 2 3 4 5

1 Establish a network of local hubs through first building on current provision and 
then identifying the gaps to fill. The precise nature of each hub will reflect each 
circumstance, but there will be common developmental standards across the 
network. Connection and collaboration between hubs will be prioritised.

2 Establish, develop and promote a calendar of events across the borough, utilising 
existing channels and identifying where rationalisation and new platforms can be 
effective. Encourage existing events to address new audiences and assist the 
viability of new events through marketing support. Gather data on market 
intelligence, sharing insight with partners.

3 Carnival * * * *
Young 
ambassadors

Based around the principles of the Ambassador scheme, this project aims to deliver 
direct benefits to young people themselves, the cultural institutions they work with 
and to the town - through the retention of young talent. Deploying techniques from 
education business partnerships, the programme will include internships at 
institutions, school visits and mentoring.

Our spaces Gaming Café, Youth Beach Hut, Youth Park Hut, Young people’s digital platform



GOVERNANCE AND STEWARDSHIP





MONITORING AND EVALUATION



Swyddfa Cymru
Unit 3, 21-25 West End, Llanelli, Sir Gâr / Carmarthenshire, SA15 3DN
Phone / Ffôn: +44 (0)1554 780170

London Office
28 Marshalsea Road, London SE1 1HF
Phone / Ffôn: +44 (0)20 7403 4135

The means Limited. Registered Office
80-83 Long Lane, London EC1A 9ET

Website: www.themeans.co.uk

The means: to change places for the better.



T
his page is intentionally left blank



The Action Plan
A programme of projects that address the strategic objectives



Project name:
Gosport Cultural Education Partnership

Project short description
A partnership of education providers, police, health, cultural orgs/business and 
3rd sector. Open access space and dedicated role/s- Gosport Cultural Education 
officer/s attached. It will 

• build a standardised approach across all schools – i.e STREAM  curriculum / 
Arts award /Atelier 

• offer an open access space which allow education providers to share 
resources i.e moderation 

• provide a forum for knowledge share

• establish a borough-wide network of large and small cultural orgs/ 
businesses i.e marine, CCIXR & heritage sectors 

• support orgs/businesses to offer apprenticeships, skills, CPD training for 
teachers

• build a mentorship model of business/org and alumni to support journey 

• assess skills gaps in partnership with business/orgs to feed into education 
models

• support businesses/orgs to create free innovative education resources for 
primary and secondary school students and create STREAM and Arts Award 
risk assessed packages/templates

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC and Artswork with seed funding 
from the Arts Council

Experience and precedent: 

See picture. Stemcrew is the flagship programme of the 1851 Trust. Focusing on 
environmental science. The programme offers free Key stage 3 and 4 STEM teaching 
resources and packages.

https://www.stemcrew.org/ 

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.5, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 3.1, 3.2, 3.4, 5.1, 5.2, 5.3

Stem Crew Portsmouth



Project name:
Welcome Spaces Project

Project short description
A project where young people design their own spaces such as 
permanent youth shelters of varying scale in parks and on the 
beach. These hang out spaces will provide free data, shelter and 
be well lit. 

Co-designed with young people with a creative agency to 
support. 

It will 

• create ownership and pride

• Increase safety

• aim to decrease anti-social behaviour

• change perceptions

Young people can host events, exhibitions and intergenerational 
activity from these spaces in exchange for use. Spaces may 
include beach huts and treehouses.

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between Hampshire County Council, 
Motive8 and a creative agency with arts council funding.

Experience and precedent: 

Our Spaces – Warwickshire. Codesigned street furniture with Creative Giants 
agency and local artists.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.5, 2.2,3.3,3.4,3.5,3.6,4.1,4.2,4.5,4.6,5.1,5.3



Project name:
Making space for music

Project short description
A music focused hangout and creative space for young people with a coffee 
shop, free computers, gig space and a recording studio.

It will:

• offer young people a safe and welcoming space

• seed culture and creativity

• offer a platform for expression and progression

• provide quality equipment

• offer expertise and guidance 

The project is already in progression at the decommissioned Gosport Harbour 
Church. Once established, it should seek to reach wider, inviting established 
artists to offer inspirational talks, mentorship and learning opportunities online 
or at the church. 

The space can also provide a platform for projects and exhibitions which explore 
and making connections with music heritage locally and globally. As well as host 
touring bands.

Partners and lead body

This project is collaboration between Gosport Harbour Church, GFMAT, St Vincents and 
Quay West Studios.

Experience and precedent: 

On a larger scale, 3rd Space Music in Bristol is a group of arts organisations working 
together to support the next generation's musical progression across the city. Each 
offers a variety of projects in learning how to make music, record and perform .

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.5, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4, 4.6, 5.1, 5.2

Gig at Gosport Church



Project name:
Outdoor performance space
Project short description
A flexible, multi-purpose arts and performance space in Lawrence Square.

It will 

• host local and touring outdoor productions

• offer a platform for expression and progression

• encourage dwelling

• create a meeting point

• explore/challenge relationships - audience and performer, performer and 
space

• seek to express Gosport’s heritage in its design

The project is already in progression. When commissioning an artists or 
architects, it should be considered how the design could allow for flexible and 
multiple as challenging performers and artists in how they use the space and 
connect with their audience. This would ensure the space is animated all year 
round and pull a wider audience into the area. To innovate, a cross collaborative 
design could be considered , involving forms such as performance as part of the 
consultation /design process. The process should also involve active community 
participation in the design outcome.

Partners and lead body

A collaboration between GMAG , Gosport Discovery Centre and commissioned 
artist/architect and theatre practitioners 

The Rounds is an outdoor performance pavilion designed by Sports for the Ragdale
Foundation, an artist colony 30 miles north of Chicago . Rounds encourages a multiplicity 
of the performer to audience relationships, performance types, stage arrangements, and 
seating options, generating a versatile outdoor venue and a fully encompassing 
experience.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.1, 2.2, 4.1, 4.2, 4.5, 5.3

The Rounds, Chicago 



Project name:
Gaming/XR Café

Project short description
A drop in space which utilises an empty High Street unit provides a 
test bed opportunity for gaming and XR – working closely with St 
Vincents and linking up with Portsmouth Uni & CCIXR. 

It will 

• support innovation

• inspire new careers

• give young people a welcome space

• create a talking point for the town

It will create an engaging blacked out space where young people can 
meet friends, get free data on their phones and try out the latest 
games and technologies. Includes Café, hangout space, computers 
and VR headsets. St Vincents, CCIXR and Portsmouth Uni can ‘ test’ 
projects here. With CCIXR running regular demo’s for businesses and 
the wider community.,

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GPB, St Vincents, Portsmouth 
Uni & CCIXR and HCT with support from innovation funds such as Innovate UK 
and the Arts Council. Explore commercial sponsorships and café income -gaming 
time, food, beverages and hosted events.

Experience and precedent: 

The Arcade Vaults in Cardiff features classic consoles and hundreds of games, 
with a small free-to-play area. They serve coffee, tea, drinks and gamer friendly 
snacks, offer community workspaces, tech facilities and business support .

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.4, 2.2, 2.3, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 4.6, 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 5.5

Arcade Vaults, Cardiff



Project name:
Light festival

Project short description
An annual festival which illuminates Gosport’s heritage buildings and natural 
assets using artists who work with light, projection or animation. This could be 
part of Portsmouth’s We Shine Festival.

It will 

• celebrate Gosport’s assets

• draw people into the high street

• encourage tourism

• help night time economy

• animate the town with cultural activity

The festival will host artists from further afield. The trail will connect the 
waterfront with the high street. 

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC, HAZ,  artists, HAZ, creative 
agency

Funding support from the Arts Council

Experience and precedent: 

Luminaire festival, Kings Cross. 

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5

Circus of Light - a magical animated show projected onto The 
Granary Building, created by Ocubo



Project name:
The Great Outdoors Festival

Project short description
A festival which focuses on the parks, open spaces and waterfront areas

This would be driven through  a themed or activity (kites, balloon, street 
art/games, environmental innovation) acting as both a destination spectacle and 
community focused event

It will 

• encourage connection with Gosport’s natural assets

• foster health & wellbeing

• engage diverse committees to participate and help shape

The festival would be co-curated by representatives from the community 
through an extended form of the ambassador’s scheme. It would take place 
over two weeks in late spring. Drawing on the archaeological, geological and 
environmental importance of the area

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC, local community and dovetail with 
other successful initiatives such as Gosport Marine Festival 

Experience and precedent: 

St Annes hosts the spectacular annual Kite Festival, featuring magnificent kites from all 
over the world

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

St Anne’s Kite Festival



Project name:
Community Meets the Centre Festival

Project short description
A series of programmed events and activities linked by one or two central 
commissioned works (public art, music, performance, lighting)

It will 

• celebrate Gosport’s assets

• draw people into the high street 

• link the waterfront and town centre

• animate the town with cultural activity

• engage diverse committees to participate and help shape

The festival would be co-curated by representatives from the community 
through an extended form of the ambassador’s scheme. It would take place 
over two weeks in late summer and autumn and develop themes drawing on 
Gosport’s historic and contemporary identity Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC, HCT,  local community 

Experience and precedent: 

Many of Coventry City Of Cultures festivals were as a result of co-creation between the 
trust and established community leaders

.Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

Beneath the trees – A co created festival at Coventry City of Culture



Project name:
Heritage ‘takeover’ initiative

Project short description
A 3 year initiative where a heritage building such as Fort Brockhurst is handed 
over to higher education and artists for creative practice, production and 
collaboration with a focus on animating Gosport’s heritage 

Empty shops and buildings will be opened up for exhibitions, pop ups, fed 
directly from the initiative. 

It will 

• bring a fresh perspective to Gosport’s marine and maritime heritage 

• animate the town with cultural activity

• foster innovation through cross collaboration 

• seed future use of spaces

• grow cultural activity in the town

• bridge a connection between ideas and reality,

Students from the university will bring a fresh and contemporary perspective to 
Gosport’s heritage, the initiative should also invite support and benefit local 
creative practitioners and the wider community. With a programme which 
fosters cross collaborative projects i.e artists,  museums, theatre groups, 
Heritage Action Zone.

The initiative should actively seek to extend its presence into the public and 
digital sphere. 

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC, CCIXR, Portsmouth Uni, HAZ

Funding support from the Arts Council

Experience and precedent: 

Temporary Contemporary initiative is a enlivens empty units in Queensgate Market in 
partnership with Kirklees Council and the School of Art, Design and Architecture. The 
initiative functions as a cultural hub and a test bed for creative production, collaboration 
and situated curatorial practice. Beyond Queensgate Market, it operates as a catalyst for 
culture in Huddersfield.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 3.1, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5, 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4

Temporary Contemporary, Kirklees



Project name:
Immersive Heritage Trail App

Project short description
An innovative wayfaring project in progress which allows people to discover 
Gosport’s heritage stories using latest immersive technologies.

It will 

• bring a fresh perspective to Gosport’s marine and maritime heritage 

• foster innovation put Gosport on the map

• increase legibility 

• connect the waterfront with the high street

Partners and lead body

A collaboration between GBC and CCIXR as part of the community renewal fund.

Experience and precedent: 

Hidden Cities, see picture. Fictional characters will then lead each user from one 
location to another within each city, via the app’s location-aware content. When a user 
arrives at each location, the app triggers the audio and site-specific content to display on 

the device, relaying each location’s narrative in the user’s language of choice.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.1, 2.5, 3.1, 3.1, 3.6, 3.6, 5.4

Hidden Exeter app



Project name:
Immersive Heritage Trail Event

Project short description
There is already an innovative wayfaring project in progress which allows people 
to discover Gosport’s heritage stories using latest immersive technologies – this 
could be launched with a one month event which combines performance and 
installation in the 6 sites.

It will 

• bring a fresh perspective to Gosport’s marine and maritime heritage 

• animate the town with cultural activity

• foster innovation put Gosport on the map

• launch and seed use of the wayfaring app

• encourage multiple ways to experience a story

CCIXR to work on alongside selected artists to create a connecting narrative to 
the app which explores how a combination of XR tools new technologies can 
bring Gosport’s heritage stories to life in immersive and innovative ways. This 
month long event which combines performance, installation and technology will 
launch the app and seed use with those who may not be drawn to this type of 
technology.

Partners and lead body

The wayfaring project is a collaboration between GBC, CCIXR. Extending the 
project into an event as a collaboration with local artists.Further funding would 
be required to launch this as an event

Experience and precedent: 

Reveal’, see picture above was a ‘part game, part narrative, part adventure’ The 
immersive ‘active reality’ story was set against the backdrop of the streets and 
avenues of the Norfolk seaport town, and the narrative unfolded day by day, 
using large-scale projections, augmented reality, film sequences and live 
performances

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 2.5, 4.1, 4.2, 4.4, 4.5, 4.6, 5.3, 5.4



Project name:
Gosport Event Platform

Project short description
A bespoke interactive digital platform which allows all members of the 
community to add their events. 

It will 

• improve communication of what’s happening in the borough

• encourage community ownership by involving them in its development

The platform will allow locals and visitors alike to tap into what’s happening 
culturally. This will encourage the inclusion of more local activity that would not 
normally be marketed widely to increase participation. 

Partners and lead body

Developed by community leaders in conjunction with CCIXR and Portsmouth Uni. 
Hosted by the Tourist Office.

Experience and precedent: 

PopMap, Bristol 

PopMap is an event map which connects people with the events and activities that 
occur in the city's streets, spaces and venues giving the city a unique local platform from 
which it can share and encourage all forms of cultural activity.

.Contribution to strategic objectives

1.1, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.5, 4.6, 5.3, 5.4



Project name:
Heritage meets Art

Project short description
Centred around the Museum and Library Service. A contemporary project 
involving local communities in documenting and recording and reflecting on the 
heritage, contemporary and personal histories of the area.

It will 

• collaborate with the emerging cluster of artists, creatives and makers living 
and working in the area to create contemporary representations of the 
research

• consolidate and expand the museum and library as community heritage 
hubs with new audience

This could take the form of contemporary collecting, photography, digital 
applications, sound, exhibition and contemporary commissions

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC, the community, Museum ad 
Library service 

Experience and precedent: 

The Dickens Community Archive Project took the form of a plethora of smaller 
community projects with a variety of outputs – including films, artwork, a book, display 
panels, knitting and even a board game. Some of these outputs featured in the A Tale of 
One City exhibition at Portsmouth City Museum alongside some of the treasures from 
the city archive collection, while others were showcased on the project website and at 

community events. Gosport Museum and Gallery is exploring a similar approach is 
developing the displays. 

.Contribution to strategic objectives

1.1, 1.4, 2.2, 2.3, 3.3, 4.1, 4.6, 5.4

The Dickens Community Archive Project



Project name:
Creative Incubator

Project short description
This is combining the Fort Brockhurst idea as a heritage skills and conservation 
training with other potential emerging creative hubs for example – gaming, 
digital development or maker economy

Bringing all these together in one space with shared thinking, living and sharing 
spaces to create a new dynamic relationship between initiatives.

It will 

• offer skills development / vocational training 

• offer business support

• offer networking opportunities 

• encourage cross collaboration

• share knowledge /learnings

• offer subsidised space to seed enterprise

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC, 

Funding could come from HIF, ACE and economic development 

Experience and precedent: 

Spike Island has collaborated with other creative and artistic organisations. We are 
home to a number of inspiring businesses across a broad range of industries, including 
theatre, arts education, printmaking, and digital, graphic and product design.

Our creative businesses play a vital role in making Spike Island a centre for artistic and 
creative production in the heart of Bristol.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

Spike Island, Bristol



Project name:
Creative/maker spaces

Project short description
Free or subsided spaces in empty heritage buildings and part of new 
developments for creative practitioners/makers.

It will 

• seed future use

• support and retain local talent

• offer networking opportunities 

• encourage cross collaboration

• share knowledge /learnings

The Royal Arms is one site which could be utilised for this purpose. Spaces 
should be supplied fit out for purpose, i.e carved out individual units, 
community space,  kitchen, WIFI etc.  

Gosport could seek to involve an organisation like Hackspace Foundation who 
have curated resources to aid in setting up creative spaces.

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC and an outside org such as 
Hackspace Foundation. Seed funding could come from ACE and Community Fund then 

run as a ‘not for profit’. Members pay a monthly subscription that goes towards 
paying for the workshop space and providing equipment, amenities and assets for the 
group

Experience and precedent: 

HackSpace in Peterborough is a community focused centre. Providing access to 
specialist tooling & machinery, collaborative workshops, coworking, opportunities in 
STEAM industries & activities in the city, whilst providing a social environment to 
discover new skills & crafts

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

Hackspace, Peterborough



Project name:
Creative Brokerage and Employment 
Agency 

Project short description
A one stop shop to give citizens the opportunity to access opportunities in the 
creative industries.

It will 

• work with opportunities around internship / work placements 
/apprenticeships

• offer skills development / vocational training 

• assist young people without formal higher education qualifications and older 
people returning to employment

This could for example be in maritime skills. digital & gaming development and 
the proposed heritage and conservation skills hub in Fort Brockhurst or one of 
the historic buildings in the area

It could also develop a role in familiarisation and assisting people in the pathway 
to employment and career opportunities. From application process to interview 
training and mentoring support and employment. A secondary stage would be 
to evolve the agency in partnership with emerging hubs of creative skills and 
economy in the area. 

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC, 

Funding could come from HIF, ACE and economic development 

Experience and precedent: 

The Creative Society’s Creative Job Studio has grown from ten years of transformational 
work. From large scale national programmes like the Future Jobs Fund or the Creative 
Employment Programme, to regional workshops through This Is It!, local projects like 
Creative Careers Space and Step Up, we always strive to find the best possible outcomes 
for the young people we support. These range from opening up doors to new 
opportunities, introducing young people to creative employers, finding and nurturing 

talented creative freelancers to networking and building confidence. .Contribution to 
strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

The Creative Society 



Project name:
Community Mapping/ Network Tool

Project short description
Mapping the individuals, groups and organisations who share common goals 
and values

It will 

• support the creation of a sustainable cultural ecosystem

• improve communication of who is doing what

• kickstart collaborative partnerships

• Encourage community ownership by involving them in its development

• facilitate sharing of resources & learnings and knowledge

This could be a creative hands on workshop however to result in lasting change 
the project would ideally result in a live digital tool which can be updated and 
developed as the place and the landscape changes.

Partners and lead body

Developed by community leaders in conjunction with a specialist agency.

Experience and precedent: 

Understory is a digital mapping tool that allows communities to reveal the 
hidden connections that bind them together. The community comes together in 
a single workshop to create a network map, and by the end of the session they 
are able to explore the web of relationships between people and organisations
that build resilience.

Understory’s mapping tools enable communities to explore interdependencies 
between sectors; the community’s goals and how these change over time; the 
organisations that are collaborating effectively and those that are working in 
silos.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

Understory



Project name:
Interactive Nature Trails

Project short description
Story led interactive trails which combine physical and digital expressions for 
families and visitors to engage with and enjoy Gopsort’s Natural Assets.

It will 

• extend the stay in parks 

• bring in a new audience to connect with nature

• Improve wellbeing 

• facilitate learning through play

There are already some trails which are underused at present. These trails could 
be reworked with young people and the community to create ownership and 
give a fresh perspective using gaming tools and methods.

The natural spaces in Gosport are well used by some, it should be considered 
how the content can be kept fresh to encourage repeat interactions such as 
giving participants a role i.e uploading and sharing their own content or creating 
different outcomes. 

Partners and lead body

CCIXR, local artists, storyteller

Experience and precedent: 

To help Karridale owners activate their private bush trail and maximise its appeal 
for kids and families, aa six-stop scavenger hunt was designed, hosted on the 
Nature Play WA app. Bluetooth beacons were set up along the trail that unlock 
content about native flora and fauna.

Families have to complete the loop to unlock a 4-digit code. This code can then 
be used to open a real-life treasure chest containing cool nature play activity 
packs. 

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

Karridale Scavenger Hunt



Project name:
Skill Swap Project

Project short description
Outreach officers engaging with seldom heard communities through door 
knocking, to discover what they love doing and what they are good at to create 
new relationships through swapping and sharing skills talents and interests.

It will 

• Create new relationships

• build skills

• empower people 

• build confidence 

• share community talent

• kickstart participation

• decrease isolation

• Increase wellbeing

Partners and lead body

GBC, Motive 8 & Age UK 

Experience and precedent: 

Funded by the Big Lottery, The Intergenerational Skill Swap project is about empowering 
both groups to identify and share skills and hobbies, from cooking and gardening tips, to 
conquering IT issues, it's very much a two-way street. Most people underestimate their 
skills and talents and more traditional trades are in danger of being lost so it's a great 
opportunity to pass on that knowledge.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

The Intergenerational Skill Swap project



Project name:
Art through your letterbox

Project short description
Art Parks delivered to the door to help parents integrate creative play at home

It will 

• support low income families engaging with creative play

• bring in a new audience to connect with art and heritage

• facilitate learning through play

• make art accessible

• Improve wellbeing through tactile activity

Working with the museums, galleries and artists locally and further afield to 
create a different set of Art Packs with materials to cater to different 
demographics.

Partners and lead body

Museums, local and well known artists, Hampshire Cultural Trust

Experience and precedent: 

Firstite created activity packs drawn from artists including Grayson Perry, Antony 
Gormley, Sarah Lucas, Gillian Wearing, Idris Khan, Cornelia Parker, Jeremy Deller, 
Vanley Burke, and many more.

Anyone can have a go, with plenty of fun things to make and do. There are no 
specialist materials required, plus packs are completely FREE to download. Over 
92,000 people have downloaded the packs so far.

. Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1

Firstsite, Colchester



Project name:
Gosport Young Ambassadors
Project short description
One of the five strategic objectives places a clear focus on children and young 
people. This project sits firmly within those aims.

Its primary purpose is to develop the skills, knowledge and confidence of young 
people through exposing them to a range of inputs.  It aims to provide a 
rounded experience:-

• A work experience placement within industry / commerce

• A longer term volunteering placement within a cultural organisation, with 
the definition for that broadly drawn

• Group sessions with the cohort of Young Ambassadors to swap experiences

• Participating in an active leisure pursuit .g water based activity

• Access to discounts and other offers, mostly delivered through their Culture 
Cards

There is already activity to this end ongoing in Gosport. For example young 
people have been volunteering in various roles at the Hovercraft Museum. And 
their efforts have been accredited through the Duke of Edinburgh Award 
scheme.

A cohort of 50 Ambassadors a year would be the target. Starting with 20 in the 
first year that should be achievable by year 3. The scheme would be steered by 
a group of stakeholder representatives. It would need a part time administrator. 
That cost of the role could be found either from business sponsorship, or 
through the secondment of some time from a local employer. Ex-military 
personnel have been active in this respect in the Royal Trsusts. More general 
fundraising would cover the cost of the group sessions that may extend to 
residential experience. 

Active Girls – part of Sports Scotland Young Ambassador programme 

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between education providers, industry 
representatives and the institutions prepared to offer volunteering 
opportunities. 

Experience and precedent: 

In Scotland and in Wales the Young Ambassadors approach is being used at a 
national level to promote participation in sports. The Prince’s Trust and The 
Mayor of London have successful versions which deal with volunteering.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1



Project name:
Gosport Culture Card

Project short description
Part of the family of projects aimed at broadening and deepening access to 
culture the Gosport Culture Card will encourage and allow everyone n the 
borough to attend at least one event a  year.

The Culture Card will achieve a number of things. It will 

• entitle card holders to attend one free event per annum

• advise and promote other opportunities events and special offers

• provide the participating cultural organisations with further insight into 
audience intelligence  

• Extend the database of those organisations to support their marketing 
efforts

Everyone in the borough will be encouraged to apply. Ideally it would require 
the supply of an e-mail address so that the delivery could be digitally executed 
on to a mobile phone platform. This would allow both the easy circulation of a 
range of information about what’s on and what special offers exist. And for 
participating venues to more easily glean relevant marketing information. 
However provision needs to be made to cater for digital exclusion. 

This tool should not be seen as a stand alone. Rather it works alongside other 
initiatives to break barriers to participation and expose the wider population to 
the diversity of experiences that are on offer.

Similarly the extended marketing reach will encourage content providers to 
develop new product,

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between GBC and HCT with support from the Arts 
Council

Experience and precedent: 

New York (see above), Boston and other American cities have well developed 
programmes to encourage access to culture, often targeted at low income groups or to 
counter other impediments to participation. In the UK Royal Borough of Windsor has a 
scheme with similar aims, and many others specifically  target active leisure.

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1



Project name:
Developing the network of neighbourhood 
hubs
Project short description

One of the approaches to be deployed in order to promote more engagement 
and participation is to devolve as much as is appropriate of the design and 
delivery of the programme to the neighbourhood level. 

This is a process that will be incrementally implemented over a number of years. 
The starting point will be to build on the existing cultural infrastructure 
whenever possible.

The first task will be to develop an understanding of how this aspiration might 
be approached spatially. What and how many are the “communities of interest” 
and what is the physical geography of the network.

The second step is to undertake a cultural infrastructure audit the outcome of 
which would be a fuller understanding of the facilities that exists and the 
presence and appetite of potential collaborators and partners at each 
neighbourhood level . These would include educational and cultural institutions, 
other community facilities and so forth.

The next step would be the agreement of a cultural investment plan. Naturally 
each community would be expected to make a strong case for investment 
within their locales. In order to introduce more objectivity into the process an 
evaluation procedure would be developed to assess proposals on the extent to 
which they help deliver the strategic objectives of the wider cultural strategy,

Mapping the network of cultural facilities, South Norwood

Partners and lead body

This project would be a collaboration between education providers, industry 
representatives and the institutions prepared to offer volunteering 
opportunities.

Experience and precedent:

In 2019 Croydon explored how closer collaboration between a umber of 
neighbourhood centres could secure viability and produce better outcomes

Contribution to strategic objectives

1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1



Project name:
Artistic public realm scheme
Project short description

A project which procures local artists and practitioners to animate selected sites 
within the public realm with artistic interventions designed with and for the 
community, such as street furniture and signage.

It will:

• animate the town

• develop skills in artists, community and leaders

• celebrate Gosport’s heritage stories

• foster community ownership and empowerment

• forge new relationships

Bringing in an artist led producer/agency to oversee the process and partner up 
with an experienced delivery partner/fabricator will develop skills across the 
board. 

Commissions should: 

• ensure community participation is part of the proposal

• celebrate Gosport’s heritage in new and interesting ways

• encourage cross collaboration

The Greenway Bristol

Partners and lead body

This project will be a collaboration between GPB, HAZ, experienced artist led 
producer, local artists, the community and an experienced one stop fabricator as 
delivery partner 

Experience and precedent:

Gosport is already working on co-designing it street name signs in a community 
project. Other examples include The Green Way, Bristol, a Co-Design project that 
celebrates local heritage, creates outdoor spaces for communities to gather and 
enhances local enterprise. 

• Contribution to strategic objectives

• 1.2, 1.3,2.2,2.4.4.2,5.1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

1 
 

Gosport Borough Council  

Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

Completion Instructions for IIA Leads:  

Use this IIA during development to initially assess the likely impact, on both customers and staff, of a proposed new policy, 

strategy, function or service or a proposed change to an existing one. This IIA aims to provide an early warning of any potential 

issues that could adversely impact our customers or staff or result in costly errors in terms of financial or reputational management. 

Evaluating the proposed changes against our key considerations regarding equality & diversity and climate change allows us to 

modify or mitigate any adverse impacts before implementation. It also demonstrates transparency in the Council’s decision making. 

It is a working document with named Subject Expert Officers (SEOs) who can support you - as the IIA Lead, through this process. 

Please do ask the SEOs for advice about potential impacts. 

Impacts in the template are marked: +ve (positive) -ve (negative) or neutral. Once completed the IIA must be signed off by your 

Head of Service and a summary copy attached to the Board or Committee report. Officers have a Duty to ensure that 

Councillors/decision makers understand the impact of decisions before those decisions are made. 

 

Policy/Strategy/Function/ Project  New Existing  IIA Lead Contact Details Date 

 
Draft Gosport Cultural Strategy & Action 
Plan 
 

       
    X 

 
 

  
Andrew Sugden 

 
18/10/2021 
 

 

What is the aim of this policy/strategy/function/project? What will it change ? 

 
The aim of the policy is to provide a framework upon which to plan, develop or deliver growth of the arts and cultural 

sector within the Borough. 



Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

2 
 

 

Has any consultation been undertaken on this proposed change?                                   yes           

If yes, summarise the methods used  and results of the consultation:  
 
Public consultation using social media plus 1-2-1 interviews and workshops as part of development of evidence base(Part 
2) and establish the vision, themes and foundations of the Strategy 
  
Interviews and workshop attendance was organised to reflect as wide as possible representation by age, demographics 
and interest group. Spatial mapping and MOSAIC analysis of respondents was also carried out post-event 
 
The majority of the responses were overwhelmingly in favour of the policy plus the types of interventions proposed.  
 

 

A. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 

The Public Sector Equality Duty is part of the Equality Act 2010. The Duty requires the Council to have due regard to the 
following three aims: 
• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 
• advance equal opportunities between people from different groups 
• foster good relations between people from different groups.   

Having due regard means considering how this policy, strategy, project or function has or will advance equal opportunities for 
each of the protected groups below. 

Please note: If this proposal means a change in the availability, degree of provision or access to a service, benefit or 
facility for any group of people, then this Equality &Diversity impact assessment must be completed to assess if this 
proposal could be deemed unlawfully discriminatory.  

SEO for support to complete this section- Mandy Baggaley, CPCS, x5695 mandy.baggaley@gosport.go.uk 

mailto:mandy.baggaley@gosport.go.uk


Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

3 
 

Protected Characteristic + ive - ive Neutral Explanation of Impact 

Age X   

Provision of enhanced services for different age groups of the 
community at neighbourhood and central locations providing 
easy access for residents. 
 
‘Makers’ of all ages will be able to try turning a hobby into a 
commercial opportunity via accessing improved studio space 
and mentor support at the Museum or pop-up facilities in the 
High Street. 
 
Additional ‘wellbeing’ intervention through ‘Arts & 
wellbeing/mental health’ programme 
 

Disability X   

Neighbourhood & Centrally located service provision will open 
up access to residents with a range of disabilities. 
 
Increased High Street service provision, close to the public 
transport hub will improve accessibility, convenience and 
allow for ‘peer group’ provision to be created. Special 
measures can be implemented to not only provide mobility 
access but install hearing-loops and specialist IT solutions for 
the visually impaired and ‘Changing Places’ style toilet 
facilities within Museum redevelopment. 
 
Use of ‘Hubs’ and other neighbourhood facilities for cultural 
engagement along with specific projects targetting support for 
disability engagement with culture & the arts 
 

Gender reassignment   X 

No negative impacts identified for these specific 
characteristics so far, but equality monitoring questions will 
be included in further consultation exercises to help assess 
potential impact on these groups. 

Marriage and Civil Partnership   X 
Pregnancy    X 
Race (ethnicity,  nationality, colour)   X 
Religion or Belief (and lack of belief)   X 
Sex   X 



Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

4 
 

Sexual Orientation   X 

The Armed Forces Bill  places a new duty on public bodies to have due regard to ensure those who serve in the Armed Forces, whether 
Regular or Reserve, those who have served in the past, and their families, should face no disadvantage compared to other citizens in the 
provision of public and commercial services. Special consideration is appropriate in some cases, especially for those who have given most 
such as the injured and the bereaved. Please refer to these resources for more information about the needs and characteristics of the armed 
forces community and our commitment to the Covenant.  GBC Covenant Agreement 2020 Local AFC Profile, needs assessment, resources   

Section of the Armed Forces 
Community 

+ ive - ive Neutral Explanation of Impact 

All X   

Increased neighbourhood & High Street service provision, close to the 
public transport hub will improve accessibility, convenience and allow 
for ‘peer group’ provision to be created. Provision of enhanced services 
for Armed Forces community, veterans and their families can be 
incorporated alongside that for the wider community 
 
The ‘Maker’ space project will support armed forces personnel or 
veterans to obtain the support that they need in terms of gaining access 
to the employment market or to volunteering opportunities.  
 
Working with GFMAT, a High Street hub will assist forces children 
access learning opportunities and digital access from a town centre 
location rather than having to travel to Bay House/Brune Park.  

 
Increased cultural provision within the community will allow forces 
families to engage locally with arts development projects and input into 
broader Borough-wide programmes 

     
     

Are there any other groups which could be impacted (e.g. socially or financially excluded) by this item? If yes, identify below: 

     

     

file://///knuckles/department/strat_policy/Equalities%20-MB/Equality%20Impact%20Assessments/Integrated%20EIA%202021%20w%20CC/GBC%20Covenant%20Agreement%202020
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/gosportarmedforcescommunity


Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

5 
 

     

What actions will be taken to address/ mitigate potential negative impacts identified: 

Action By whom By when 

Further consultation during the  
development of the Strategy will include a 
wide range of accessible methods and 
include equality monitoring questions to 
help  assess impact on any protected 
characteristics or other identified groups 

Andrew Sugden November 2021 

 

B. CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENT 

Consider how this change will have an impact with regard to 

 Greenhouse gas emissions 

 Ability to adapt to the impacts of climate change 

 Waste Management 

 Air Quality 

 Natural Environment 

SEOs for support to complete this section- Tim Pratt, CPCS, x5573    tim.pratt@gosport.gov.uk 

Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions 

Things to consider + ive - ive Neutral Explanation of Impact 

Emissions from transport 
Amount of travel (including goods 
transportation), travel modes and fuels 
used, by GBC or others 

X   

Use of neighbourhood facilities or within 
cycling/walking distance of provision will 
reduce potential transport emissions 

Emissions from agriculture 
and land use 

Creation or removal of carbon sinks in 
Gosport, and changes to food consumption 

  X  

mailto:tim.pratt@gosport.gov.uk


Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

6 
 

Embedded emissions 
Emissions from manufacturing goods and 
materials used by GBC or others 

X   

Use of local ‘Makers’ for project 
development will reduce carbon miles of 
using external suppliers 

Climate Change 
Adaptation 

Things to consider + ive - ive Neutral Explanation of Impact 

Vulnerability to storms 
Flood prevention and extent to which 
buildings, habitats and species would be 
affected by flooding and high winds 

  X  

Vulnerability to heat waves 

Provision of shading, ventilation and 
insulation in buildings, and extent to which 
habitats and species would be affected by 
heat 

  X  

Vulnerability to drought 

Water use in buildings, agriculture, and 
industrial processes, and extent to which 
habitats and species would be affected by 
drought 

  X  

Vulnerability to food 
insecurity 

Opportunity for local food production   X  

Waste Management Things to consider + ive - ive Neutral Explanation of Impact 

Amount of waste 
generated 

Levels of consumption by GBC, households 
and businesses, and extent to which 
materials used are reusable 

  X  

Proportion of waste 
recycled 

Recyclability of materials used by GBC, 
households and businesses, and provision 
of recycling services 

X   
Re-use of waste stream outputs in the 
production of arts outputs 



Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

7 
 

Air Quality Things to consider + ive - ive Neutral Explanation of Impact 

Emissions of key pollutants 
from transport 

Amount of travel (including goods 
transportation), travel modes and fuels 
used, by GBC and others; impacts on 
congestion and amount of idling of more 
vehicles 

X   

Provision of services from 
neighbourhood locations or central 
location with good public transport 
access or within cycling/walking distance 
of provision 

Emissions of key pollutants 
from industrial processes 

Emissions from chemical processes   X  

Emissions of key pollutants 
from other sources 

Domestic and other fires   X  

Impact of key pollutants 
Rate at which pollutants are absorbed or 
dispersed 

  X  

Natural Environment Things to consider + ive - ive Neutral Explanation of Impact 
Sustainability of public 
spaces 

Amount of vegetation and maintenance   X  

Biodiversity and quality of 
habitats 

General impacts on habitats and direct 
impacts on species of concern 

  X  

What actions will be taken to address/ mitigate potential negative impacts identified: 

Action By whom By when 

   

   

    



Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

8 
 

C. IIA SUMMARY 

Have any positive or negative impacts been identified in 
sections A and B? 

 

Subject + ive - ive Explanation 

A. Equality & Diversity X  Provision of cultural/arts & wellbeing services from 
neighbourhood & High Street locations 

B. Climate Change & Environment X  Reductions in emissions from provision of services at 
neighbourhood & central locations with good public 
transport access or within cycling/walking distance of 
provision 

B. Climate Change & Environment    

Can any negative impacts be mitigated? 
 

Subject Yes No N/A Explanation 

A. Equality & Diversity   X  

B. Climate Change & Environment   X  

Is further assessment in either subject area necessary to conclude this assessment? 

Subject Yes No If yes, timetable for completion 

A. Equality & Diversity X  November 2021 

B. Climate Change &Environment  X   



Integrated Impact Assessment for E&D and CC-CPCS, MB                                                                                                      DRAFT 2                                             26-05-21 

9 
 

D. IIA CONCLUSION 

This IIA is complete. No further assessment is required if identified actions are undertaken. This summary can be 
included with Board or Committee reports. 

Signed by Head of Service: 

Date: 

 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  
  
  

Board/Committee: Economic Development Board 

Date of Meeting: 17th  November 2021 

Title: Fareham Local Plan 2037: Statement of Common 
Ground between Fareham Borough Council and 
Gosport Borough Council 

Author: Manager of Planning Policy 

Status: For Decision 

  
 PURPOSE 
 In accordance with the Government’s National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) public bodies have a duty to cooperate on planning 
issues that cross administrative boundaries.  Consequently it is 
necessary for both Gosport Borough Council (GBC) and Fareham 
Borough Council (FBC) to agree a Statement of Common Ground 
(SoCG) for their respective Local Plans. This report sets out the details 
of the SoCG for the Fareham Local Plan 2037 (FLP2037). 

  
 RECOMMENDATION 
 That this Board: 

 Approves the Fareham Local Plan 2037: Statement of Common 
Ground between Fareham Borough Council and Gosport 
Borough Council (Appendix 1) and that the Head of Planning 
and Regeneration duly signs it on behalf of the Council.  

1 Introduction 
  
1.1 The Duty to Co-operate, introduced by the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (amended by Section 33A of the Localism Act) 
places a legal duty on local planning authorities, county councils and 
other prescribed bodies to engage constructively, actively and on an 
ongoing basis to develop development plan documents, in respect of 
strategic matters which includes land use matters. 

  
1.2 In relation to this duty the NPPF sets out guidance for the production of 

a SoCG addressing strategic cross-boundary issues. This forms part of 
each local planning authority’s evidence for their emerging Local Plans. 

  
1.3 Members will recall from reports presented to the Regulatory Board 

that FBC have consulted on their emerging Local Plan to cover the 
period to 2037 five times since 2017.  These are as follows: 
 

 The Consultation Draft Fareham Local Plan (Regulation 18) 
which was reported to the Regulatory Board on 6th December 
2017  

 Fareham Borough Local Plan 2036: Issues and Options 
(Regulation 18) which was reported to the Regulatory Board on 

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

25th July 2019 

 Fareham Borough Local Plan 2036: Supplement (Regulation 18)  
which was reported to the Regulatory Board on 28th February 
2020 

 Fareham Local Plan 2037: Publication Draft (Regulation 19) 
which was reported to the Regulatory Board on 2nd  December 
2020 

 Fareham Local Plan 2037: Revised Publication Draft (Regulation 
19) (FLP2037) which was reported to the Regulatory Board on 
21st July 2021 

1.4 Following the most recent consultation FBC have now submitted their 
Local Plan to the Secretary of State and an Inspector will be appointed 
to hold an Examination in Public on the unresolved objections. The 
SoCG will be submitted once signed by both authorities as part of their 
evidence base. 

  
1.5 Members will recall that there have been numerous changes to the 

FBLP2037. This Council made representations to each version and it is 
those made to the most recent version which will be considered by the 
Inspector.  A full consideration of all the issues are included in the 
Regulatory Board of the 21st July 2021 including our outstanding 
objections and areas where the two authorities can now agree.   The 
Regulatory Board report forms the basis of this Council’s approach to 
the SoCG and can be viewed in full in Appendix 2. 

  
1.6 The representations made by GBC to the FLP2037 can be summarised 

as  follows: 
  That this Council supports that land east of Newgate Lane East 

is designated within the  Strategic Gap as shown on the latest 
Policies Map; 

 That this Council supports that the land east of Newgate Lane 
East (formerly known as HA2) is no longer identified as a 
housing allocation in the FLP2037; 

 That this Council submits a holding objection relating to the East 
of Crofton Cemetery and South of Longfield Avenue allocations 
until such time that a transport assessment which includes the 
cumulative impact of development in the FLP2037 and the 
emerging Gosport Borough Local Plan 2038 (GBLP2038) 
concludes that there is no detrimental impact on the 
effectiveness of the road infrastructure serving the Gosport 
Peninsula including the Stubbington Bypass and Newgate Lane 
East.  This work would form part of the Statement of Common 
Ground between the two local planning authorities; 

 That this Council, whilst supporting the overall intention of Policy 
DS1: Development in the Countryside, considers that 



3 
 

amendments are required for reasons set out in the Regulatory 
Board Report (paragraphs 5.7-5.26 in Appendix 2). 

 That this Council objects to the detailed wording  of the following 
policies  or parts of policies as detailed in paragraphs 5.7-5.26  
in Appendix 2: 

- Policy HP4  

- Policy HP6 

 That this Council supports the employment allocations at 
Daedalus (Policies E1, E2 and E3). 

 That this Council supports the following policies: 

- Policy E5 which protects employment sites including a 
number on the Gosport Peninsula; 

- Policy E6 on boatyards which aims to protect important 
marine sites for employment purposes;  

- Policy E7 which aims to safeguard the Solent Airport at 
Daedalus; 

- Policy TIN2 which aims to ensure development does not 
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety and the 
residual cumulative impact on the road network is not severe; 

- Policy TIN3 which safeguards land to support the delivery of 
the South East Hampshire Rapid Transit scheme. 

 That Policy NE9 includes specific reference to the potential for 
green infrastructure improvements in the Fareham, Gosport, 
Lee-on-the-Solent and Stubbington Strategic Gap. 

  
2 Report 
  
2.1 The SoCG for the FLP2037  sets out the following strategic cross 

boundary issues which are considered further in this section: 
 

 Housing Supply 

 Employment 

 Transport 

 Strategic Gap/Green Infrastructure 

 Waste water and Nitrate Neutrality 

 
 Housing Supply 
2.2 This section of the SoCG recognises that the Revised Publication Draft 

of the FLP needs to consider the Government’s Standard Method for 



4 
 

determining housing requirements for each local planning authority and 
that for Fareham Borough this is currently 541 dwellings per annum 
(dpa).  It also takes into account 900 dwellings of unmet need from 
neighbouring authorities and a contingency of 11% to address potential 
non-delivery.  Consequently an overall requirement over the period to 
2037 is considered to be 9,556. 

  
2.3 The SoCG sets out the current housing position as included in the 

emerging GBLP2038 which states that the Plan is seeking to make 
provision for 3,500 dwellings, whilst the Government’s Standard 
Method identifies a figure of 5,500 dwellings for the Borough. 
Consequently there is an unmet requirement of 2,000 dwellings 

  
2.4 The Councils’ agreed position is as follows: 

 
GBC and FBC will continue to work collaboratively to address 
strategic planning matters, both through the Partnership for South 
Hampshire (PfSH) and, as necessary, on a bilateral basis. Both 
FBC and GBC recognise there is ongoing sub-regional work in 
relation to housing need and supply and that the level of unmet 
need will alter as other Local Plans progress.  
 
Both parties agree to support the ongoing partnership working to 
address sub-regional unmet need being delivered through the 
PfSH Statement of Common Ground to produce a new Joint 
Strategy and will continue to contribute towards the project.  
 
PfSH is supportive of authorities proceeding with local plans 
before the production of the Joint Strategy has concluded and 
recognises the importance of partnership authorities having up-
to-date Local Plans. Should the Joint Strategy work identify sites 
not considered suitable for development in the Fareham Local 
Plan technical evidence, this would be a matter for the Local Plan 
review.    
 
As a member of PfSH, GBC have signed a SoCG with FBC on 
the Fareham Local Plan 

  
 Employment  
2.5 The FLP2038 states that it will be allocating 124,964 sq.m. of 

employment floorspace across Fareham Borough over the plan period 
including 77,900 sq.m. at Daedalus. 

  
2.6 In its representation to FBC, this Council supported the employment 

allocation at Daedalus and the protection of other existing sites in 
Fareham Borough including those on the Gosport Peninsula as it 
supports local jobs for Gosport residents and enables a genuine choice 
of transport modes.  GBC also supports the protection of marine 
employment which together with such sites in Gosport and the wider 
sub-region provide a key economic asset for the area. 



5 
 

  
2.7 The SoCG agreed position is as follows: 
 Both Councils agree that the Fareham Revised Publication Local 

Plan will allocate sufficient land, and that there is enough land to 
meet employment requirements particularly within the area around 
Daedalus. Both Councils support the employment allocations at 
Daedalus set out in the plan. Both councils agree that there is 
currently no identified cross boundary need to be planned for.  
 
Both FBC and GBC agree to liaise on future employment supply 
and demand in particular where sites are to be allocated or 
conversely released for employment use in the Daedalus area. 
 
Both Councils will continue to engage through the Partnership for 
South Hampshire Statement of Common Ground which will 
consider the wider economic needs of South Hampshire and 
distribution of economic development between authorities. 

  
 Transport 
2.8 As set in paragraph 1.6 above GBC maintains a holding objection to 

the proposed allocation south of Longfield Avenue and East of Crofton 
Cemetery until such time that a transport assessment which includes 
the cumulative impact of development in the FLP2037 and the 
emerging Gosport Borough Local Plan 2038 (GBLP2038) concludes 
that there is no detrimental impact on the effectiveness of the road 
infrastructure serving the Gosport Peninsula including the Stubbington 
Bypass and Newgate Lane East.  This work would form part of the 
Statement of Common Ground between the two local planning 
authorities. 

   
2.9 The Fareham Local Plan is supported by a Strategic Transport 

Assessment (TA) that assesses the cumulative impact of the Local 
Plan allocations. The methodology for the Transport Assessment was 
agreed with the Highway Authority (Hampshire County Council) and 
identifies a number of junctions requiring mitigation as a result of Local 
Plan development. The TA modelling uses the South Hampshire 
Strategic Regional Transport Model (SRTM) to test the cumulative 
impact of the Local Plan traffic at a macro-level.  The model makes 
assumptions in relation to growth from sites identified in neighbouring 
authorities adopted Local Plan.  The TA followed the standard 
methodology used by a number of Hampshire authorities, and although 
there were some junctions that flagged as potential as a significant or 
severe impact when mitigation was added the impact was found to be 
acceptable. Furthermore, the Highways Authority have raised no 
objection to the methodology used. 

  
2.10 The TA is based on a Do Minimum scenario of 12,100 homes which is 

greater than the housing growth identified in the latest FLP2037 which 
sets out a current requirement of 9,556 dwellings and a total supply of 
10,594 dwellings. Both the Stubbington Bypass and Newgate Lane are 



6 
 

included in the model’s baseline and no capacity issues have been 
identified as a result. There are no unacceptable impacts identified nor 
mitigation required to junctions near or in the Gosport administrative 
boundary from proposed allocations in the Fareham Borough Local 
Plan 2037. This includes the Peel Common roundabout, Gosport Road 
or roads that lead into Stubbington. 

  
2.11 The modelling also included a higher growth scenario for the previously 

proposed Strategic Growth Area with a figure of 1,975 dwellings which 
is higher than the proposed combined figure of 1,430 dwellings 
identified for the South of Longfield Avenue and East of Croton 
cemetery allocations. 

  
2.12 However this Council considers it should maintain its holding objection 

to these allocations until such time that a combined transport 
assessment is completed which can demonstrate that these allocations 
in combination with those proposed in the emerging GBLP2038 will not 
have a detrimental impact on the strategic road network serving the 
Gosport Peninsula and that any noted impacts can be satisfactorily 
mitigated.  This would form part of a later version of the Statement of 
Common Ground.  

  
2.13 The Council needs to be reassured that the FLP2037 proposals 

together with the proposals in the forthcoming GBLP2038 do not have 
a detrimental effect on the effectiveness of the significant new road 
infrastructure at Newgate Lane East and the Stubbington Bypass.  It is 
considered that this information can be sourced using GBC’s evidence 
base which uses the same SYSTRA modelling to inform the emerging 
GBLP2038. 

  
2.14 Work is currently ongoing relating to this transport assessment work.  If 

the evidence is agreed by Hampshire County Council and identifies 
that the two new allocations together with the allocations proposed in 
the GBLP2038 are unlikely to have a significant impact on the relevant 
road junctions and network then a revised Statement of Common 
Ground will be produced on this matter. 

  
2.15 On other transport matters the Councils agree that they, ‘will continue 

to support delivery of the SEHRT scheme along the A27 corridor, 
safeguarding land and securing contributions towards the scheme 
where appropriate and necessary through respective Local Plan Policy. 
In addition, both Local Plans will proactively promote the use of public 
transport, along with encouraging active travel modes ahead of use of 
the private motorised vehicle through sustainable transport policy.’ 

  
 Strategic Gap 
2.16 The SoCG sets out the evidence base used to determine the Strategic 

Gap boundaries for the FLP2037, which this Council agrees with.  
Indeed the landscape study was cited by this Council in its earlier 
objections to the HA2 housing allocation, east of Newgate Lane (now 



7 
 

withdrawn) which identified that the Gap should be retained at this 
location. The SOCG includes an assessment relating to the proposed 
amendments to the Strategic Gap to facilitate the allocations south of 
Longfield Lane, Fareham and east of Crofton Cemetery Stubbington.   

  
2.17 This Council considered this element in detail in the Regulatory Board 

Report of 21st July 2021 (re-iterated in Appendix 2).  Consequently the 
allocations are considered acceptable in relation to two out of three of 
the main areas of concern:  there is no direct access onto the 
Stubbington Bypass from these sites; and the indicated gap between 
the new road and the proposed development sites is retained. The 
outstanding area of concern is previously mentioned in relation to road 
capacity and junctions identified in the transport section above. 

  
2.18 The SoCG acknowledges GBC’s representation on the Revised 

Publication Local Plan (2021) which supports the aims of Policy NE9 
but considers that additional opportunities can be made within the plan 
to deliver multi-functional green infrastructure for allocated sites.  

  
2.19 The SoCG agreed position is 

 
Both Councils support the principle and maintenance of a 
strategic gap to maintain the separation of Stubbington and Lee-
on-the -Solent from Fareham and Bridgemary. 
 
FBC and GBC will continue to work collaboratively to address 
strategic planning matters. Both FBC and GBC recognise that 
there is on-going sub-regional work which will lead to the review 
of the Spatial Position Statement and the production of a Joint 
Strategy which includes green infrastructure opportunities. 

  
2.20 GBC have maintained an objection to Policies DS1, HP4 and HP6 

regarding the detailed wording of these policies which it considers has 
the potential to undermine the strategic gap, particularly east of 
Newgate Lane. FBC however have not amended these policies and 
this area of disagreement remains and   will need to be considered by 
the Planning Inspector. 

  
 Wastewater and Nitrates 
2.21 The SoCG recognises the work that each authority has undertaken as 

part of PfSH to find appropriate mitigation to address the nitrates issue 
and the impact that eutrophication has had on internationally important 
habitats in the Solent and its harbours.  

  
2.22 It is noted for the purposes of the SoCG that, ‘both parties agree that 

the impact of the Fareham Local Plan 2037 on the Peel Common WTW 
are not strategic matters concerning this bilateral SoCG. These matters 
are addressed through FBC’s statement of common ground with PfSH 
and the PfSH statement of common ground to support the PfSH Spatial 
Strategy.’ 



8 
 

  
3 Risk Assessment 
 
3.1 

  
The statutory Duty to Co-operate places a legal duty on local planning 
authorities and other organisations to engage constructively, actively 
and on an ongoing basis to develop development plan documents.  As 
part of the Duty to Cooperate, the NPPF introduced the requirement for 
cross boundary issues to be addressed in a Statement of Common 
Ground. Whilst this is not a duty to agree it is important for a Planning 
Inspector to be clear where there are areas of agreement between 
local authorities and where disagreements remain.  This document 
serves this purpose. 

  
4 Next steps 
4.1 The document sets out broad areas of agreement between the 

authorities and summarises those matters where there are outstanding 
issues as well as setting out briefly how previous matters of concern 
have been addressed. Once signed by the relevant officer from each 
authority this document will be submitted as part of FBC’s evidence 
base for its forthcoming examination in public.  

  
4.2 This Council will also prepare a SoCG with FBC at the Regulation 19 of 

the emerging GBLP 2038 next year and this will also be informed by 
emerging evidence of the work being carried out by the Partnership for 
South Hampshire (PfSH) on a sub-regional planning strategy. 

  

Financial Services 
comments: 

None 

Legal Services 
comments: 

None 

Climate Change Not applicable- This is an agreed position with 
Fareham Borough Council regarding the Fareham 
Local Plan 2037 which is subject to a sustainability 
appraisal prepared by FBC and will be included as 
part of the forthcoming examination in public. 

Equality and 
Diversity  

Not applicable- This report relates to a document 
prepared by FBC and will be subject to its own 
Equality and Diversity Statement. 

Crime and Disorder Not applicable- This is an agreed position with 
Fareham Borough Council regarding the Fareham 
Local Plan 2037 which is subject to a sustainability 
appraisal prepared by FBC and will be included as 
part of the forthcoming examination in public. 

Council Plan: N/A 

Risk Assessment: See Section 3 

Background papers: None 

Appendices Appendix 1: Fareham Local Plan 2037: Statement of 
Common Ground between Fareham Borough 
Council and Gosport Borough Council 
Appendix 2- Regulatory Board Report of 21st July 



9 
 

2021 relating to the Fareham Local Plan 2037: 
Revised Publication Plan (Regulation 19) 

Report author/ Lead 
Officer: 

Jayson Grygiel, Manager of Planning Policy  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Statement of Common Ground 

between Fareham Borough Council and  

Gosport Borough Council 

 

 

Version 1.0 

September 2021 

  



 

2 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

3 
 

 

1 Introduction 
  
 What is a Statement of Common Ground? 
  
1.1 The Duty to Co-operate, introduced by the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (amended by Section 33A of the Localism Act) places a 
legal duty on local planning authorities, county councils in England and other 
prescribed bodies to engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis 
to develop development plan documents, including activities that prepare the 
way or support the activities of preparing development plan documents, in 
respect of strategic matters. 

  
1.2 The Duty to Co-operate in relation to planning of sustainable development as 

set out in Section 33A of the Localism Act 2011 specifically relates to ‘strategic 
matters’ which are defined as follows:  

• Sustainable development or use of land that has or would have a 
significant impact on at least two planning areas, in particular in 
connection with sustainable development or use of land for or in 
connection with strategic infrastructure which has or would have a 
significant impact on at least two planning areas, and  

• Sustainable development or use of land in a two-tier area if the 
development or use— (i) is a county matter, or (ii) has or would have a 
significant impact on a county matter.  

  
1.3 Paragraph 20 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) also outlines 

strategic priorities that a local plan should have to cover. They include:  
• Housing (including affordable housing), employment, retail, leisure and 

other commercial development; 
• The provision of infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, 

security, waste management, water supply, wastewater, flood risk and 
coastal change management, and the provision of minerals and energy 
(including heat); 

• Community facilities (such as health, education and cultural 
infrastructure); and 

• Conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic 
environment, including landscapes and green infrastructure, and 
planning measures to address climate change mitigation and 
adaptation.   

  
1.4 In accordance with the NPPF (paragraph 24), public bodies have a duty to 

cooperate on planning issues that cross administrative boundaries, particularly 
those which relate to the strategic priorities set out above. This forms part of 
each local planning authority’s evidence for their respective emerging Local 
Plans. 

  
1.5 This Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) has been prepared in accordance 

with paragraph 27 of the NPPF and the section of the Planning Practice 
Guidance on Maintaining Effective Cooperation.  It has also followed guidance 
prepared by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) on this matter. It has been 
prepared in parallel with the Publication Local Plan (Regulation 19 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 20121). This 
Plan, upon adoption, will supersede the existing Fareham Local Plan Parts 1 
and 2. The new Local Plan will cover the period to 2037 and sets out the 
vision, objectives and policies to guide future development in the Borough over 

                                                           
1
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/19/made 



 

4 
 

the plan period. 
  
 What does this document include? 
  
1.6 Section 2 outlines the administrative areas covered by the SoCG 
  
1.7 Section 3 sets out the Strategic Issues which form the background to this 

SoCG.   
  
1.8 Section 4 sets out the area of agreements which have been reached on the 

Strategic Issues.   
  
 What parties are involved with this Statement of Common Ground? 
  
1.9 This SoCG is an agreed statement between Fareham Borough Council (FBC) 

and Gosport Borough Council (GBC) in relation to FBC’s Revised Publication 
Local Plan. 

  
2.0 Strategic Geography 
  
2.1 This SoCG relates to the area covered by Fareham Borough Council and 

Gosport Borough Council as shown on the map below. 
  
 

 
 Figure 1: Fareham Borough Council and Gosport Borough Council Administrative Boundaries 

  
2.2 The Planning Practice Guidance states that a SoCG will need to cover the 

area that policy making authorities and public bodies cooperate within, 
depending on the strategic matters being planned for and the most appropriate 



 

5 
 

functional geography for the gathering of evidence and the preparation of 
planning policies. However, local planning authorities may have more than one 
Statement of Common Ground where there are strategic cross-boundary 
matters to be addressed.   
 

  
3.0  Strategic Matters 
  
3.1 This section sets out where agreement has or has not been reached on cross 

border strategic matters. 
  
 Housing Need and Supply 
  
 Fareham Borough Council’s Position 
  
3.2 Fareham Borough Council’s (FBC) Local Plan 2037 aims to deliver sufficient 

land to meet the housing need for the Borough and the Council has 
undertaken two Regulation 19 consultations and three Regulation 18 
consultations on that basis.  

  
3.3 The current standard methodology takes account of population growth and 

housing affordability with a cities and urban centres uplift for urban local 
authorities in the top 20 cities and urban centres. National policy currently 
dictates that Local Planning Authorities are to use the 2014 based household 
projections as the basis for calculating their housing need, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances where alternatives may be appropriate. The 
household projections are then adjusted to take account of affordability using 
the most recent affordability data (March 2021).  Therefore, the housing 
requirement for the borough is 541 homes per annum. 

  
3.4 The strategic housing provision, described in Strategic Policy H1 (Housing 

Provision) of the Revised Publication Local Plan (2021), is based on the 
standard methodology figure re-confirmed by the Government in December 
2020.  The level of housing provision in the Revised Publication Local Plan 
includes a contingency of 11% to address any potential slippages in delivery, 
and a contribution of 900 homes (plus 11%2) towards unmet need from 
neighbouring authorities. Therefore, the overall requirement for the Borough 
until 2037 is projected to be 9,556 new dwellings. 

  
3.5 Strategic Policy H1 along with the Housing Allocations identified in the 

Revised Publication Local Plan (2021) show how FBC will deliver the above 
identified housing requirement. The stepped trajectory included in the Plan 
shows that whilst challenging, the housing requirement is deliverable and the 
contribution to unmet need is considered appropriate. 

  
3.6 It is understood from the work on the revised Partnership for South Hampshire 

(PfSH) Spatial Position Statement (SPS) that, based on standardised plan 
periods of 2021-2036, there is a predicted shortfall in the region of 12,896 
homes across the sub-region3. These numbers are based on the standard 
methodology for calculating housing need using the 2021 base date and 
includes the urban uplift for Southampton. They do not consider housing sites 
that have been included in emerging Plans that have not reached the 
Regulation 19 (Publication) stage. Table 4 of the Statement indicates that 
Fareham have a surplus of supply of 1,807. The SPS work is currently 

                                                           
2
 Of the unmet need contribution. 

3
 Based on figures released in October 2021 (PfSH Joint Committee). 



 

6 
 

ongoing and the level of unmet need within neighbouring authorities and 
across the sub-region is therefore likely to alter as plans emerge within the 
sub-region and the government makes changes to the standard methodology. 

  
 Gosport Borough Council’s Position 
  
3.7 Gosport Borough Council (GBC) are currently preparing a new Local Plan 

which will ultimately replace its current adopted Gosport Borough Local Plan 
2011-2029.  The new plan will cover the period to 2038 and the Regulation 18 
version was presented to its Economic Development Board on 22nd September 
2021 and is subject to a 10 week consultation period ending on 3rd December 
2021. The latest GBC’s Interim Local Development Scheme (September 2021) 
envisages that consultation on the Regulation 19 Local Plan will take place in 
October 2022.  

  
3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.9 
 
 
 

The emerging Gosport Borough Local Plan 2038 (GBLP2038)  identifies an 
unmet requirement of approximately 2,000 dwellings using the Government’s 
Standard Method based on the 2014 projections rather than the more recent 
2018 projections. The proposed 3,500 dwellings in the emerging Local Plan 
represents 205 dwellings per annum which is an increase from the 170 dpa 
currently set out in the Adopted Local Plan representing a 20% increase.  The 
majority of this development will take place on the Government’s preferred 
option of developing brownfield land.  These sites have a number of 
challenges including the need to provide enhanced flood defences, restore 
historic buildings, address contaminated land issues and to ensure that 
adjacent internationally important habitats are not harmed.  
 
The emerging Gosport Borough Local Plan 2038 identifies a supply of 3,344 
dwellings and paragraph 2.3.28 of the Plan states that ‘The Local Plan 
allocation of 3,500 dwellings will provide an achievable and realistic housing 
allocation, although it is recognised at this point in time there is a small 
shortfall’. GBC has highlighted these figures to PfSH as part of the ongoing 
study and has not requested any single local authority to meet its unmet need 
until such times as the PfSH evidence has been reported. GBC recognise that 
the distribution of housing need is broader than the GBC and FBC authority 
areas and will require consideration and co-operation at the sub regional 
scale.  

  
 Agreed Position 
  
3.10 GBC and FBC will continue to work collaboratively to address strategic 

planning matters, both through PfSH and, as necessary, on a bilateral basis. 
Both FBC and GBC recognise there is ongoing sub-regional work in relation to 
housing need and supply and that the level of unmet need will alter as other 
Local Plans progress. Both parties agree to support the ongoing partnership 
working to address sub-regional unmet need being delivered through the PfSH 
Statement of Common Ground to produce a new Joint Strategy and will 
continue to contribute towards the project. PfSH is supportive of authorities 
proceeding with local plans before the production of the Joint Strategy has 
concluded and recognises the importance of partnership authorities having up-
to-date Local Plans. Should the Joint Strategy work identify sites not 
considered suitable for development in the Fareham Local Plan technical 
evidence, this would be a matter for the Local Plan review.   As a member of 
PfSH, GBC have signed a SoCG with FBC on the Fareham Local Plan 
accepting that the FBC contribution to unmet need is ‘currently considered 
appropriate’ [Partnership for South Hampshire Statement of Common Ground 
(fareham.gov.uk)].   

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/publicationplan/SCG005_Partnership_for_South_Hampshire_Statement_of_Common_Ground.pdf
http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/publicationplan/SCG005_Partnership_for_South_Hampshire_Statement_of_Common_Ground.pdf


 

7 
 

  
 Matters to be Resolved 

 
3.11 None  
  
  
 Employment 
  
 Fareham Borough Council’s Position 
  
3.12 The Revised Publication Local Plan (2021) uses an updated evidence base as 

the basis for the employment strategy within the Plan. An Economic, 
Employment and Commercial Needs (including logistics) study has been 
undertaken by PfSH which sets out the overall need and distribution of 
development in the sub-region to 2040. The Revised Publication Local Plan 
(2021) allocates 121,964 sq.m. of employment floorspace across the borough 
over the plan period. The Plan allocates seven employment sites to meet the 
above requirement in addition to the employment allocation set out in the 
Welborne Plan. The development strategy proposed by the Revised 
Publication Local Plan (2021) is for a mix of large and small sites to offer a 
degree of flexibility and choice in size, location and availability of sites. In line 
with the PfSH findings, and to provide the maximum amount of flexibility to 
respond to changing circumstances all of the allocations are for employment 
uses and not restricted to any one use class. 

  
3.13 Daedalus, including Solent Airport, falls within the administrative boundaries of 

Fareham and Gosport. The Fareham Local Plan allocates 77,900 sq.m. of 
employment floorspace and ancillary uses at Faraday Business Park and 
Swordfish Business Parks at Daedalus set out in the Daedalus Vision4. The 
allocation of these sites continues the commitment of Fareham Borough 
Council to support the ongoing success of Daedalus. 

  
3.14 The Fareham Borough Local Plan 2037 includes a policy which relates to the 

Solent Airport at Daedalus (Policy E7). The policy protects the site for airport 
related uses to support aviation unless it can be demonstrated that such uses 
are no longer financially viable. 

  
 Gosport Borough Council’s Position 
  
3.15 The Gosport Adopted Local Plan (2015) focusses regeneration on a number of 

brownfield sites, which comprises a mix of uses including employment 
opportunities. This approach will continue in the forthcoming Local Plan and 
this is evidenced by the Economic Development Needs Assessment and the 
Employment Land Availability Assessment (EDNA/ELAA) which was published 
in February 2019 with the findings incorporated into the emerging GBLP2038 
(Reg. 18). 

  
3.16 GBC accepts the overall quantum of employment development proposed by 

FBC. GBC also supports the Revised Publication Local Plan (2021) vision and 
strategic priority 6 which seeks to protect employment areas and provides for 
future employment space. 

  
3.17 The Fareham Borough Local Plan 2037 includes a policy on Boatyards in the 

Borough (Policy E6) which aims to protect marine-related employment uses. 
GBC’s representations on the Draft Local Plan (2017) considers Policy E6 

                                                           
4
 Daedalus Vision and Outline Strategy (fareham.gov.uk) 

https://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/business/daedalus/vision.pdf


 

8 
 

(then Policy E5) to be sound as the availability of waterfront sites around the 
Solent is limited and the marine businesses, they support contribute to one of 
the key sectors of the sub-regional economy of which Gosport marine sites 
form part of this cluster. 

  
3.18 GBC’s representations on the Revised Publication Local Plan considers 

Policies E1, E2, E3 and E7 to be sound and supports the allocations at 
Daedalus, including Solent Airport, as the borough has the lowest job density 
in the South East and one of the lowest in England. In addition, GBC also 
supports the existing employment sites in Fareham, as a number of the sites 
are on the Gosport-Fareham administrative boundary and provide employment 
to Gosport residents which are accessible by public transport, cycling and 
walking 

  
 Agreed Position 
  
3.19 Both Councils agree that the Fareham Revised Publication Local Plan will 

allocate sufficient land, and that there is enough land to meet employment 
requirements particularly within the area around Daedalus. Both Councils 
support the employment allocations at Daedalus set out in the plan. Both 
councils agree that there is currently no identified cross boundary need to be 
planned for.  

  
3.20 Both FBC and GBC agree to liaise on future employment supply and demand 

in particular where sites are to be allocated or conversely released for 
employment use in the Daedalus area.  

  
3.21 Both councils will continue to engage through the Partnership for South 

Hampshire Statement of Common Ground which will consider the wider 
economic needs of South Hampshire and distribution of economic 
development between authorities. 

  
 Matters to be Resolved 
  
3.22 None 
  
  
 Transport 
  
 Fareham Borough Council’s Position 
  
3.23 The Fareham Local Plan is supported by a Strategic Transport Assessment 

(TA) that assesses the cumulative impact of the Local Plan allocations. The 
methodology for the Transport Assessment was agreed with the Highway 
Authority (Hampshire County Council) and identifies a number of junctions 
requiring mitigation as a result of Local Plan development. The TA modelling 
uses the South Hampshire Strategic Regional Transport Model (SRTM) to test 
the cumulative impact of the Local Plan traffic at a macro-level.  The model 
makes assumptions in relation to growth from sites identified in neighbouring 
authorities adopted Local Plan.  The TA followed the standard methodology 
used by a number of Hampshire authorities, and although there were some 
junctions that flagged as potential as a significant or severe impact when 
mitigation was added the impact was found to be acceptable. Furthermore, the 
Highways Authority have raised no objection to the TA and the methodology 
used. 

  
3.24 The TA is based on a Do Minimum scenario of 12,100 homes which is greater 



 

9 
 

than the housing growth identified in the Revised Publication Local Plan 
(2021). Both the Stubbington Bypass and Newgate Lane are included in the 
model’s baseline and no capacity issues have been identified as a result. 
There are no unacceptable impacts identified nor mitigation required to 
junctions near or in the Gosport administrative boundary from proposed 
allocations in the Fareham Borough Local Plan 2037. This includes the Peel 
Common roundabout, Gosport Road or roads that lead into Stubbington. A full 
list of the junctions that were considered for mitigation is included in the SRTM 
Modelling report and is included as Appendix 1 

  
3.25 FBC is a partner in the South East Hampshire Rapid Transit (SEHRT) scheme 

which aims to provide improved transport links between Portsmouth, Gosport, 
Fareham and Havant. The rapid transit network will consist of busways (which 
builds on the Eclipse service running from Fareham to Gosport) or lanes that 
are dedicated to buses, and technology which gives priority to buses at 
junctions. Rapid transit services and bus stop infrastructure are designed to 
reduce delays caused to passengers and provide new and more direct routes. 

  
3.26 The Revised Publication Local Plan (2021) is supportive of the SEHRT 

scheme and Policy TIN3: Safeguarded Routes identifies and safeguards the 
route of the scheme.  

  
 Gosport Borough Council’s Position 
  

3.27 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.29 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.30 

GBC’s representations on the Revised Publication Local Plan (2021) in 
relation to FBC’s Transport Assessment (TA) included a request for further 
work to be undertaken in relation to GBC’s holding objection relating to the two 
housing allocations in the existing strategic gap i.e., land south of Longfield 
Avenue and Land East of Crofton Cemetery. The holding objection requested 
two elements of further work; firstly, to understand the specific impact on the 
Stubbington bypass (under construction at the time of writing) and Newgate 
Lane East bypass (completed in 2018). Both bypasses were built primarily to 
alleviate traffic congestion into Gosport under the Highway Authority 
‘Improving Access to Fareham and Gosport strategy’.  
 
The second element was to consider the impact of both Fareham Local Plan 
2037 growth and Gosport Local Plan 2038 growth in the same TA.  The work 
has been requested to take into account the growth proposed in the 
forthcoming Gosport Borough Local Plan 2038 to ensure the full implications 
of access to, and from, the Gosport peninsula are considered. It is 
acknowledged by both parties that given Gosport’s peninsula location with 
limited routes and transport choice, road congestion is one of the key cross-
boundary issues of concern.  The acute road congestion is characterised by 
significant out-commuting as the Borough has one of the lowest job densities 
in England following the contraction of MoD and defence-related employment 
in the Borough over recent decades.   
 
Consequently, the Council considers it is essential to understand how 
proposed sizeable allocations in the existing Strategic Gap will affect the 
existing road network including recent improvements and the proposed 
Stubbington Bypass currently under construction. These improvements are 
being delivered to alleviate existing access issues to the Peninsula rather than 
facilitate significant new development. It will also be important to understand 
this position in order to ensure that greenfield development at the north end of 
the Gosport peninsula in Fareham Borough does not impact on the economy 
of Gosport nor its potential to develop its brownfield sites.  
 



 

10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
3.31 

Initial Transport Assessment work is currently underway which will incorporate 
growth identified in the emerging GBLP2038. This will need to provide a 
written interpretation of the modelling data and whether or not there is an 
impact on the relevant road junctions and wider network.  This assessment will 
also need to be considered by Hampshire County Council as the highway 
authority.  
 
With regard to other transport matters GBC’s representations on the 
Publication Local Plan (2020) considers TIN2 to be sound as it aims to ensure 
that development does not have an unacceptable impact on highways safety 
and the cumulative impact on the road network from the Local Plan 
development is not severe. 

  
3.32 GBC continues its commitment to the delivery of the Rapid Transit scheme 

and is a partnership organisation to improve the network. GBC’s 

representations on the Publication Local Plan (2020) considers Policy TIN3 to 

be sounds as it safeguards land between Delme Roundabout and the 

Portsmouth Boundary and Quay Street Roundabout to support delivery of the 

SEHRT scheme and is a partner organisation to improve the network. The 

extension to the route will help improve public transport access to Gosport 

Borough. 
  

 Agreed Position 
  

3.33 Both Councils agree that the baseline information used to inform the transport 

models to make assumptions for growth in other areas is appropriate for the 

purposes of the Fareham Local Plan 2037. Both FBC and GBC acknowledge 

that the SRTM modelling takes into account allocations from Adopted Local 

Plans, not allocations from emerging Local Plans or recent planning 

permissions. These are standard inputs for the modelling process.  

 

3.34 As referenced above the baseline information used to inform the Transport 
Model used for the Fareham Borough Local Plan 2037 makes assumptions on 
growth in other areas, including Gosport. FBC’s Transport Assessment has 
followed the agreed methodology and the model takes account of growth from 
sites in Gosport. When the Gosport Local Plan is further progressed, it is 
helpful that the Fareham Borough Local Plan 2037 is at an advanced stage 
and there is information that can be included in GBC’s TA. In recognition of 
GBC’s request for a sensitivity assessment, FBC is preparing an extract of 
information from the TA on the impact of the Fareham Local Plan 2037 growth 
on the Stubbington and the Newgate Lane Bypasses in terms of flow, delay 
and journey time. This information will be shared with GBC officers. 

  

3.35 Both authorities will continue to support delivery of the SEHRT scheme along 

the A27 corridor, safeguarding land and securing contributions towards the 

scheme where appropriate and necessary through respective Local Plan 

Policy. In addition, both Local Plans will proactively promote the use of public 

transport, along with encouraging active travel modes ahead of use of the 

private motorised vehicle through sustainable transport policy. 
  

Matters to be Resolved 
  

3.36 
 
 

As outlined above GBC maintain their holding objection with regard to the 

potential impact of the two allocations in the existing Strategic Gap but this 

could be withdrawn if the revised transport information, which incorporates 



 

11 
 

 
 
 
 
 

growth identified in the emerging GBLP2038, concludes there is not a 

significant impact on the relevant road junctions or that any impacts can be 

realistically and successfully mitigated. FBC maintain that the TA shows that 

there is no unacceptable impact on the junctions close to the Gosport border, 

but is willing to provide a sensitivity assessment in relation to the two 

bypasses as referenced above. It is therefore recognised that a subsequent 

Statement of Common Ground will need to be produced to address this 

matter. 

 

 

 Strategic Gap/Green Infrastructure 
  
 Fareham Borough Council’s Position 
  
3.37 The Council commissioned a Technical Review of Areas of Special Landscape 

Quality and the Strategic Gaps as part of the evidence base in support of the 
Publication Plan. This study was to consider the previous Fareham Landscape 
Assessment (2017) in support of the Revised Publication Local Plan. FBC 
remain committed to Strategic Gaps. 

  
3.38 The Technical Review of Areas of Special Landscape Quality and the 

Strategic Gaps (2020) recommends small boundary amendments to the 
existing Strategic Gaps. This designation is set out in Policy DS2: 
Development in the Strategic Gaps of the Revised Publication Local Plan 
which makes minor changes to the existing boundaries of both the 
Fareham/Stubbington and the Western Wards (Meon Gap) 
Fareham/Bridgemary and Stubbington/Lee-on-the-Solent (Fareham – 
Stubbington) Strategic Gap. This includes minor amendments to the area to 
the South of Fareham and west of HMS Collingwood and an area to the north 
west of Stubbington – south of Oakcroft Lane and east of Ranvilles Lane. The 
policy ensures that development proposals will not be permitted where they 
significantly affect the integrity of the gap and the physical and visual 
separation of settlements or the distinctive nature of settlement characteristics. 

  
3.39 As noted in the Housing section of this SoCG and in the PfSH Statement of 

Common Ground, FBC is involved in ongoing work on housing need and 
supply as a partnership authority of PfSH, which includes the review of the 
Spatial Position Statement and production of a Joint Strategy. Part of this 
review involves the commissioning of new evidence, including green 
infrastructure opportunities and how these can be delivered within the sub-
region. 

  
3.40 In addition, the Council has worked to try and defend speculative development 

in the Strategic Gaps to date and there have been a number of successfully 
dismissed appeals. This includes one that straddles the border of GBC5. The 
Inspector concluded in paragraph 33 of the appeal decision that “the proposed 
development would harm the character and appearance of the area, including 
in terms of the strategic gap” but ultimately allowed the appeal due to the lack 
of five year housing land supply 

  
 Gosport Borough Council’s Position 
  
3.41 GBC’s representation on the Publication Local Plan (2020) considers Policy 

DS2 to be sound and strongly supports the extent of the Strategic Gap 
between Fareham/Bridgemary and Stubbington/Lee-on-the-Solent in relation 

                                                           
5
 (APP/A1720/W/21/3269030). 



 

12 
 

to the land east of Newgate Lane East.  This support was retained in GBC’s 
representation on the Revised Publication Local Plan (2021). 

  
3.42 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.43 

GBC previously raised an objection to Policy HA2 (Newgate Lane) in relation 
to the impact on the Strategic Gap during the Draft Local Plan consultation 
(2017). However this allocation has subsequently been removed and the 
Strategic Gap designation in this area re-instated.  In its representations to 
FBC on this matter GBC appended its previous objections in order that the 
Inspector can understand GBC’s position on this issue, particularly as it is 
likely that the landowners and potential developers will be promoting this site 
through the EiP.  
 
GBC raised an objection to the Strategic Growth Areas during the consultation 
on the Fareham Borough Local Plan supplement (2020). The in-principle 
objection was then removed at the Publication Local Plan (2020) consultation 
as no allocations were proposed in this area. Since this time the 2021 Local 
Plan identified two allocations within part of the area covered by the Strategic 
Growth Area i.e. land south of Longfield Avenue and East of Crofton 
Cemetery. However, in a detailed report presented to GBC’s Regulatory Board 
on 21st July 2021 to consider representations to the Local Plan GBC 
considered that sufficient detail was provided on two out of three matters in 
order not to raise an objection on these two particular matters.  Firstly there 
would be no direct access onto the Stubbington Bypass and secondly the 
allocation policies included sufficient provision to ensure that a reasonable 
sized buffer adjacent the Stubbington Bypass would be retained to ensure a 
sense of gap between the settlements is maintained and when one is 
travelling along the Bypass there is a sense of moving between settlements in 
open countryside. The third matter relates to the holding objection on the road 
capacity and is covered in the transport section above.   

  
3.44 GBC’s representation on the Revised Publication Local Plan (2021) supports 

the aims of Policy NE9 but GBC consider that additional opportunities can be 
made within the plan to deliver multi-functional green infrastructure for 
allocated sites. GBC are also a partnership authority of PfSH and recognise 
that there is ongoing work in relation to the evidence for green infrastructure 
requirements within the sub-region. 

  
 Agreed Position 
  
3.45 Both Councils support the principle and maintenance of a strategic gap to 

maintain the separation of Stubbington and Lee-on-the -Solent from Fareham 
and Bridgemary. 

  
3.46 GBC have maintained an objection to Policies DS1, HP4 and HP6 regarding 

the detailed wording of these policies which it considers has the potential to 
undermine the strategic gap, particularly east of Newgate Lane. FBC 
considers its wording for these policies to be sound and consequently this 
matter will need to be considered by the Planning Inspector. 

  
3.47 FBC and GBC will continue to work collaboratively to address strategic 

planning matters. Both FBC and GBC recognise that there is on-going sub-
regional work which will lead to the review of the Spatial Position Statement 
and the production of a Joint Strategy which includes green infrastructure 
opportunities. 

  



 

13 
 

4.0 Areas of Agreement 
  
 Wastewater and Nitrate Neutrality 
  
4.1 Following recent case law and evidence creating uncertainty around the contribution 

of new development in Fareham to deteriorating water quality (eutrophication) in the 
Solent and the effect this is having on the internationally designated sites, there is 
greater emphasis on the burden of proof to demonstrate that new development will 
not cause a likely significant effect on the integrity of these sites. Development needs 
to demonstrate that it would prevent any net increase in nutrients and therefore be 
‘nutrient neutral’.  

  
4.2 FBC and GBC have accepted that development draining to the Wastewater 

Treatment Works (WTW) at Peel Common could cause nutrient enrichment and lead 
to significant effects on the integrity of internationally designated sites in the Solent.  
FBC and GBC worked together in the early stages to understand the issues. 

  
4.3 FBC and GBC continue to work with PfSH through the Water Quality Working Group 

to coordinate the provision of a strategic PfSH wide solution6 in the medium to long 
term. PfSH have commissioned two reports to date, an Integrated Water 
Management Study (May 2018)7 and a Technical Note on the Calculation of Nitrate 
Loading from Housing Growth (July 2020)8. Both reports recognise that the 
administrative areas of Fareham and Gosport use the Peel Common WTW. 
Furthermore, both authorities have signed a Statement of Common Ground with 
PfSH in relation to the continuing work on wastewater and nitrates as part of a 
review of the 2016 Spatial Position Strategy.  

  
4.4 The PfSH work also includes the appointment of a Strategic Environmental Planning 

Officer to take forward the creation of a pilot sub-region mitigation scheme in relation 
to nitrates. 

  
 Agreed Position 
  
4.5 Both parties agree that the impact of the Fareham Local Plan 2037 on the Peel 

Common WTW are not strategic matters concerning this bilateral SoCG. These 
matters are addressed through FBC’s statement of common ground with PfSH and 
the PfSH statement of common ground to support the PfSH Spatial Strategy. 

  
 Matters to be Resolved 
  
4.7 None. 
  
  
5.0 Signatories 
  
5.1 Both parties agree that this statement is an accurate representation of matters 

discussed and issues agreed upon. 
  
5.2 It is agreed that these discussions will inform the Fareham Borough Council Local 

Plan 2037 and both parties will continue to work collaboratively in order to meet the 
duty to cooperate. 

  
5.3 For Gosport Borough Council the Statement of Common Ground is signed by Debbie 

                                                           
6
 (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) Joint Committee, 22/03/2021 18:00 

(push.gov.uk) 
7
 http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/publicationplan/PUSH_IWMS_Report_FINAL.pdf  

8
 https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Wood-Technical-Note-July-2020.pdf  

https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Item-10-PfSH-Nutrient-Neutrality-Update-1.pdf
https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Item-10-PfSH-Nutrient-Neutrality-Update-1.pdf
http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/publicationplan/PUSH_IWMS_Report_FINAL.pdf
https://www.push.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Wood-Technical-Note-July-2020.pdf


 

14 
 

Gore. For Fareham Borough Council the Statement of Common Ground is signed by 
Richard Jolley. 

   

 Signed: Signed: 

  

Name: Debbie Gore Name: Richard Jolley 

  

Position: Deputy Chief 
Executive and Head of Planning 
and Regeneration 

Position: Director of Planning and Regulation 

   

 Gosport Borough Council Fareham Borough Council 

   

 Date: XX 2021 Date: XX 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

15 
 

Appendix 1 

Extract from TA SRTM Modelling Report Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

16 
 

 

 

 



1 
 
 

  
Appendix 2: Copy of the GBC Regulatory Board (21st July 2021) 
regarding the Fareham Local Plan 2037: Revised Publication Plan 
2037 
 
PURPOSE 

 To consider and approve a response to the Fareham Local Plan 2037: 
Revised Publication Plan (Regulation 19) (FLP2037) consultation which 
has been produced by Fareham Borough Council (FBC). 

  
 RECOMMENDATION 
 That this Council makes the following representations (as expanded upon 

within sections 3-8 of this Report)  to Fareham Borough Council (FBC): 
 

 That this Council supports that land east of Newgate Lane East is 
designated within the  Strategic Gap as shown on the latest Policies 
Map; 

 That this Council supports that the land east of Newgate Lane East 
(formerly known as HA2) is no longer identified as a housing 
allocation in the FLP2037; 

 That this Council submits a holding objection relating to the East of 
Crofton Cemetery and South of Longfield Avenue allocations until 
such time that a transport assessment which includes the 
cumulative impact of development in the FLP2037 and the 
emerging Gosport Borough Local Plan 2038 (GBLP2038) concludes 
that there is no detrimental impact on the effectiveness of the road 
infrastructure serving the Gosport Peninsula including the 
Stubbington Bypass and Newgate Lane East.  This work would form 
part of the Statement of Common Ground between the two local 
planning authorities; 

 That this Council, whilst supporting the overall intention of Policy 
DS1: Development in the Countryside, considers that amendments 
are required for reasons set out in the Report (paragraphs 5.7-5.26). 

 That this Council objects to the detailed wording  of the following 
policies  or parts of policies as detailed in paragraphs 5.7-5.26  of 
this report: 

- Policy HP4  

- Policy HP6 

 That this Council supports the employment allocations at Daedalus 
(Policies E1, E2 and E3). 

 That this Council supports the following policies: 

- Policy E5 which protects employment sites including a number 
on the Gosport Peninsula; 



2 
 
 

- Policy E6 on boatyards which aims to protect important marine 
sites for employment purposes;  

- Policy E7 which aims to safeguard the Solent Airport at 
Daedalus; 

- Policy TIN2 which aims to ensure development does not have 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety and the residual 
cumulative impact on the road network is not severe; 

- Policy TIN3 which safeguards land to support the delivery of the 
South East Hampshire Rapid Transit scheme. 

 That Policy NE9 includes specific reference to the potential for 
green infrastructure improvements in the Fareham, Gosport, Lee-
on-the-Solent and Stubbington Strategic Gap.  

1 Background 
1.1 Fareham Borough Council is consulting on a revised Fareham Local Plan 

2037 Publication version (FLP2037)1.  This version of the Local Plan is 
often referred to as the Regulation 19 Plan.  This is the second Regulation 
19 Fareham Local Plan that has been produced as Members will recall that 
an earlier version was presented to this Board in December 2020. 

  
1.2 The Plan has needed to be updated primarily to take into account a higher 

housing requirement, as assessed using the Government’s Standard 
Method, which has resulted in the identification of additional housing sites 
which is detailed in Section 4 of this report. 

  
1.3 This is likely to be the final main consultation stage before it is submitted to 

the Secretary of State for independent examination. Consequently 
representations made at this stage will be considered by the Planning 
Inspector based on the ‘tests of soundness’. Unlike the previous 
Regulation 18 consultation, the Council will need to complete a formal 
representation proforma and indicate whether it considers that the 
FLP2037  meets a numbers of tests which are set out below:  
 

 Legally Compliant: Does the Plan meet the legal requirements for 
plan making as set out by planning laws? 

 Sound: Has the Plan been positively prepared? Is it justified, 
effective, and consistent with national policy?  

 Complies with the Duty to Co-operate: Has the Council engaged 
and worked effectively with neighbouring authorities and statutory 
bodies? 

  
1.4 The comments outlined in this report will be converted into a proforma and 

it is these comments that the Council will rely on at the Examination in 

                                            
1
 A copy of the document can be viewed at the following link: 

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/local_plan/RevisedPublicationLocalPlan.pdf 



3 
 
 

Public (EiP) unless invited to make further representations by the Planning 
Inspector. It is considered appropriate to resubmit earlier representations 
even if they are the same for the avoidance of doubt. 

  
1.5 The latest FLP2037 is a consolidated Local Plan showing tracked changes 

from the 2020 version.  It contains all the relevant proposals and policies 
as well as the inclusion of a Policies Map covering the Fareham Borough 
area outside Welborne. The planned new settlement will remain covered 
by the current Local Plan Part 3: the Welborne Plan. The FLP2037 will set 
out the development strategy and policy framework for Fareham and once 
adopted will be used to guide decisions on planning applications up to 
2037. Comments are required to reach FBC by the 30th July 2021. 

  
1.6 Members will recall that in addition to the Regulation 19 Local Plan in 

December 2020 this Council has made representations to three previous 
informal consultations (often referred to as Regulation 18 consultations).  
These representations related to: 

 The Consultation Draft Fareham Local Plan (DFLP) which was 
reported to the Regulatory Board on 6th December 2017  

 The Fareham Borough Local Plan 2036: Issues and Options which 
was reported to the Regulatory Board on 25th July 2019 

 The Fareham Borough Local Plan 2036: Supplement which was 
reported to the Regulatory Board on 28th February 2020 

1.7 Members will also recall that this Council made very strong objections to a 
number of proposals within these three documents which remained 
consistent throughout the process.  The objections related primarily to 
residential development in the Fareham, Gosport, Lee-on-the-Solent, and 
Stubbington Strategic Gap with regard to land east of Newgate Lane East 
(known as HA2) and the potential for a larger scale Strategic Growth Area 
(SGA). Key reasons for objections included: 
 

- The proposal would physically and visually diminish the long-
established Strategic Gap between Fareham, Gosport, Lee-on-
the-Solent and Stubbington; 

- The proposals would negate the benefits being provided by the 
new improvements to Newgate Lane and the Stubbington 
Bypass with a negative impact on traffic flow and increased 
congestion to the detriment of Gosport residents and the local 
economy including accessibility to the Solent Enterprise Zone at 
Daedalus; 

- The proposal would significantly harm the amenities of local 
Gosport residents with the introduction of new access points to 
existing residential areas, which due to the scale of the proposal 
would potentially lead to a significant increase of traffic on 
residential roads; 

- The proposal, as described, would be very car dependent with 



4 
 
 

no provision for public transport.  This would increase the 
amount of trips using Newgate Lane and exacerbate existing 
congestion and air quality issues; 

- There is insufficient information on supporting infrastructure 
required including education, medical and community facilities.  

  
Report 

  
2 Introduction  
2.1 This report provides an overview of the FLP2037 with particular emphasis 

on those elements most relevant to Gosport Borough and the significant 
changes from the previous Regulation 19 version.  

  
2.2 This report is broken down into several sections to reflect the content of the 

FLP2037 with comments specifically relating to the implications for Gosport 
Borough.  These sections are: 

 Development Strategy (Section 3) 

 Housing (Section 4) 

 Strategic Gap and Countryside Policies (Section 5) 

 Employment (Section 6) 

 Transport (Section 7) 

 Other Policies (Section 8) 
  
3  Development Strategy 
3.1 The Development Strategy includes a key diagram which highlights the 

main areas of housing and employment development as well as the 
protection of the Strategic Gap and important nature conservation areas. 
Further details are shown on the Policies Map. 

  
3.2 The Development Strategy makes provision for: 

  9,556 new residential dwellings which is an increase from 8,389 
dwellings in the previous version. This increase of approximately 
1,200 dwellings is detailed in Section 4 of this report and reflects the 
Government’s Standard Method for calculating housing requirements 
for each local authority;  

 121,964m2 of new employment floorspace which is an increase from 
104,000m2 in the previous version and reflects the latest 
consideration of available sites; 

 the Strategic employment site at Daedalus (Solent Enterprise Zone) 
to deliver an additional 77,200m2 of employment floorspace over 
and above that already planned for.  This maintains the position 
included in the previous 2020 version; 

 strategic opportunities in Fareham Town Centre that contribute to at 
least 961 dwellings as part of a wider regeneration strategy.  This is 
an increase from 428 dwellings in the previous version; 

 development allocations on previously developed land where 
available and on greenfield land around edges of existing urban 
areas in order to meet remaining housing and employment needs; 



5 
 
 

 policies to manage appropriate levels of development outside of 
urban areas. 

4 Housing  
  
 Housing need and supply 
4.1 Table 1 below sets outs the housing requirement for the latest FLP2037 

and compares it with the previous version. 
 

Table 1:Fareham Local Plan 2037 Housing requirement 

 2020 version 2021 version 

Fareham annual housing 
need (based on current data) 

403 541 

Plan period 2021-2037 16 years 16 years 

Total Fareham need 6,448 8,656 

Plus unmet need 847 900 

Total Local Plan Housing 
requirement  

7,295 9,556 

 

  
4.2 The annual housing need requirement has increased from 403 dwellings 

per annum (dpa) to 541 dpa. This significant change has occurred 
because in the previous version FBC had used the Government’s 
proposed Standard Method which the Government had consulted on 
between August and October 20202.  However the Government has since 
abandoned this methodology and instead have advised local authorities to 
use the previous Standard Method which relies on basing the household 
projections on the 2014 ONS population forecasts rather than the latest 
2018 projections.  The affordability ratio component of the Standard 
Method has increased the dwelling requirement still further from the earlier 
Regulation 18 version which included a figure of 520dpa.  

  
4.3 The FLP2037 recognises that unmet need from neighbouring authorities 

can increase a local authority’s housing figure. It identifies that the 
Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) currently identifies a substantial 
unmet need of approximately 10,750 dwellings (PfSH Joint Committee 
September 2020) across the sub-region.  It also recognised that local 
authorities are at a different stage of plan-making and consequently the 
PfSH figure in most cases only takes into account existing policy compliant 
housing sites and therefore has not included all the potential allocations 
that will come forward as part of the evidence base and forthcoming 
consultations. Portsmouth City Council is the only authority to formally 
request FBC to take a proportion of their unmet need, hence the proposed 
900 dwelling figure in Table 1.  GBC’s approach is to: take into account 
forthcoming PfSH work as part of an updated planning strategy for the sub-
region; consider any new Standard Method when it is officially published; 

                                            
2
  ‘Changes to the Planning System’ document- This Council considered the Changes to The Planning 

System including the Standard Method at the Economic Development Board of 23
rd

 September 2020 
in which it was referred to as an interim ‘Standard Method’ acknowledging that the White Paper, 
‘Planning for Change’ also published in August 2020 was considering more fundamental changes to 
the Standard Method 



6 
 
 

and continue to gather evidence on new allocations which is likely reduce 
the unmet need figure of 2,500 dwellings in Gosport Borough identified in 
the PfSH Joint Committee Report and included in the FLP2037. 

  
4.4 In order to meet the Standard Method housing requirement, the latest 

FLP2037 identifies a current supply of 10,594 dwellings which is an 
additional 2,205 dwellings than the 2020 version, and includes an 11% 
contingency which is slightly higher than the recommended 10%. This 
contingency is aimed to address any potential issue of under-delivery on 
certain sites. The supply includes 4,184 dwellings at Welborne to be 
delivered by 2037 (which is almost 700 less than the previous version), 
existing outstanding permissions and various allocations across Fareham 
Borough.  With regard to the increased supply, 653 is from additional 
housing sites in Fareham Town Centre, 139 from additional sites in other 
settlements and 1,986 is from additional edge of settlement sites. 

  
4.5 These allocations3 are detailed in the FLP2037 and includes a number of 

urban sites including areas on the east and west side of Fareham Railway 
Station, the Crofton Conservatory site on West Street, the Magistrates 
Court  and a new allocation on land north of Henry Cort Drive in Fareham. 
There are also sizeable allocations in Warsash, Titchfield Common, 
Portchester West (Downend Road East), Locks Heath, Funtley and the 
Hammond Industrial Estate in Hill Head. In addition there is an allocation 
termed, ‘Broad Location for Housing Growth’ for 620 dwellings (Policy BL2) 
which are unidentified sources of potential supply in Fareham Town Centre 
such as car parks, under-utilised shopping areas and opportunities for 
intensification. 

  
4.6 Importantly the land east of Newgate Lane East (known previously as HA2 

in the Regulation 18 consultation) is not included in the latest FLP2037, 
and therefore maintains the position included in the previous Regulation 19 
version. Members will recall that this represents a significant change in 
position from the three Regulation 18 versions which had previously 
included the site as an allocation for between 350 and   475 dwellings. The 
removal of the HA2 allocation on the land east of Newgate Lane East is 
supported. 

  
4.7 The main additional edge of settlement sites identified in the latest 

FLP2037 are: 

 Land east of Crofton Cemetery and west of Peak Lane, Stubbington 
(180 dwellings) (HA54) 

 Land south of Longfield Avenue (1,250 dwellings)(HA55) 

 Land west of Downend Road (550 dwellings) (HA56) 
  
4.8 Of particular interest to Gosport Borough are the first two sites listed above 

which are located in the Fareham, Gosport, Lee-on-the-Solent and 
Stubbington Strategic Gap as detailed below.  

                                            
3
 These allocations are summarised on p39-p40 of the FLP and detailed on pages 41-153 

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/local_plan/RevisedPublicationLocalPlan.pdf. 



7 
 
 

  
 Housing allocations in the current Strategic Gap 
4.9 The proposed allocation east of Crofton Cemetery and west of Peak lane at 

Stubbington (HA54) includes two parcels of land north and south of 
Oakcroft Lane (Appendix A1). The primary access will be onto Peak Lane. 
Importantly it is only the land south of Oakcroft Lane which is to be 
developed for residential use (180 dwellings) with the land north of Oakcroft 
Lane being kept available for Brent Goose and wader use. This land will 
therefore remain undeveloped, remain in the Strategic Gap and provide a 
buffer between Stubbington and the new Bypass.  

  
4.10 The land south of Longfield Avenue (HA55) is an allocation of potentially 

1,250 dwellings and includes a primary school and local centre with 
commercial and community facilities (Appendix A2). As part of this proposal 
it is proposed to retain a significant area of green infrastructure between the 
development and the Stubbington Bypass as well as land on the western 
side of Peak Lane which will retain openness along the Bypass between 
Fareham and Stubbington.  The policy states that the development will 
need to maximise the open nature of the existing landscape between the 
settlements of Fareham and Stubbington,  

  
4.11 The policy states that the publicly accessible and managed green 

infrastructure shall be provided throughout the site incorporating existing 
and new ecological features. It will retain and link existing Public Rights of 
Way to create high quality parkland and natural greenspace as well as 
sports facilities. The access will be from Longfield Avenue and Peak Lane 
with no direct access onto the Stubbington Bypass. 

  
4.12 This is the first time that either of these sites have been identified as 

precise allocations. Previously, in the third Regulation 18 consultation  (Feb 
2020) the areas covered by these sites were part  of a conceptual and very 
extensive area of possible development known as the Strategic Growth 
Area (SGA), which covered the whole area between Fareham and 
Stubbington and was also being promoted at the same time as the former 
HA2 allocation.    

  
4.13 Due to the lack of detail and evidence available at that time the Council 

objected to the SGA on the following grounds: 

 That there had not been sufficient  transport modelling assessment 
undertaken at the time to ascertain whether a SGA was appropriate; 

 it was considered that the extent of the SGA failed to recognise the 
importance of the long-established Strategic Gap between Fareham, 
Gosport, Lee-on-the-Solent and Stubbington and that any significant 
development would affect the long established integrity and function 
of the Strategic Gap. 

 it was considered that the existing boundaries of the Strategic Gap 
should be retained in order to maintain an effective transport corridor 
through the gap.  Additional development immediately adjacent and 
accessing the route will negate all the benefits of the recently 
improved and commenced road infrastructure.  This investment has 



8 
 
 

been implemented to address existing deficiencies not facilitate new 
development.   

  
4.14 Therefore there are two main strategic issues that need to be considered in 

relation to these two allocations are: 

 Can these allocations be developed in such a way which will not 
undermine the function of the Strategic Gap?  

 Can these allocations be developed without having a detrimental 
impact on the road infrastructure serving the Gosport Peninsula? 

  

4.15 These two points are considered in detail below. 
  

 Can these allocations be developed in such a way which will not undermine 
the function of the Strategic Gap?  

4.16 In relation to the Strategic Gap functions the Council previously raised an 
objection regarding the impact of the SGA on the continuing function of the 
Strategic Gap. It was considered that the extent of the area would have the 
potential to completely destroy any sense of Gap between the settlements. 
This previous objection related to the sheer extent of the SGA and any lack 
of detail on how a functional gap could still be maintained to protect the 
setting of each settlement, provide a sense of openness and prevent 
coalescence. 

  

4.17 In this consultation however the development areas are largely defined with 
more details on how the Strategic Gap will be protected with an emphasis 
given to green infrastructure. 

  

4.18 In all of its previous objections to the Fareham Local Plan the Council has 
used Fareham Borough Council’s evidence study ‘Fareham Landscape 
Assessment (FLA) (LDA 2017)’. The Council has also used this evidence 
document when objecting to the planning application at Brookers Lane as 
well as the appeal between Newgate Lane and Newgate Lane East which 
has recently been dismissed.  This study is well-prepared and made a 
strong case to protect the land east of Newgate Lane East as Strategic 
Gap.   

  
 

4.19 In relation to the gap between Fareham and Stubbington the FLA states.  
 

‘This area is a cohesive agricultural landscape which performs multiple roles 
in respect of the primary and secondary purposes and functions of the 
Strategic Gap. Even minor encroachment beyond the existing, strong 
settlement boundary along the southern edge of Fareham could potentially 
disrupt local settlement pattern and character and have an adverse effect on 
the Gap functions and the overall integrity of the agricultural landscape. There 
may be some scope for very modest ‘rounding off’ of Stubbington on its 
northern edges, within existing parcels of land where development could be 
integrated without unacceptable impacts.’ 

  
4.20 A more recent study prepared by Hampshire County Council (September 



9 
 
 

2020)  known as the ‘Technical Review of Areas of Special Landscape 
Quality and Strategic Gap’ has been prepared to take into account the 
completion of the Newgate Lane East and the proposed route of the 
Stubbington Bypass.  The two allocations are within two study areas 
outlined in the document with key points set out below: 
 

Study Area 7a- Land east of Titchfield Road and west of Peak Road: The 
Technical review strongly recommends that the vast majority of this section of 
the Strategic Gap remains.  It provides a useful recreational resource within a 
distinctive landscape that is good quality, where residents can walk in relative 
tranquillity away from roads and enjoy long and varied views. 

 
However there exists the potential to make modifications to the settlement 
boundary of north Stubbington, to extend the boundary to run along Oakcroft 
Lane as the isolated field does not protrude beyond the northern and western 
edges of Stubbington. Subject to detailed design it is possible for development 
to take place without risking the integrity of the Gap. 

 
Study Area 7b- East of Peak Lane and west of HMS Collingwood: Due to 
the characteristic of land in this area (flatter, less varied vegetation blocks, 
less opportunities to view across the land, and more ‘visual distractors’ such 
as HMS Collingwood) it possible for the main field to absorb some 
development without a significant impact on the visual quality of the Strategic 
Gap subject to detailed design, scale and function.  If managed appropriately 
development could have a beneficial effect on the GI network (recreational 
and environmental).  Therefore a change to the Strategic Gap could be 
potentially accommodated without undermining the principle purpose of the 
gap to prevent coalescence of settlements.  However more detailed testing of 
development forms is required 

 
The Technical Review concludes that the Strategic Gap is sub-regionally 
important but opportunities exist for some development to be absorbed within 
the Strategic Gap subject to scale and detailed design, without compromising 
its Gap function combined with mitigation measures the can support green 
infrastructure enhancement.  These adjustments include land south of 
Oakcroft Lane in Stubbington and areas south of Fareham, west of HMS 
Collingwood on the understanding that a green infrastructure strategy is 
implemented which enhances the green buffer. 

  
4.21 With regard to the HA54 site in Stubbington it would appear that a 

development south of Oakcroft Lane could represent the rounding off 
potential as outlined in the FLA and specifically mentioned in the HCC 
study.  Securing the land north of Oakcroft Lane for Brent Goose and wader 
mitigation would safeguard a buffer between the new Bypass and the 
settlement; and with a significant land buffer on the north side of the road 
would likely secure a functional gap at this location. This would help 
maintain a sense of openness when travelling along the Bypass and retain 
a sense that one is travelling between settlements in a rural rather than 
suburban setting. 

  
4.22 The allocation south of Longfield Avenue is harder to justify in terms of the 

FLA landscape evidence as it states that there is a strong settlement 



10 
 
 

boundary on the southern edge of Fareham and consequently development 
beyond this could potentially disrupt local settlement pattern and character 
and have an adverse effect on the Gap functions and the overall integrity of 
the agricultural landscape.  However the 2020 HCC Study outlines the 
potential for development on part of the land east of Peak Lane and west of 
Collingwood which if designed appropriately would not have a detrimental 
impact on the function of the Strategic Gap. 

  
4.23 It is the role of each local authority to review the boundaries of their 

settlements and strategic gaps as part of the Local Plan process. The 
important issue to consider is whether there is the possibility for some 
development to be located within the Gap between Fareham and 
Stubbington without the prime functions of the Strategic Gap being 
compromised. 

  
4.24 The criteria to define strategic gap boundaries were included in the South 

Hampshire Strategy (Oct 2012) The criteria are as follows:- 

 the designation is needed to retain the open nature and/or sense of 
separation between settlements; 

 the land to be included within the Gap performs an important role in 
defining the settlement character of the area and separating 
settlements at risk of coalescence; 

 the Gap boundaries should not preclude the provision being made 
for the development proposed in this Strategy; 

 the Gap should include no more land than is necessary to prevent 
the coalescence of settlements having regarding to maintaining their 
physical and visual separation. 

  
4.25 It would appear from the evidence studies when taken together and from 

the information in the latest FLA2037 that it could be possible to locate 
development in the two suggested locations provided the design is of a high 
quality and that the buffers are considered as an integral part of the design 
and not an after-thought.  There appears to be a sufficient gap between the 
allocation and the bypass to ensure that there is a sense of openness when 
travelling along the bypass and a rural rather than suburban character is 
maintained.  It would appear from the indicative diagram and the policy 
intentions that the overall strategic gap criteria are being met.  It will be 
essential for the remaining undeveloped land between the bypass and 
Fareham to be secured in perpetuity for green infrastructure purposes.   

  
 Can these allocations be developed without having a detrimental impact on 

the road infrastructure serving the Gosport Peninsula? 
4.26 The Council’s main concerns when objecting to the SGA related to 

fundamentally two inter-related issues: 

 would the design of the development have a detrimental impact on 
the operational effectiveness of the new road infrastructure through 
for example the incorporating of new accesses onto the Stubbington 
Bypass which would affect the overall flow of traffic?; 

 would the volume of traffic in combination with other developments 



11 
 
 

negate the benefits derived from the new road infrastructure in terms 
of alleviating acute accessibility issues to and from the Gosport 
Peninsula?   

  
4.27 At the time of the third Regulation 18 consultation (February 2020) 

insufficient transport modelling and assessment work had taken place and 
there was a lack of detail of how the SGA would work.   The two proposed 
allocations identified in the latest FLP2037 clearly highlight that there would 
be no new direct access onto the Stubbington Bypass with HA54 being 
accessed off Peak Lane and HA55 being accessed of Longfield Avenue 
and Peak Lane with specific reference that there would be no direct access 
onto the Stubbington Bypass.  This therefore overcomes the Council’s first 
concern in that there will be no new additional access points onto the 
Stubbington Bypass.  

  
4.28 As part of the evidence study for the first Regulation 19 (which didn’t 

include these two allocations) the evidence included a transport 
assessment which took into account the SGA South of Fareham which 
made an assumption at the time of the modelling for some 1,975 dwellings 
modelled for the whole gap area.  This is higher than the actual proposed 
allocations which is 1,430 dwellings. 

  
4.29 It concluded that junctions in the area would not be unduly impacted by new 

development and that defined criteria relating to capacity hotspots are not 
reached and therefore mitigation is not required. It recognises that whilst 
traffic flow would be very high at junctions such as Longfield Avenue/ 
Newgate Lane there would be no increase in delay and consequently no 
mitigation would be required for this or other junctions in the vicinity. Five 
other junctions elsewhere on Fareham are identified requiring mitigation. 

  
4.30 Whilst these findings are noted it is considered further work is required. 

The Council considers that as part of any future Statement of Common 
Ground, which is a requirement under the Duty to Cooperate, this Council 
would like to discuss these finding in more detail with Fareham Borough 
Council and Hampshire County Council.  The Council considers that 
further work is required in order to take into account the growth proposed 
in the forthcoming GBLP2038 to ensure that the full implications of access 
to and from the Peninsula are taken into account.  It is considered that 
because of the limited transport choices and limited road network on the 
Peninsula that an in-combination approach is needed in this particular 
instance.   

  
4.31 It is necessary to demonstrate that green field development in the Strategic 

Gap does not prejudice brownfield development and regeneration 
opportunities further south in Gosport Borough.  There is a risk that 
highway capacity is reduced such that brownfield sites would be expected 
to fund and mitigate transport interventions to become acceptable.  Given 
that brownfield sites are in many cases likely to have other factors affecting 
viability the addition of further transport mitigation requirements may reduce 
overall viability and deliverability. 



12 
 
 

  
4.32 It is therefore considered without this in-combination work the overall traffic 

on the highway network will be underestimated, and therefore it is not 
possible to be definitive that these proposed allocations will not have an 
adverse impact on the operation of individual junctions in combination. 

  
4.33 The transport assessment would be based on existing modelling by both 

local authorities and would consider these allocations together with 
proposed growth on the Gosport Peninsula as set out in both the FLP2037 
and the emerging GBLP2038. 

  
4.34 It is therefore proposed to submit a holding objection until this work has 

been undertaken and demonstrates that there is no detrimental impact on 
the road network and if there are particular issues identified that suitable 
mitigation measures can be incorporated which is not to the detriment of 
Gosport residents and businesses. 

  
 Conclusion regarding the two new allocations 
4.35 In conclusion due to FBC’s significant housing requirement it is understood 

why it has been necessary to review the settlement boundaries in relation 
to HA54 and HA55.  These sites are preferable for sensitive development 
from a strategic gap perspective than the former HA2 allocation at Newgate 
Lane East.  It is clear the Gap adjacent to Newgate Lane East is particularly 
vulnerable at that location but this accentuates its importance as a 
functional gap in which it is still possible to experience the separation 
between settlements and there is an appreciable feeling of travelling 
between urban conurbations, through an area of Countryside, as part of this 
Gap’s function.   

  
4.36 These characteristics are also important in relation to the Stubbington 

Bypass between Stubbington and Fareham and it would be appear that the 
width of the gap at this location and particular characteristics outlined in the 
HCC study (2020) does enable some development potential north of 
Stubbington and south of Fareham.  The function of the Strategic Gap at 
this location can only be protected however if the significant  buffers are 
retained in perpetuity on both sides of the road and that the edge of both 
allocations are very carefully designed  with a positive relationship with the 
surrounding countryside.  Whilst not ideal it would seem that the Council 
should not make a formal objection with regard to these two allocations in 
terms of the settlement function of the Strategic Gap.  However it will need 
to comment further on any detailed proposals in future in order to ensure 
that they reflect the principles outlined in the relevant policies in terms of 
the extent of the development and the use of green infrastructure to protect 
the remaining Strategic Gap. 

  
4.37 It is considered important that FBC can meet its housing requirements and 

that a site such as the land south of Longfield Avenue can represent a 
planned strategy of land release rather than the constant piecemeal and 
speculative applications which the area has been subjected to in recent 
years.  A high quality development that retains the functions of the Strategic 



13 
 
 

Gap and delivers improved green infrastructure is therefore preferred than 
inappropriate development in inappropriate locations.  Importantly the 
detailed allocations in the latest FLP2037 overcome the Council’s previous 
Strategic Gap objections in relation to the SGA where development could 
have been developed adjacent to the Stubbington Bypass with no 
functioning Strategic Gap 

  
4.38 It is also clear that the proposed allocations will not have any new access 

points off the Stubbington Bypass which overcomes another of the 
Council’s previous objections.  

  
4.39 However, notwithstanding the above, it is considered that the Council 

should make a holding objection until such time that a combined transport 
assessment is completed which can demonstrate that the allocations will 
not have a detrimental impact on the strategic road network serving the 
Gosport Peninsula and that any noted impacts can be satisfactorily 
mitigated.  This would form part of the Statement of Common Ground which 
each Council is obliged to produce as part of their statutory Duty to 
Cooperate. The Council needs to be reassured that the FLP2037 proposals 
together with the proposals in the forthcoming GBLP2038 do not have a 
detrimental effect on the effectiveness of the significant new road 
infrastructure at Newgate Lane East and the Stubbington Bypass. 

  
 Housing policies 
4.40 The FLP2037 includes a number of housing policies which aim to deliver a 

diverse range of housing to meet local needs. The Council’s objections to 
Policies HP4 and HP6 are outlined in paragraphs 5.7-5.26 below in 
connection with Policy DS1 relating to development in the countryside.    

  
5 Strategic and Countryside Policies 
  
 Protection of the Fareham, Gosport, Lee-on-the-Solent and Stubbington 

Strategic Gap 
5.1 As mentioned above in relation to the housing allocations the Strategic Gap 

has been retained along both sides of Newgate Lane East. The 
maintenance of the Strategic Gap in this location is supported.   

  
5.2 This major change in FBC’s Local Plan from the earlier Regulation 18 

consultations is likely to result in significant objections from a number of 
landowners and developers who have an interest in these previously 
identified allocations and proposals.  Consequently these matters are likely 
to be heard at the EiP conducted by a Planning Inspector.   

  
5.3 A Planning Inspector will consider all representations as part of the EiP 

received at the Publication Plan (Regulation 19) consultation including 
those supporting the Local Plan.  However the Inspector will normally invite 
those that have objected to the Local Plan to the EiP sessions along with 
FBC. It is therefore important that in the Council’s supporting comments for 
the revised proposals it is made clear why the Strategic Gap is so 
fundamentally important to Gosport Borough and in addition it is considered 



14 
 
 

important that previous objections are appended to the representation in 
order that the Inspector can fully consider the reasons why this Council 
objected to the previous proposals, which the developers and landowners 
will be attempting to reintroduce. 

  
5.4 As highlighted above in paragraphs 4.9-4.39 the main difference with the 

previous version of the Local Plan is how the Strategic Gap is shown in 
relation to the proposed HA54 and HA55 allocations.  The text in relation to 
the housing allocations will form part of the Council’s representation on 
soundness.  In addition the proposed boundary of the Strategic Gap in 
relation to the proposed developable part of the HA55 site south of 
Longfield Avenue is not understood as it shows the entire area remaining 
within the Strategic Gap.  It is not clear whether this is a cartographic 
oversight or there is a particular reason which is not explicit in the text. 
Clarity will be sought on this matter. 

  
5.5 It is proposed that this Council formally reiterates its support regarding the 

wording of Policy DS2 shown below which seeks to protect the Strategic 
Gap.   
 

Policy DS2: Development in Strategic Gap 
 
‘In order to prevent coalescence of urban areas and to maintain 
separate identity of settlements, Strategic Gaps are identified as 
shown on the Policies Map between the following areas: 
 
1) Fareham/Stubbington and the Western Wards (Meon Gap) 
2) Fareham/Bridgemary and Stubbington/Lee-on-the-Solent 

(Fareham-Stubbington Strategic Gap) 
 

Development proposals will not be permitted where they significantly 
affect the integrity of the gap and the physical and visual separation of 
settlements of the distinctive nature of settlement characters.’ 

 

  
5.6 In addition to supporting Policy DS2 and the extent of the Strategic Gap 

shown on the Policies Map the Council would also like to support the 
following: 
 

 Fareham Local Plan 2037 Vision which states that Fareham Borough 
will retain its identity, and the identity of individual settlements within 
the Borough, through measures that seek to retain the valued 
landscapes and settlement definition; and 

 Strategic Priority 2 which seeks to maximise development within the 
urban area and away from the wider countryside, valued landscaped 
and spaces that contribute to settlement definition. 

  
 Development in the countryside 
5.7 The relevant sections of the FLP2037 of particular interest to the Council 

remain unchanged in the latest version and therefore the text included in 
the previous report to the Regulatory Board is largely unchanged below 



15 
 
 

(with any particular differences set out). It is recommended that the 
representations on these matters are resubmitted. 

  
5.8 Policy DS1 relates to development in the countryside and the overall 

approach is to limit development in the countryside outside of the urban 
area boundaries as defined on the Policies Map.  The policy sets out those 
circumstances where development will be supported outside the urban area 
boundary. In most instances these circumstances are limited in scope and 
scale. In addition the policy includes five criteria (i-v) which any of the 
identified exceptions need to adhere to. This includes requiring developers 
of any such exception to demonstrate that their proposal: 

 requires a location outside of the urban area;  

 would conserve and enhance landscapes, sites of biological or 
geological value and soils;  

 recognises the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and 
if relevant the development does not significantly affect the integrity 
of a Strategic Gap; 

 maintain the character of the undeveloped coast; and  

 are not on Best and Most Versatile agricultural land. 
  
5.9 Whilst many of the exceptions appear reasonable, particularly when 

assessed against the five criteria outlined above, there is concern relating 
to development cited in point e) in the policy which reads:  
 

Proposals for development in the countryside, which is defined as 
land outside the Urban Area boundary, as shown on the Policies 
Map, will be supported where the proposal (inter alia) 
 

 e) is for housing development compliant with one of the following 
policies HP1, HP2, HP4, HP5 HP6 and HP11.  

  
5.10 The Council does not have particular concerns with the link to Policies HP1, 

HP2 and HP11 nor the way these policies are worded. Policy HP1  is a 
standard ‘housing in the countryside’ policy relating to the conversion of 
existing buildings and replacement dwellings; Policy HP2 enables very 
small scale development of no more than 4 dwellings in scale with its 
surroundings; and  HP11 is a standard criteria-based policy relating to sites 
for gypsies, travellers and travelling show.  

  
5.11 However the Council has concerns over the following aspects: 

 

 The link in Policy DS1 to Policy HP4 and the wording of Policy HP4; 

 The link in Policy DS1 to Policy HP5, although the wording of HP5 is 
not a particular issue; 

 The link in Policy DS1 to Policy HP6 and the wording of Policy HP6 
  
5.12 Taking each in turn, Policy HP4 relates to the Five Year Housing Supply 

and where the Council cannot demonstrate a five year supply of land for 
residential development, additional housing sites outside the urban area 



16 
 
 

boundary will [rather than ‘may’ as used in the previous version] be 
permitted where they meet all the following criteria: 

 The proposal is relative in scale to the demonstrated five year 
housing land supply shortfall; 

 The proposal is sustainably located adjacent to, and well related to, 
the existing urban area boundaries and can be well integrated with 
the neighbouring settlement; 

 The proposal is sensitively designed to reflect the landscape 
character and setting of the settlement, is of a scale proportionate to 
its setting and recognises the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and, if relevant does not affect the integrity of a Strategic 
Gap; 

 It can be demonstrated that the proposal is deliverable in the short 
term; and 

 The proposal would not have unacceptable environmental, amenity 
and traffic implications. 

  
5.13 The Council objects to both the wording of Policy HP4 and the link to DS1 

policy as it implies that if Fareham’s five year housing supply is not met, the 
first area of search is outside of the urban area boundary.  Instead the 
policy should refer to sites within urban areas, brownfield land, underutilised 
employment sites, sites close to train stations, under-utilised town centre 
sites such as car parks and shopping precincts, consideration of using 
Council land assets and other public sector land, intensification of existing 
neighbourhoods, as well as opportunities to increase densities on existing 
allocations such as Welborne.  These types of sites should be clearly 
identified as being preferential before greenfield land outside the urban 
area, particularly within the Strategic Gap, are considered.    

  
5.14 It is understandable why the FLP2037 has a policy relating to this matter as 

the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires 
local planning authorities to have a five year housing supply and if this 
cannot be demonstrated the relevant allocation policies in an adopted Local 
Plan (even a recently adopted one) become out of date and consequently 
housing can take place on sites previously not identified for housing.  Both 
Councils have made representations to the Government in the past 
regarding this matter and how it is detrimental to a plan-led system by 
creating uncertainty for local communities and undermining the effective 
provision of infrastructure to serve these new residents.  This is particularly 
the case when such sites can proceed on a cumulative and speculative 
basis without a comprehensive assessment of impacts that would normally 
be undertaken at the local plan-making stage.  

  
5.15 This policy is therefore aiming to set out criteria to assess any proposal that 

comes forward that is not allocated in an adopted Local Plan.  However it is 
this Council’s view that the presence of the policy seems to direct 
development towards greenfield sites quite readily before other urban and 
more sustainable sites are fully considered. 

  



17 
 
 

5.16 Policy HP5 relates to the provision of affordable housing on sites of 10 or 
more and the Council has no particular issue with the wording of HP5.  
However when it is linked with Policy DS1 it could be interpreted that FBC 
will accept in principle the development of any affordable housing site 
outside the urban area boundary.  Whilst the criteria i-v exists  there is 
concern that unsuitable developments in the Strategic Gap could be 
developed in a piecemeal fashion with a number of different speculative 
sites coming forward adjacent to others of varying sizes. It is considered 
that the inclusion of a link to HP5 does not provide sufficient certainty of 
what development will take place over the plan period; nor does it ensure 
that the environmental, transport and infrastructure implications of each 
affordable housing development has been fully assessed in combination 
with adopted allocations or other speculative proposals coming forward 
over the plan period.  

  
5.17 Whilst it is not considered the intention of the policy it could potentially 

enable large scale housing development outside of the urban area 
boundary if it can be demonstrated that 40% affordable housing is being 
achieved. 

  
5.18 It is therefore not proposed to object to the wording of Policy HP5; only that 

the link included in DS1 is removed.  It is considered that if development 
does come forward in the countryside through other policy mechanisms this 
policy could still be used as each policy in the plan needs to be read in 
conjunction with all other relevant plans, and consequently the affordable 
housing policy would still apply for developments over 10 dwellings.  The 
removal of the reference in DS1 would remove this being cited as a primary 
reason for development in the Strategic Gap ahead of more suitable sites 
within the urban area in both Fareham and Gosport Boroughs. 

  
5.19 Policy HP6 relates to affordable housing exception sites and is a 

commonly used policy across England to allow small affordable housing 
sites adjacent to villages to be developed on land which would not normally 
be permitted to come forward. This would enable viable schemes to be 
implemented to meet very local needs. In principle the Council does not 
have an objection to such a policy nor its link to DS1 enabling such 
schemes to come forward outside the urban area. However the way in 
which the policy is worded could enable the development of significant 
schemes in the Strategic Gap.  The policy  includes the following text: 
 
Policy HP6: Exception Sites  

The development of Rural Exception Sites will be permitted where: 

a) All dwellings are affordable (as defined in the NPPF); and  
 

b) The affordable delivery is not meeting the affordable housing need 
and the development is relative in scale to the shortfall; and 

 
c) The development is located adjacent to, and well related to, the  

existing urban area boundaries; and 



18 
 
 

 
d) The affordable rent products will be brought forward by, and will be 

managed by, a not for profit social housing provider who is regulated by 
Homes England; and 

 
e) The affordable housing meets the local needs of the adjacent 

settlement. 

The development of Entry-Level Exception Sites suitable for first time buyers 
(or those looking to rent their first home)will be permitted where: 

a) The site is adjacent to existing settlements; and  
b) All dwellings are affordable (as defined in the NPPF), and a range of 

affordable tenure types, including those that are suitable for first-time 
renters or buyers are provided; and 

c) The site is less than1 hectare or relative in scale (does not exceed 5% 
of the size of the adjacent settlement); and  

d) It can be demonstrated, based on an up to date local housing needs 
assessment, that the need for the housing proposed will not be met 
through the allocations in the Plan or development with extant planning 
permission. 

 
 

  
5.20 Whilst it appears from the accompanying justification text that the intention 

of the policy is to enable the development of small sites there is concern 
that the wording of the policy as shown above could be used to enable 
much larger scale development.  For example, the first part of the policy 
could potentially facilitate a single or a series of large scale affordable 
housing developments in the Strategic Gap. If such schemes are promoted 
speculatively in a number of locations in the Strategic Gap there would be 
no opportunity to assess the in-combination environmental, landscape or 
infrastructure implications for the Gosport Peninsula.  

  
5.21 The second part of the policy would allow entry-level exception sites with a 

limit of 1 hectare and a proviso that the scheme does not exceed 5% of the 
size of the adjacent settlement.  Potentially this could lead to a series of 1 
hectare entry home exception sites to be developed adjacent to the 
Gosport Borough boundary and as the town is large the 5% restriction 
would be meaningless. 

  
5.22 It is clear from the recent number of speculative applications in the 

Strategic Gap how both parts of the policy (together with HP4 and HP5) 
could be used by developers to argue a case for development in these 
locations with the detrimental implications as set out previously in the 
Council’s objections to the Regulation 18 consultations (see Paragraph 1.6-
1.7). 

  
5.23 Whilst this does not appear to be the policy’s intention the wording would 

certainly enable developers to argue this position.  Consequently the 
wording of the policy needs to be amended to refer to existing settlements 
that are within Fareham Borough only’.  This would then provide clarity that 



19 
 
 

development adjacent to Gosport Borough would not be considered under 
this policy.  The policy also needs to set an upper limit of what is meant by 
‘small sites’ which is a term used in the justification text (paragraph 5.46 of 
FLP) but not in the policy itself. The policy also needs to define what is 
meant by small sites.  This will avoid unintended significant development in 
the Strategic Gap. Finally there needs to be some explicit wording which 
resists successive one hectare parcels of land coming forward in the same 
vicinity. 

  
5.24 Taking all these concerns together it is clear that the wording of the policies 

linked to DS1 could result in a series of small, medium and large scale 
developments which collectively affect the integrity of the Strategic Gap and 
undermine the major transport improvements which have been provided to 
alleviate current access issues.  

  
5.25 When policies HP4, HP5 and HP6 are linked to DS1 it is possible to identify 

the risk that a proposal equivalent to HA2 could come forward during the 
Plan period.  The risk is exacerbated as a series of sites could come 
forward whereby the cumulative impact would not be sufficiently assessed 
as they would be speculative sites becoming available on a piecemeal 
manner.  Whilst a strong case could be made that each single development 
would not necessarily meet criteria i-v in DS1 or similar criteria in HP4 and 
HP6, it is clear that without a five year housing supply either FBC or an 
Inspector on appeal  could grant a series of permissions outside the urban 
area boundary.  This would be detrimental to the function of the Strategic 
Gap in terms of its settlement function and would have a cumulative 
detrimental impact on the new strategic road infrastructure in terms of 
undermining the effectiveness of providing the much anticipated improved 
access to Gosport Borough and the southern part of Fareham Borough 
(Stubbington and Hillhead). 

  
5.26 As a result of these links there is the potential for developers to bring 

forward significant development in the Strategic Gap outside of the Local 
Plan allocations if it can be demonstrated that FBC does not have a five 
year housing supply.  Given the difficulties for FBC to demonstrate this 
currently and the fact that its housing supply depends significantly on the 
delivery of Welborne there is a real possibility that multiple speculative sites 
could come forward in the Strategic Gap which could cumulatively have a 
detrimental impact on the function of the Strategic Gap as set out in 
previous consultation responses. 

  
6 Employment 
6.1 According to the latest PfSH Economic, Employment and Commercial 

Needs (including logistics) Study (2021) the FLP2037 has a requirement of 
121,964m2 floorspace between 2021 and 2037 (Policy E1). This is an 
increase from 104,000m2.  The latest plan identifies a current supply of 
243,554 m2 including the 76,140 m2 identified in the Welborne Plan and 
consequently is 121,590m2 in excess of the requirement. The FLP 
considers this overprovision an acceptable approach to cater for flexibility 
and choice of supply in terms of time and type of employment space, as set 



20 
 
 

out in the NPPF and accompanying Planning Practice Guidance. 
  
6.2 The three previously identified employment allocations included in the 

FLP2037 are the Faraday Business Park (Daedalus East) the Swordfish 
Business Park (Daedalus West) and Solent 2 Whiteley. The additional land 
is identified at Wallington, Segensworth and land north of St Margaret’s 
roundabout at Titchfield. The provision at Daedalus is set out in Table 2. 
 

 Table 2: Proposed employment provision at Daedalus (within Fareham 
Borough) 

 
 Site General Industrial 

Storage or Distribution m2 

Faraday Business Park 
(Daedalus East) 

65,1004 

Swordfish Business Park 
(Daedalus West 

12,8005 

Total 77,900 
 

6.3 The Fareham part of the Daedalus site will ultimately deliver around 
128,400m2 employment floorspace within. 

  
6.4 This significant amount of floorspace at Daedalus will create new 

employment opportunities for Gosport residents reducing the need to leave 
the Peninsula, offering genuine transport choices other than the private car 
which will reduce congestion and air pollution. 

  
6.5 The Faraday Business Park (Policy E2) and the Swordfish Business Park 

(Policy E3) represent an extension and intensification of the original 
strategic employment allocations included in the current adopted Fareham 
Local Plan (part 1) (2011).  The policy includes a number of development 
safeguards relating to access requirements, not prejudicing the operation of 
the Solent Airport as well as provisions relating to design, nature 
conservation interests, flood risk, contamination and infrastructure. 

  
6.6 Both sites have been taken out of the Strategic Gap, when compared with 

the current Adopted Local Plan, however the development of employment 
uses will be a high-quality design to reflect the style and appearance of 
existing development adjacent to the airfield to create much needed 
employment opportunities on the Peninsula. The employment proposals will 
maintain the significant Strategic Gap of the airfield itself. The proposals are 
particularly important as Gosport Borough has the lowest job density in the 
South East and one of the lowest in England. 

  
6.7 Due to the importance of the Daedalus site for both local authorities the 

Council supports the following: 
  the FLP2037 vision for ‘New employment space will be located in the 

most appropriate locations that are attractive to the market and 
acceptable in terms of environment impact.  Existing employment 

                                            
4
 In addition to the 28,500m2 already consented in Dec 2013 

5
 In addition to the 22,000m2 already consented in Dec 2013 



21 
 
 

areas and zones will be supported and all decisions made will seek a 
sustainable future for the employment provision in the Borough and 
associated jobs.’ 

 Strategic Priority 6, which seeks to protect important employment 
areas and zones and providing for future employment floorspace 

 Policies E1, E2 and E3, which allocates land at Daedalus for new 
employment floorspace. 

  
6.8 This Council also supports Policy E5 of the FLP2037, which seeks to 

protect existing employment areas with the relevant policy considerations 
should it be demonstrated with the appropriate evidence (as defined in the 
policy)  that the sites are no longer fit for purposes. It is important that 
existing employment sites in Fareham including a number on the Gosport 
Peninsula are protected including those along Newgate Lane and close to 
Fareham Town Centre as they provide employment to Gosport residents 
and  are potentially accessible by bus, cycling or walking. 

  
6.9 Policy E6 aims to protect marine-related employment uses.  This policy is 

supported as the availability of waterfront sites around the Solent is limited 
and the marine businesses they support contribute to one of the key 
sectors of the sub-regional economy of which Gosport marine sites form 
part of a cluster. 

  
6.10 Policy E7 relates to the Solent Airport at Daedalus, which protects the site 

for airport related uses to support aviation activities unless it can be 
demonstrated that such uses are no longer financially viable. 

  
6.11 It is important that the airfield is retained to support a large number of 

employers at the Daedalus site which provides one of the key reasons for 
many businesses to locate and expand on the site. The justification text 
highlights that the Solent Airport has consent for up to 40,000 flight 
movements per year.  There are no indications in the FLP2037 that any 
changes will be sought on this matter. 

  
7 Transport  
7.1 Policy TIN2 is supported as it aims to ensure development does not have 

an unacceptable impact on highway safety and the residual cumulative 
impact on the road network is not severe.  The impacts on the local and 
strategic highway arising from development itself or the cumulative effects 
of development on the network are required to be mitigated through a 
sequential approach consisting of measures that would avoid/reduce the 
need to travel, active travel, public transport and the provision of 
improvements to the local network or contributions towards off-site 
transport schemes.  

  
7.2 Policy TIN3 safeguards land between Delme Roundabout and the 

Portsmouth Boundary and the Quay Street Roundabout to support the 
delivery of the South East Hampshire Rapid Transit scheme. The extension 
will help improve public transport access to Gosport Borough and improve 
the wider network. Consequently the scheme and Policy TIN3 is supported. 



22 
 
 

  
8 Other Policies 
  
8.1 There have been no significant changes in relation to the following policy 

areas but for completeness and the avoidance of doubt the text from the 
previous report has largely been re-iterated unless specifically identified.  
 

 Retail and Community Facilities 
8.2 The Plan includes policies that aim to protect the centres within Fareham 

Borough.  Convenience retail need during the Local Plan period is deemed 
to be in the order of 2,200 m2 with no additional comparison required and 
2,400m2 of food and beverage use.  Very little of this is planned over the 
period to 2027, indeed it is considered that current vacant floorspace will 
meet this requirement to 2027 and any additional floorspace allocations 
would not be appropriate at this time.  Consequently such evidence will be 
reviewed for the next Local Plan which now have to be prepared every five 
years.  

  
8.3 Proposals relating to out-of-town shopping areas such as Speedfields Park 

(Newgate Lane) will be subject to Policy R2 which requires an impact 
assessment for proposals of 500sq.m or over (both new units or 
extensions) in order to demonstrate that there are no significant adverse 
effect on the vitality and viability of existing or proposed centres.  This 
approach is supported. Other policies protect community facilities in a 
similar way as the Gosport Borough Local Plan (GBLP). 

  
 Climate change and the natural environment 
8.4 The FLP2037 includes a series of plans which aim to mitigate and adapt to 

climate change as well as protect the natural environment.  The policies 
contained in this Plan take into account the latest guidance set out in the 
NPPF and accompanying Government advice. The only change to this 
policy is that the policy supports development that exceeds Building 
Regulation requirements. This Council will be aiming to produce similar 
policies for its emerging Local Plan.   

  
8.5 Biodiversity policies of particular interest to Gosport Borough include: Policy 

NE1 which protects the local ecological network which ultimately links with 
sites in Gosport such as the Alver Valley; Policy NE2 on biodiversity net 
gain; Policy NE3 which relates to recreation disturbance affecting 
internationally important sites and NE4 relating to the eutrophication of 
these sites; and Policy NE5 which protect important Brent goose and wader 
sites. The overall approach to these matters is supported and reflects this 
Council’s own approach. 

  
8.6 Policy NE8 relates to air quality and given that Fareham has two Air Quality 

Management Areas (AQMA) at the north end of the Peninsula, the Plan’s 
approach to improving air quality is supported requiring developments to 
mitigate any identified effects of development on air quality with AQMAs. 

  
8.7 Policy NE9 relates to the protecting and enhancing the Borough’s green 



23 
 
 

infrastructure.  This Council supports this policy and looks forward to 
working with FBC in securing green infrastructure improvements in the 
Fareham, Gosport, Lee-on-the-Solent and Stubbington Strategic Gap. This 
includes mitigating and adapting to climate change (renewable energy, 
flood storage), improved informal recreational access and enhancing 
biodiversity. Given the importance of the Strategic Gap it is recommended 
that Policy NE9 includes specific reference to the potential for green 
infrastructure improvements in this area.  

  
 Design and heritage 
8.8 The Plan includes a number of design and heritage policies which generally 

reflects the approach taken by Gosport Borough. 
  
9 Next steps 
9.1 After the Regulation 19 Consultation ends on the 31st July, FBC will 

consider the responses in the light of the tests of soundness and then 
envisages submitting the Local Plan in the Autumn 2021 with an expected 
independent Examination in Public to be held in Winter/Spring 2022 with 
eventual adoption Autumn/Winter 2022.  

  
10 Risk Assessment 
10.1 
 

Failure to respond to the consultation documents from Fareham Borough 
Council could result in the development of policies and proposals which 
are likely to be unfavourable to our community and its environment and be 
prejudicial to the development of Gosport’s economy. Where Fareham 
Borough Council have significantly changed their position from previous 
rounds of consultation particularly regarding development east of Newgate 
Lane East, it is important that our previous objections are forwarded to the 
Planning Inspector for consideration in order to counter expected 
objections from landowners and developers.  

  

Financial Services 
comments: 

None 

Legal Services 
comments: 

Contained within the report  

Climate Change FBC produce their own assessment as part of its 
Sustainability Appraisal for the whole document. 

Equality and Diversity  FBC produce their own Equality and Diversity statement 
to accompany the Local Plan 

Service Improvement 
Plan implications: 

None 

Council Plan: Proposals may have economic and accessibility  
implications for developing our economy  

Risk Assessment: See section 9 

Background papers: Fareham Local Plan 2037- Revised Publication plan 
(Regulation 19)  
 
Economic Development Board Report 2nd December 
2020 



24 
 
 

 
Economic Development Board Report 28th February 
2020 
 
Economic Development Board Report- 23rd July 2019 
 
Economic Development Board Report- 6th December 
2017 

Appendices Appendix A1: East of Crofton Cemetery Allocation 
Appendix A2: South of Longfield Avenue Allocation 

Report author/ Lead 
Officer: 

Jayson Grygiel, Manager of Planning Policy  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A1: East of Crofton Cemetery Allocation 
 



25 
 
 

 
 
Appendix A2: South of Longfield Avenue Allocation 
 



26 
 
 

 

 



 

Board/Committee: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD  

Date of Meeting: 17TH NOVEMBER 2021 

Title: High Street Heritage Action Zone Project G14: High Street 
Markets Development 

Author: Economic Development & Regeneration Manager  

Status:  For information 

 
Purpose 
 
To update the Economic Development Board with progress on the Gosport High Street 
Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) project to enhance and reinvigorate Gosport High 
Street’s Saturday and Tuesday markets. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board notes current project progress and is aware of forthcoming proposed 

activity plus timetable for delivery. 

 
1.0 Background 

 
1.1 At its last meeting on the 22nd September 2021Board Members received an 

update on work being led by the HSHAZ team since February 2021 to 
enhance Gosport’s twice weekly market.  
 

1.2 Work, to date, has focused on reviewing and better understanding the 
market’s current operation – the terms governing its management, the legal 
and regulatory context for its operation and the opportunities for 
enhancement.  
 

1.3 The Review has been conducted with the valuable support and input of 
Gosport Borough Council and Fareham Borough Council Officers, market 
consultants Activate – Workman Placemaking, as well as the current market 
managers and traders Mike Jones and Dave Watson. 
 

  
2.0 Report 
2.1 In summary the Council’s Economic Development Team’s work across the 

first part of this financial year has informed us: 
 

 Gosport High Street has two market days, Saturday and Tuesday, 

established by Charter;  

 Research undertaken by Activate – Workman Placemaking, as part of the 

Gosport Market Review, 2020, reported that in recent years, and 

especially during the Covid-19 pandemic, the volume of traders visiting 

the market has dipped markedly. Recent experience indicates only 6-10 

regular stalls in attendance on a Tuesday and perhaps 20-25 on a 

Saturday; 

 Nevertheless, the Market Review found the market remains a hugely 

Agenda Item 9



 

important part of the town centre offer and Saturday continues to be the 

busiest day of the week in terms of recorded footfall on the High Street;  

 Environmental Health manage the markets on behalf of the Council as 

part of a shared service arrangement with Fareham Borough Council; 

 The current model of operation is a joint venture where income from pitch 

rents are shared between the Council and market managers Mike Jones 

and Dave Watson on a 80:20 basis; 

 The current management agreement runs until August 2022 with both 

parties having the option to terminate by giving one month’s notice; 

 Significantly perhaps, whilst the current service specification makes clear 

the parameters of the market operation in terms of regulations, it does not 

include any stipulations to develop, diversify or otherwise build the appeal 

of the market;   

 After costs – management fee, waste disposal, shared service fees etc - 

the two markets return a small income for Gosport BC. This is estimated 

at approximately £10,000 for the financial year 2021-22.  

 
2.2 The Economic Development Team has consulted with market experts within 

Historic England, the National Association of British Market Authorities 
(NABMA) as well as local market operators to map a pathway that will lead us 
to helping the reinvigoration of Gosport’s twice weekly markets. This is set out 
in 2.3 – 2.6 below: 
 

2.3 STEP 1:   PRE-CONSULTATION  
 
When:   October - November 2021  
Delivery:            HSHAZ Team 
Budget/Costs: HSHAZ Team staff time only 

 
Actions:  

 Meet with Council Officers to establish a shared vision statement 

for the markets ‘Purpose and Role’ based on HSHAZ research to 

date; 

 Meet with the current market managers to explain what process we 

are about to undertake and more importantly why. Establish what, if 

any, involvement they want in the next stages; 

 Identify working group of local stakeholders and industry specialists 

to progress next stages.  

 
 
Outcomes: 



 

 Draft shared vision established.  

 Working group of local stakeholders and industry specialists. 

2.4 STEP 2:   CONSULTATION  
 

When:  November 2021 – December 2021  
Delivery:  HSHAZ Team / Local marketing organisation  
Budget/Costs: £6,960 from HSHAZ budget + HSHAZ Team staff time 

 
Actions: 

 Using planned local events and social media, consult on the ‘draft’ 

shared vision and develop questions including below: 

o What do you want from Gosport market – more stalls, better / 

more consistent branding, improved marketing, more variety, 

better management, driving footfall? 

o What would you like to see at Gosport market including regular 

themed markets e.g. – teenage markets, food, makers, 

plants/flowers, eco-living, music, shows/exhibitions i.e. vintage 

motorbikes? 

o Different character market for different days – Tuesdays / 

Saturdays? 

 Questions tailored to ‘layers’ of consultees to build on what we 

already have through the Market Review. Layers to include: 

o Gosport residents (using data in original survey to understand 

why certain demographics didn’t respond and work out how to 

reach them); 

o Gosport visitors; 

o Stall holders; 

o Shop owners; 

o Politicians and responsible officers. 

 
Outcome: 

 A clear picture established of how residents and stakeholders 

want to see Gosport market operating and how this aligns with the 

Gosport BC’s vision; 

 Agreed basis for soft marketing of the market operation. 

 
 

2.5 
 
STEP 3:             SOFT MARKETING  
 
When:  December 2021 – February 2022  
Delivery:  HSHAZ Team / NABMA  
Budget/Costs: £5,000 from HSHAZ budget + HSHAZ Team staff time 

 
 
Actions: 



 

 Draft short brochure laying out the Council’s ambitions for how the 

market will operate, what it would expect in terms of delivery by a 

potential future operator and what the Council could provide to 

support the realization of these ambitions. 

 Work with NABMA to identify and invite a range of potential market 

operators to respond to the brochure asking whether they would 

wish to tender for such an opportunity and identifying which of a 

range of operating options they would to work with – profit share, 

fixed sum etc.  

 
Outcome 

 Review feedback with costed options (income / expenditure). 

 Draft paper for consideration by Economic Development Board (16 

March 22) setting out potential options and a SWOT analysis for 

each. These may include:  

o tender-out the operation,  

o bring the operation in-house,  

o continue with existing operator but with revised service 

specification 

 

2.6 STEP 4   ASSUMES TENDER-OUT OPTION 
 
When:  March 2022 – April 2022  
Delivery:  HSHAZ Team / NABMA 
Budget/Costs: HSHAZ Team staff time only 

 
Actions: 

 Prepare service specification and KPIs (sense check through 

NABMA) based on the outcomes of Stage 1 and 2 and 3. 

 Draft Invitation to Tender TT documents and issue by end March 

2022.  

 Select preferred operator by end April 2022. 

 
Outcome 

 Issue new contract to start May 2022.  

  
3 Outcomes 

 
3.1 The Gosport High Street Heritage Action Zone delivery programme was 

agreed by officers from Gosport BC and Historic England in June 2020.  
 
It comprises 19 discreet but inter-related projects including Project G14: High 
Streets Market Development.  
 

 



 

3.2 The stated aim of the HSHAZ Markets project is as follows: 
  
“To revitalise Gosport’s markets, contributing to increased footfall and 
economic activity in the historic town centre while providing opportunities 
for local makers and traders.” 
 

3.3 Informed by the findings of the Market Review study and advice received 
from industry experts the pathway outlined above offers a realistic and viable 
route to realise these aims for the town and wider borough. 
 

  
4 Funding 

  
4.1 This work is undertaken as Project G14: High Street Markets Development 

which, sits within the suite of HSHAZ projects in receipt of Historic England 
grant funding.  
 

4.2 The agreed project budget, allocation to date and requirements to the end of 
the financial year are shown in Table 1 below. 

 
Table One – Financial summary of HSHAZ Project G14:  
 

Source Cash 

budget 

Expenditure 

to date 

Unallocated 

budget to date 

Requirement 

to 31/3/22 

Unallocated 
budget at 

1/4/22 

GBC 

budget 

£21,760 £9,800 £11,960 £0 £11,960 

HE grant £21,760 £9,800 £11,960 £11,960 £0 

Total £43,520 £19,600 £23,920 £11,960 £11,960 
 

  
5 Risk Assessment 

 
5.1 The chief risks to the delivery of this work are two-fold: 

 Loss of HE grant budget 

 Slippage in timetable 

 
5.2 Loss of project budget 

 
The HSHAZ’s chief funding partner is Historic England, which is supporting 
the scheme with a grant of £1.83m over the delivery period April 2020-March 
2024. 
 

5.3 The projected grant spend on HSHAZ Project G14: High Street Markets 
Development for the financial year 2021-22 is £11,960. This was agreed at 
the scheme outset. Historic England have advised it will not be possible to 
roll-over unallocated budget from one financial year to the next.  
 
If the Council does not make use of the grant budget for Project G14 in this 
financial year in the ways outlined above there is a significant risk of its being 
lost. 



 

 
5.4 Timetable slippage  

 
The timetable for delivery of Steps 1-4 (2.3 – 2.6 above) is challenging but 
achievable.  
 
The ED Team has been advised by industry specialists that any tender 
process – should this route be followed – will best be undertaken in the early 
part of 2022 in order to ensure that a new contract and specification allows for 
the operator to have a full summer season.  
 

  
6 Conclusion 

 
6.1 The HSHAZ programme has presented a unique opportunity to enhance and 

realise the full potential of Gosport’s historic twice weekly markets.  
 

6.2 The proposed pathway offers a route to achieving this by working with local 
residents, stakeholders and industry specialists. 
 

  
 

Financial Services 
comments: 

Contained within the report  
 
 

Legal Services comments: Contained within the report. 
 
 

Climate Change:  
 
 

Crime and Disorder: N/A 
 
 

Equality and Diversity: Development will ensure inclusive& accessible offer in 
compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
 

Service Improvement Plan 
implications: 

 
 
 

Corporate Plan:  

Risk Assessment: Contained in report 

Background papers: None  

Appendices/Enclosures: Gosport Interim Market Report, November 2020 

  

  

  

  



 

Report author/ Lead 
Officer: 

Andrew Sugden, Economic Development & 
Regeneration Manager 



 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
Gosport Market 
Interim Report  

 

 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
 
Activate – Workman Placemaking 
Nov 2020 
 
  



 

Executive Summary 
This report summarises Activate’s research into options for the future of Gosport Market.  
 
The team surveyed local residents (both market customers and non-customers) and market traders, 
and visited a number of local competitor markets. The recommendations which arise from this research 
are that the market follows a two stage process: 
 
Stage One 
Focus on increasing trader numbers and footfall through: 
 
• Trial specialist markets: craft markets, farmers markets and themed travelling markets, in order to 

animate the space, and evidence demand. 
• Events: delivered through close integration with the Heritage Action Zone Board, the museum and 

local community groups. 
• Marketing and promotion: including improved signage, social media promotion, leaflets, posters 

and banners. 
• Proactive trader recruitment: targeted to complement the existing mix.  
• Trader training programme: including merchandising and display 
 
Stage Two 
Build on this stronger foundation through: 
 
• Continued programme of specialist markets and events  
• Continued programme of marketing and promotion  
• Evaluate: increasing rents in line with other local markets; investing in uniform, branded gazebos; 

and revising the operating model 
 
  



 

Contents 
 

Part One: Market Audit 

Part Two: Options Analysis 

Part Three: Trader Consultation 

Part Four: Competitor Research 

Part Five: Customer Research 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

 

Appendix One: Risk Assessments 

Appendix Two: Competitor Market Assessment 

Appendix Three: Draft Lettings Strategy 

Appendix Four: Draft Events Programme 

Appendix Five: Draft Marketing Plan  

Appendix Six: Operating Models 

 



Part One – Market Audit 

The Objective 
The objectives of the Market Audit are to review the quality of product and appearance of the stalls, as 
well as the overall market, including operations and operating costs. This evaluation is based on the 
experience of the Activate team in establishing, operating, promoting and consulting on a large number 
of markets around the country. 

Visits 
Activate visited the market on two occasions: 

• Tuesday 15 September
• Saturday 10 October

Stall Audit 
Each stall was assessed on its presentation, uniqueness of product and quality of product. Each element 
was marked out of 6 (from 1 for poor, up to 6 for excellent), with associated comments (see full 
audit overleaf). 

Stall Presentation 
Stall presentation on the market was very mixed. Some of the newer traders, particularly the crafts/gift 
stalls had put a lot of effort into their presentation, as had both the plant traders, including the Saturday 
one who has been with the market for twenty years. Generally presentation levels were higher on 
Saturday with nine of the stalls scoring 4 or above, as opposed to only three on the Tuesday. 

There would be value in organising some basic merchandise training for traders, to make them more 
aware of how to display their goods. 

Colourful, full display creates a good 
impression for the market 

Basic table-top display, with crushed 
boxes creates an impression of cheaper 
quality which affects the whole market 



 
 

Uniqueness of Product 
This was similarly mixed across the stalls with some local craft and produce stalls providing a unique 
selling point and difference for Gosport Market as opposed to both other markets and other retail outlets 
such as Gunwharf Quays. The Customer Research also identified local produce and artisan crafts as 
something which would encourage both visitors and non-visitors to come to the market (see Section 5 
for more detail). 
 
However, it is important to remember that markets, including Gosport, also serve their local catchment 
often looking to buy everyday essentials such as pet supplies and household goods. These stalls are 
popular and should be retained, with new stalls complementing rather than competing. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Local preserves have their place 
as well as everyday pet supplies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Quality of Product 
Obviously harder to gauge without sampling all the products, but the quality of product on most of the 
stalls seemed to be reasonable with only two stalls scoring less than three in this category. Some of the 
products, particularly the plants, crafts and local aerial photography books were also more expensive 
than would traditionally be expected in a street market, but appeared to be selling fairly well, 
demonstrating that the right type of quality products would sell in Gosport. 
 
  



 
 

Feedback from the butcher also confirmed that, after selling at markets for nearly forty years, he 
now sells better quality meat at higher prices than previously. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In summary:  
 

• there is a good base of traders at Gosport Market 
• however, most would benefit from some assistance with their merchandising and display 
• the Customer Research (Section 5) identified that complementary specialist stalls, and/or regular 

themed markets would attract both visitors and non-visitors to the market. Some initial work 
has already been done to reach out to traders within these categories (Section 4). 

  



UNIT NUMBER
TRADERS 

NAME/GOODS 
SOLD

STALL 
PRESENTATION 

1=POOR 3=GOOD 
6=EXCELLENT

UNIQUENESS OF 
PRODUCT 1=POOR 

3=GOOD  
6=EXCELLENT

QUALITY OF 
PRODUCT 1= POOR 

3=GOOD 
6=EXCELLENT

COMMENTS

1 Plants 5 4 5 Good, eye-catching display. Good product knowledge

2 Food (close to sell-
by)

2 2 3 Table-top display. Popular product

3 Burgers 3 3 3 Unique to Gosport, if not elsewhere!

4 L&N Sweets 4 3 4 Works in conjunction with husband's pet food stall

5
Cats Protection 

League
4 4 4 Rotating charity stall

6 Butcher 3 4 4 Long-time trader. Good customer skills, good banter

7 Children's crafts 5 5 4 New trader, good stall

8 Cakes and Sweets 4 4 4 Halloween sweets - fairly opportunitistic (changing options due to 
Trick or Treat restrictions)

9 Preserves 5 5 5 Good display, local product

10 Jewellery 6 5 5 Good display, great local connections. Good ideas

11 Face Masks 4 4 5 New, local, casual trader

12 Carpets 3 3 3 Generic product, reasonable display

13 Pet Food and 
Household Goods

4 4 4 Large display, long-time trader

14 Mobile Phones 3 1 3 Second mobile phone stall in the market. Also popular, but generic

15 Aerial Photos 3 6 5 Unique product, popular in Gosport. Only comes in good weather



UNIT NUMBER
TRADERS 

NAME/GOODS 
SOLD

STALL 
PRESENTATION 

1=POOR 3=GOOD 
6=EXCELLENT

UNIQUENESS OF 
PRODUCT 1=POOR 

3=GOOD  
6=EXCELLENT

QUALITY OF 
PRODUCT 1= POOR 

3=GOOD 
6=EXCELLENT

COMMENTS

1 Clothing
4 - looks good but 
have to walk in, bit 

intimidating
3 4 Fairly standard, seen at every market. No social media

2 Bags 2 - standard 2 2 Fairly standard, seen at every market

3 Toys/Masks 1 1 1 Opportunistic product sales, not great quality (boxes bashed) table 
top presentation

4 Fruit & Veg 3 3 5 Bought some figs - good quality! Been on the market a long time, 
reluctant to change. Uses social media

5 L&N Pet Supplies 2 4 4 Long-time trader, loyal following. Uses social media

6 Rugs & duvets etc 3 3 3 Fairly standard product, but good customer skills

7 Wooden spoons 
and homewre/gifts

4 5 4 All personalised products

8 Plants 6 6 6 Great product and display. Former Co-Op Regional Manager - good 
understanding of retail

9 Ethnic Clothing 3 4 4 Limited size display, some nice pieces

10 Mobile Phones 3 1 3 Standard product, but popular. Good customer service

11 Books 3 3 4 Long-time trader. Fairly opportunities, used to sell tablecloths as well

12 Socks and Clothing 4 4 4 Big display, manages market too. Good understanding of Gosport 
and other local markets.



 
 

Market Facilities 
 
Access 
Access is good, with trader parking nearby. Most of the traders move their vehicles off the high street 
during trading hours. 
 
The high street is very wide which allows for a large potential number of stalls and customers. The 
market can be accessed at both ends and in the middle through side streets off the main high street. 
 
Signage 
There were no market signs on the days when Activate visited. Banners or A-frames would help to 
“announce” the market and encourage footfall from the edges of the town centre, particularly since the 
market is not open every day.  
 
Appearance 
The overall appearance of the market is similar to that of most street markets, including the competitor 
ones visited by the Activate team. There are a mix of gazebos, frames with tarpaulins and other stall 
types including vehicles and tables.  
 
The stalls are staggered throughout the High Street, which does not always create a cohesive market 
feel. 
 
Waste 
Market waste removal appears to be done efficiently. Three stalls are the main users of the bins, with 
the others producing only a small amount of waste. There is no sign of any waste left in the high street. 
 
Other 
Some of the traders complained about the state of their toilets, but these were not inspected as part of 
the review. 
 

Operations 
One Market Manager manages all the operations of the market, which helps to keep the operating costs 
low.  
 
Tenancy at the market is on a flexible basis with traders not committed to being on-site every market 
day. The traders which were consulted viewed this arrangement very favourably (Section 3). It is not 
recommended to change this at this stage.  
 
 
Statutory Compliance and Health & Safety 
Standard risk assessments for street markets have been included at Appendix One. 
 
In addition, it is important to ensure that: 
 

• any electrical equipment is subject to regular PAT testing 
• any gas equipment has been subject to full safety certification 
• any stalls where cooking is undertaken include floor mats for oil spillage as well as immediate 

access to fire-fighting equipment 



Part Two – Options Analysis 

The Objective 
The objective of the Options Analysis is to review whether Gosport Borough Council should provide 
Gosport Market with stalls and equipment as a means of presenting a more ‘professional look and feel’, 
as well as uniformity of size/presence. 

Current Situation 
Gosport Market is comprised of a mix of stalls of different size and type to suit the category of product 
being sold. In addition, only a small number of traders commit to attending the market on a regular 
basis, the majority preferring to come intermittently for a variety of reasons, including: 

• footfall not high enough to sustain regular attendance
• casual, local traders with other commitments
• attending other markets, and come to Gosport when those are not operating
• weather – Gosport high street is particularly windy which can cause problems for certain types

of products

The Market Manager maintains a flexible arrangement with traders and will often move them around 
depending on availability in order to try to create a cohesive market appearance. The layout of the 
market has also been developed over a period of time in order to keep a balance between the best 
locations for the market stalls, and access for the permanent shops. This means that spaces available 
for stalls are not a standard size and traders have developed bespoke solutions to best fit their allocation. 

For these reasons, it would be very difficult for the Council to provide uniform and consistent market 
stalls and equipment since there is no way of predicting in advance how many traders there are going 
to be, and they all have different requirements. 

Furthermore, the operating costs of providing the equipment would be very high, in addition to the 
capital expenditure involved in their purchase. For example, Harrogate Borough Council spent 
approximately £62,000 per year in storing, transporting and erecting market stalls for their two day per 
week market, including staff time. 

Recent attempts by the operators of Fareham Market to implement uniformity by forcing traders to buy 
gazebos of a particular colour and style have caused a lot of bad feeling and loss of co-operation.  

None of the other local markets visited by Activate had uniform branding except Southampton Market. 
However, stalls there were clustered together which they would not be in Gosport, lessening any impact. 

Recommendations 
For the reasons given above, it is recommended that the issues of trader numbers and footfall are 
prioritised and that the look and feel of the market is initially addressed through investing in some 
merchandise training for the traders.  

Nevertheless, the Customer Research identified that regular artisan craft markets be used to 
complement the existing trader mix and attract more footfall to the town. Since many local crafters will 
not be market regulars, they are unlikely to have their own gazebos. However, the initial feedback is 
that they would require some sort of cover to protect their goods. It is therefore proposed that a number 
be hired for trial craft market events, with a view to potential purchase or request from traders 
to purchase their own, if it is decided to hold these regularly. 

Options for stall hire and purchase are given in Appendix Seven.



Part Three - Trader Consultation 

The Objective 
The objective was to speak to traders individually in order to ensure that they feel engaged with the 
project, that their needs and requirements are understood, and that information is clearly 
communicated to all.  

Visits 
Activate visited the market on two occasions: 

• Tuesday 15 September
• Saturday 10 October

and spoke to all of the traders who were there. 

Feedback 
Most of the traders operate at other markets in the area, particularly Fareham, Portchester and Eastleigh. 
Their general feedback is that whilst Gosport Market used to be busier, they understand that retail has 
changed and that it is also the same situation at those other markets. They were also very appreciative 
of being asked their opinions. 

A lot of the traders have been with Gosport Market a long time. They appreciate the way it is currently 
operated, flexibly and without the need for their permanent commitment, and with the Market Manager 
being given discretion to move stalls around. This is in contrast to Fareham, where recent attempts to 
force the traders to purchase uniform gazebos have caused considerable conflict. 

1. Market Mix 

Most traders agree that Gosport Market needs more stalls, and more variety. Regular craft stalls, themed 
markets and potentially boot sales were particularly mentioned as being complementary to the existing 
mix. One trader, Boho and Blue, has already been discussing a Christmas Craft Market with council 
officers.  

2. Rent  

The rent on Saturdays is seen by traders as being particularly high given the decrease in footfall and 
customer spend due to Covid-19. Current rents are based on the stall frontage: 

• 10ft = £20.00
• 15ft = £27.50
• 20ft = £41.50
• 30ft = £55.00
• 40ft = £65.00

Although this is in line with other Saturday markets in the area, there is a lot of competition both with 
other markets, and other retail, and so many traders are struggling to pay this amount. Rumours that 
Fareham Market is considering opening on a Saturday has also caused a lot of unease. 

Free rent was offered by the council, on both Tuesdays and Saturdays for 3 months from when non-
essential retail re-opened in the middle of June. This had a beneficial impact on both trader numbers 
and footfall. 



 
 

3. Events and Animation 
 
There was interest in events and animation on market days, such as children’s rides, events organised 
in conjunction with the museum, and the involvement of the permanent shops in activities such as fancy 
dress. 
 
4. Marketing and Promotion 
 
Ideas include: 
 

• Signage at the entrances to the market, eg banners, A-frame 
• Leaflet featuring regular traders. This could be on display in the lobby of the Travelodge for 

example 
• Social media training for traders 

 
5. Wider Town Centre Issues 
 
The issue of bikes being ridden at speed along the High Street is one which concerns some of the 
traders, who feel that it is off-putting to customers who want to browse. Police presence is too low to 
be a deterrent.  
 
Another challenge is the number of homeless sleeping in shop doorways. One trader mentioned the 
standard of street cleaning which has declined since the machine broke a few months previously. 
 
6. Other 
 
One trader suggested the council invest in bulk chip and pin machines to allow all traders to accept 
cashless payments. 
 
The issue of traders paying for parking and also the condition of the trader toilets were raised.  
 

 



Part Four - Competitor Research 

The Objective 
The objective was to explore competitor markets within a 50 mile radius of Gosport in order to: 

1. comment upon the barriers towards securing further trader commitment to Gosport, based upon
their options elsewhere on Tuesdays and Saturdays

2. comment upon the types of category on offer at each
3. create a list of operators at competitor markets which may have availability on current Gosport

operating days

Process 
Members of the Activate team visited the following competitor markets: 

• Andover (Thursday Market)
• Alton (Tuesday Market)
• Bitterne (Wednesday Market) 
• Chichester (Wednesday Market)
• Fareham (Monday Market)
• Havant (Tuesday Market)
• Horsham – “Food Rocks” (Saturday Market)
• Lewes (Saturday Farmers Market)
• Petersfield (Wednesday Market)
• Portchester (Wednesday Market)
• Romsey (Tuesday Market)
• Southampton (Friday Market)
• Waterlooville (Friday Market)

At each market, an Audit Sheet was completed, commenting on: the number of stalls, layout, retail mix 
and customer profile. 

1. Comment upon the barriers towards securing further trader commitment to Gosport,
based upon their options elsewhere on Tuesdays and Saturdays

The other markets which operate on a Tuesday are Romsey, Alton and Havant. The competition on 
Saturdays mainly comes from Farmers Markets which operate regularly at Horsham and Lewes, and on 
a rotation basis around the region including at Alton, Emsworth and Ringwood.  

Market size 
All of the Tuesday markets are relatively small markets. Containing between 13 and 19 stalls, they are 
similar size to Gosport which contained 12 stalls on the Tuesday Activate visited, and 23 on the Saturday. 

The Saturday markets visited were also similar in size to Gosport (approximately 20 stalls) but focused 
solely on food and local produce. 



 
 

Rent 
It is not always possible to get rent figures for competitor markets. However, from those obtained 
below, it can be seen that rent is lower at Gosport Market than the other local markets. Nevertheless, 
since the average weekly wages in Gosport are lower than the averages for both South East England 
and Great Britain as a whole 1, it should not be assumed that average customer spend is high enough 
to justify increasing rents at this stage. Gosport Market also faces a lot of competition, particularly on 
Saturdays, both from other markets, but also other retail, and so many traders are already struggling 
to pay this amount (see Section 3). 
  
Gosport 

• Saturday Market  
• Based on frontage 

10ft / 3m = £20.00 
15ft / 4.5m = £27.50 
20ft / 6m = £41.50 
30ft / 9m = £55.00 
40ft / 12m = £65.00 

Alton 
• Tuesday Market 
• Based on 3 x 3m gazebo 

 
£40.00 

Bitterne 
• Price per 10ft / 3m 

 
£30.00 

Horsham Food Market 
• 6 x 3m pitch 

One off guest pitch = £60.00 
Weekly pitch = £45.00 

 
Lewes Food Market 
 
 

4ft / 1.2m = £14.00 
6ft / 1.8m = £20.00 
9ft / 2.75m = £23.00 

Petersfield 
• Based on 3 x 3m gazebo 

Casual = £35.00 
Weekly pitch = £30.00 

Southampton 
• Based on 3 x 3m gazebo 

 
£40.00 

 
 
2. Comment upon the types of category on offer at each 
 
The Tuesday markets visited were comprised of a similar mix of stalls to Gosport: 
 
 Gosport Romsey Alton Havant 
Mobile phones 1 1  1 
Florist/plants 1 2 2 1 
Fashion: clothing  2 1 2 1 
Fashion: other 2 1 1 2 
Charity  1   
Books 1 1   
Toys 1    
Gifts and cards 1 1 1 3 
Pet Supplies 1  1  
Homeware 1   1 
Produce: Fruit & Veg 1 1 1 1 
Produce: Butcher   1  
Produce: Fishmonger   1  
Produce: Other   3 1 
Services (eg utilities, insurance)  3 1 3 
Food     2 
Other (key cutting, e-cigarettes)  1 1 3 
TOTAL 12 13 15 19 

                                                
1 Gosport Borough Profile – Employment and Economy, Gosport Borough Council (Jan 2019) 



 
 

 

Some noticeable differences were the number of produce stalls at Alton Market and the quality of 
product and display, which was slightly higher at Romsey Market.  

Nevertheless, competitor Tuesday markets are not a significant barrier to securing further trader 
commitment at Gosport. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cheese and bakery stalls at Alton Market  

 

Presentation of stalls at Romsey Market 

 



 
 

 
As stated above, local Saturday markets are predominantly food based farmers markets. This may cause 
a potential barrier to securing more produce traders at Gosport on a Saturday - identified by the 
Customer Research as something local residents would like to see. Traders will travel great distances 
to sell at markets where they are established and which have high footfall. Both Horsham and Lewes 
have considerably greater immediate populations than Gosport, as well as being generally more 
accessible. This makes them more attractive to traders than Gosport, which relies heavily on its local 
customer catchment. 

Horsham Food Market 

 
Activate also visited other markets in the area. The full details of those visits are included in Appendix 
Two.  
 
Similarly to the Tuesday markets’ retail mix discussed in detail above, observations from the team were 
that the other markets also had a similar offer, and that not many stalls were aspirational, or the right 
type to approach regarding trading at Gosport. 
 
  



 
 

 
 
3. Create a list of operators at competitor markets which may have availability on current 

Gosport operating days 
 
As detailed in the Customer Research (Section 5), customers would be particularly encouraged to visit 
Gosport Market, and to visit more often, if there were more artisan craft and local produce stalls to 
complement the existing mix. With the exception of the specialist food/farmers markets, not many of 
the operators at the competitor markets visited would be of the right type or quality to achieve this 
objective.  

However, Activate have conducted some initial research into alternative trader sources: 

 

Artisan Craft 

Gosport has a thriving craft sector. One local Facebook group – Gosport Crafters Buy and Sell – has 
over 860 active members. When Activate asked this group if they would be potentially interested in a 
local craft market if one was organised as a trial, over 50 positive replies were received within the first 
day! 

Comments received included: 

“I love this idea. If it is worthwhile for the traders.” 

“Good idea if not too expensive.” 

“I would possibly be interested would depend on cost and venue. Great idea though thank you for 
thinking of craft people.” 

“Great idea, but please ensure the likes of Darcey's, The Body Shop etc are not included. A craft 
fair should be local businesses and not predatory multi-level marketing.” 

 Some of the Gosport Crafters products…  



 
 

 

Local Produce  

Hampshire Fare have a database of 400 members, half of which are local food and 
drink producers. They have suggested that their members would be very interested 
in a trial event at Gosport Market. There are also a large number of micro and craft 
breweries in the area, who would help contribute to one-off events. 

 

Local Community 

Abri Housing Association run an employment scheme called Create – offering ERDF (European REional 
Development Fund) funded training and support for local self-employed. These include 20 Gosport 
micro-businesses who would be interested in taking a regular free pitch, although they would provide 
their own gazebos and equipment. These, and other local charity and community stalls, would add local 
interest and a unique point of difference for the market. 

 

Activate also have experience of working with a number of travelling specialist, themed markets, such 
as vintage or vinyl record fairs who would consider visiting Gosport as part of their national circuit.  

 

 

 

 

 

There is also the opportunity for existing stallholders with specialisms, such as Pete Callard who sells 
medals and war memorabilia (alongside pet food and household goods), to use their local connections 
and bring together similar specialist traders for one-off events, particularly given the area’s heritage 
and the aims and objectives of the Heritage Action Zone. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A draft Lettings Strategy has been included at Appendix Three. 



 
 

Part Five - Customer Research  
 
 
The Objective 
The objective was to seek customer feedback in order to establish what retail / leisure offer shoppers 
would like to see in Gosport Market and what would make them visit / visit more often.  

The Survey 
Activate produced an online survey which was promoted by Gosport Borough Council’s communications 
team via social media and PR.  

• Live from 12 Sept – 7 Oct 2020 
• Fully completed by 263 separate individuals. 
• 77% female 
• Respondents in every age category, with the largest section being 31-40: 

 % 
Under 20 1.5 
21-30 9.6 
31-40 24.9 
41-50 18.8 
51-60 23.0 
61-70 11.5 
Over 71 9.2 
Prefer not to say 1.5 

 
• Over 96% live in the immediate surrounding postcodes to the market. Their feedback is therefore 

very relevant. 

 % 
PO12 73.5 
PO13 23.1 
Other 3.5 

 
• 64% of respondents had visited the market in the last 6 months 
 

Visitor Responses 
Of those who had visited in the last 6 months, the majority of respondents said they visit “occasionally” 
(less than once a month). This demonstrates the potential for increasing loyalty amongst visitors and 
encouraging increased, regular shopping. 
 

 % 
Occasional (less than once per month) 51.4 
Regularly (more than once per month) 24.3 
Most Saturdays 11.0 
Twice per week 5.0 
Most Tuesdays 4.4 
Other/don’t know 3.9 

 
 



 
 

The most popular reason given for visiting the market is to “browse at no particular stall”: 

 % 
To browse at no particular stall 36.7 
Just passing by on way through the High Street 34.2 
Other (see below) 12.1 
To buy from a particular stall (see below) 11.7 
To do regular shopping 5.4 

 
The main answers for which “particular stall” visitors buy from were: 
• Fruit & veg 
• Butcher’s 
• Plants  
• Flowers  

 
Other comments given included the need to support local businesses, and enjoyment of the atmosphere 
in the market. 
 
Visitors were also asked why they like Gosport Market. The main reasons given were the location and 
the chance to shop with local, independent traders. 

 % 
Convenient location 29.3 
Local, independent traders 25.6 
Friendly traders 19.4 
Value for money 13.1 
Choice 6.2 
Other 5.9 

 

When asked, what changes, if any, they would like to see in the market, current visitors expressed a 
preference for (ranked in order of preference): 

1 Craft & artisan stalls 
2 More fresh produce 
3 More food & drink 
4 Events & entertainment 
5 More household goods 
6 Teen market/proactive recruitment of young traders 
7 Extended opening hours 

 
There is clearly an opportunity to extend the current range of goods, by proactively seeking traders 
selling complementary products, particularly fresh produce and artisan craft stalls. This customer 
feedback and proven demand will help encourage these types of traders to Gosport Market. 
 
  



 
 

A large number of other comments were given, which demonstrates how passionately local people feel 
about the market. These ranged from parking to shops on the High Street. A selection of comments 
are given below: 

“What about an outdoor but roof covered area  - the area by the Town Hall would be perfect” 

“Unless the market is cheap/free for traders to display and park it will not succeed.  Be bold, a market 
could be AMAZING, but ONLY if there is fresh blood and a REAL desire to make it different - look at 
other successes.” 

“There needs to be a fully funded marketing plan for the market to promote themes, events and or 
specific stalls. New stall holders will need support over several months until customers get used to 
(and start to expect) a wider range of goods to be available. Support for local producers is essential. 
Clear product labelling (country of origin, method of production etc) is essential to attract people for 
whom "what" they eat is as important as "price". Events will attract people to the market who might 
not have intended to buy anything but will browse if they are there.  It would be great if we could 
have a regular food/farmers market in Gosport.” 

“There are some great small businesses that are looking to drive Gosport from the Dark Ages these 
people need to be involved in reinvigorating the offer.” 

“The reason so many town centres are failing is because people began shopping out of town where 
parking was free and they could get everything they wanted quickly and in one place. I know it's 
been voiced many times before but why not revamp the market and try free parking during market 
hours. If it works bringing more people in free or reduced parking can be expanded. The vast majority 
of those who use the market and high street are like myself, pensioners and people who can't afford 
or don't want to run a car. How to attract people back from the big retail parks should be priority. 
Attract people to come over the ferry from Gun Wharf.” 

“The Market brings life and colour to the High Street, especially during good weather. It would be 
good to increase the range of stalls/stallholders and have more 'high end' stalls to attract an additional 
demographic to the Market. An additional possibility to consider would be relocating the annual Boat 
Jumble to the High Street.” 

“Let’s have more farmers markets and food fairs and maybe wine/beer festival. Use the Ferry 
Gardens.” 

  



 
 

Non-Visitor Responses 
The 36% of responders who hadn’t visited the market in the previous six months, were similarly asked 
why they had chosen not to. The main reason was the range of goods on offer (34.3%) followed by 
the atmosphere (21.1%): 

 % 
Range of goods on offer 34.3 
Other (see below) 22.9 
Atmosphere 21.1 
Don’t visit Gosport Town Centre 16.6 
Don’t shop at markets 2.9 
Price of goods 1.7 
Location 1.1 

 

Some of the comments under “Other”: 

• “I used to love it but has diminished so much I don't bother now.”  
• “Would be better with more stalls.” 
• “Don’t like it because the stalls don’t have very much quality - they need new modern things”  

 
Interestingly, the ranking of priority for changes non-visitors to the market would like to see, which 
would encourage them to visit, was exactly the same as for visitors: 
 

1 Craft & artisan stalls 
2 More fresh produce 
3 More food & drink 
4 Events & entertainment 
5 More household goods 
6 Teen market/proactive recruitment of young traders 
7 Extended opening hours 

 
 
General comments from non-visitors also covered parking and the High Street shops. A selection of 
other comments are below: 
 

“Would be great if the theme of the market could change. For example a farmers market one 
week, the standard market the next, then a craft/gift market the next then back to the normal 
market.” 
 
“I have gone long periods without going to Gosport market because I have lived abroad, and I am 
sad to say every time I return to the town centre there is a noticeable regression.... However, it 
would be so much better if there was actually something exciting. Themed markets would be a 
great idea, because then it's a regular event to bring people in. Local craft, food, and drinks sold 
by local people would be great. Buying a pumpkin pie from a local in October and a mulled wine 
from a local at Christmas. Having something when Portsmouth are playing at home is a good idea 
too. These things may already be happening but I'd have no idea because 1) I never go down 
there 2) my friends never go there 3) it isn't advertised (or maybe it is and I've just not seen it)... 
Sorry if this is harsh, or long, but I feel you are genuinely trying to improve Gosport which I am 
thankful for.” 
  
“Please have more continental choices and local producers of food. I find there is too much tat 
and knock off clothes in the market.” 

 



 
 

Indoor Market 
Both recent visitors and non-visitors were asked what mix of stalls they would like to see in a potential 
indoor market. Again, both sets of respondents gave the same preferences in the same order: 
 
1 Local produce 
2 Arts & crafts 
3 Food & beverage 
4 Household goods 
5 Services (eg hairdressers, nail bars) 
6 Other 

 
Specific mentions include: 

• Local, small businesses 
• Street style food 
• Plants  
• Local charities 
• Jewellery 
• Small furniture 
• Haberdashery 
• Flowers 
• Clothing – including for babies and young children 
• Bric a brac 
• Books 
• Bags 
• Artisan food 

 
 
Stakeholders 
The key stakeholders proposed by the Council were Gosport’s Heritage Action Zone Board. Feedback 
revolved around engaging residents through themed markets, activation and animation, and particularly 
that the market should link into the wider Heritage Action Zone events. The Board were in favour of 
trialling a specialist Christmas Fair, and offered volunteers for storytelling activities.  
 
The Board also requested that the market be unique to Gosport and that it continue to feature a strong 
local community/charity presence through the offer of free stalls for those groups. 



 
 

 
Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
The previous sections have detailed the research which has been undertaken with Gosport Market 
customers, potential customers and traders as well as competitor markets. In summary, this research 
has found: 

• there is a solid base of regular traders at Gosport Market 
• operating costs are very low compared to other markets - employment costs for Market Manager 

and waste removal 
• traders operate at different markets on other days 
• competitor markets are generally at a similar level to Gosport, and whilst rents are higher elsewhere, 

the socio-demographics of the area would not support immediate increases 
• Customer Research identified that there is a lot of local interest in the market. Residents are keen 

to see it thrive, and see more stalls, particularly artisan craft and local produce stalls as the key to 
achieving this.  

• these should be accompanied by a programme of animation and marketing 
 
Market Vision 
By summer 2021, Gosport Market will be a thriving street market with new traders and additional local 
footfall. The market will also attract visitors from further afield for its varied programme of specialist 
markets and events. The market will be an integral part of the Gosport Heritage Action Zone, helping 
deliver its key objectives of: conserving and enhancing Gosport’s heritage; attracting more businesses 
and visitors to the town; improving the town’s health and wellbeing through increased access to fresh, 
local produce and community interaction; and offering increased opportunities for new and expanding 
businesses. 
 
How will this be achieved? 
In order to achieve the vision outlined above, it is recommended to follow a two-stage process: 
 
Stage One 
During this initial stage, it is proposed to focus on increasing trader numbers and footfall through: 
 
• Trial specialist markets: craft markets, farmers markets and themed travelling markets. These 

should initially be invited to attend at low- (if possible no-) cost, in order to animate the space, and 
evidence demand. 

• Events: to add to the atmosphere at the specialist markets. Delivered through closer integration 
with the Heritage Action Zone Board, the museum, St Vincent College music department, and other 
community groups. 

• Marketing and promotion: including improved signage for the regular market, social media 
promotion, leaflets, posters and banners. 

• Proactive trader recruitment: as per the Lettings Strategy (Appendix Three), these will be targeted 
to complement the existing mix. Marketing materials will be produced from the trial events which 
will evidence demand.  

• Trader training: in areas including merchandising, display, customer service, marketing and social 
media 

 
  



 
 

Stage Two 
Once footfall and trader numbers have increased, perceptions about the potential of the market and 
high street altered, and general goodwill amongst traders towards the market improved, the second 
stage will be able to build on this stronger foundation. This will include: 
 
• Continued programme of specialist markets and events (see draft programme at Appendix Four) 
• Continued programme of marketing and promotion (see draft plan at Appendix Five) 
• Opportunity to start increasing rents in line with other local markets 
• Investment into uniform, branded gazebos as detailed in Section Two 
• If footfall is still a concern, investigate options such as reduced parking with proof of market 

purchase 
• Evaluation of potential operating models: a varied programme of events, animation and specialist 

markets, together with associated marketing and promotion, will not be sustainable using the 
existing arrangements of a single Market Manager supplemented by internal Council resource. 
Appendix Six lists future potential operating models which should be assessed at this stage. 

 
 
Trading Days 
From Activate’s research, we do not recommend altering Gosport Market trading days for the following 
reasons: 

• Market Charter: there is little information about the Gosport Market Charter, but from what Activate 
could find it appears that it was granted in 1158 by the Bishop of Winchester who allowed for three 
market-days in each week. Without documentary evidence to prove market rights, legal precedent 
has relied on custom and practice, which in Gosport, has been to hold markets on Tuesdays and 
Saturdays. Given the competition around markets in the area, including the rumoured addition of 
Saturdays at Fareham, which could be contested by Gosport Council on the basis of their own 
Charter, it is not recommended to add any more days which could likewise be contested due to 
lack of custom. 

• Traders: the Trader Consultation highlighted that many of Gosport’s traders also regularly trade at 
other markets on other days, particularly Fareham on a Monday, Portchester on a Wednesday and 
Eastleigh on a Thursday. Thus, it is unlikely that many of them would be able to commit to additional 
days at Gosport 

• Customers: the Research identified that many of the market’s existing customers visit occasionally 
(less than once per month). Currently the market does not have sufficient choice to entice many 
to visit more regularly and so it is unlikely to be able to generate enough footfall to sustain additional 
days. 

 



 
 

Appendix One: 
Risk Assessments  
 



 
Risk Assessment 

Cash Handling 
 

 
 
 

 
Location Original Assessment 

Date 
Review Date Assessed By 

  
  

Description of Job / 
activity being assessed 

Cash Handling –  

*Collecting money from stall holders 

*Moving money to the Bank. 

People that could be harmed:        Market Manager 

Hazards L S RR Precautions in place 

Theft/robbery using 
physical violence  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 4 12 *Lockable storage facility?  
*Presence of staff who are trained in cash handling. 
*Staff briefed on action in the event of a robbery. 
*Minimum amount to be held in or removed from the 
safe at any time. 
*Use opaque bags to carry money. 
*When transporting money to the bank use different 
routes and drive to the bank wherever possible. 
*Whenever possible stagger timings when banking 
  money. 
 
 

 

 

Additional Precautions / Action(s)                                                             By Who & When 
Additional training to be considered   

Manager to Sign and Date here:  

 



                                                                                                   
Risk Assessment 
Manual Handling 

Page 1 of 2 

 
 

Manual handling task:     
Can any aspect of the task be avoided or eliminated:       
YES       NO       

What aspect and how:  

HAZARDS CHECKLIST If Yes 
cross 

Action proposed to reduce any injury 
See over for suggestions of some possible actions 

Action by 
whom / when TASK – does it involve: 

Twisting at the trunk  Ensure staff are trained in lifting - part of which is to shuffle feet to turn rather than twist the 
trunk. 
 
 
Always get help to lift loads down from shoulder height or above. As above training will tell 
you to bend the knees rather than stoop down. Don't carry long distances always obtain a 
barrow to take the load.  

 
Holding loads away from the body  
Stooping or reaching upwards  
Carrying long distances  
Straining to pull or push  
Repetitive handling  
Handling load whilst seated  
Little opportunity to rest or recover  
A work rate imposed by a process  
THE LOADS – are they: If Yes 

tick  
Action proposed to reduce any injury 

See over for suggestions of some possible actions 
Action by 

whom / when 
Heavy for the individual concerned   

Break down any large packing into smaller pieces. Get help to team lift bulky items. Devise 
nets or ropes to encircle any items difficult to grasp. Inspect items that could have a shifting 
load inside. Take care, pad or neutralise sharp edges and wear tough gloves to move any 
sharp items. 

 
 Bulky or unwieldy  

Difficult to grasp  
Liable to shift weight – unpredictable  
Hazardous – sharp, rough, hot  
INDIVIDUAL CAPABILITY - 
does the task: 

If Yes 
tick  

Action proposed to reduce any injury 
See over for suggestions of some possible actions 

Action by 
whom / when 

Require special strength, height or 
reach 

 ………………………………………………………….. 
…………………………………………………………. 
…………………………………………………………. 

 
 

Endanger staff with a health problem  
Endanger pregnant women  
Require special training   



                                                                                                   
Risk Assessment 
Manual Handling 

Page 2 of 2 

 
 

WORKING ENVIRONMENT – 
are there: 

If Yes 
tick  

Action proposed to reduce any injury 
See below for suggestions of some possible actions 

Action by whom 
/ when 

Constraints on posture   
 
 
Check the travel route before lifting to ensure any changes in floor level are known. Take 
care in icy conditions and wear boots with good grip. Grit areas before lifting. Get help to 
move large items in windy weather. Ensure you have sufficient light to see obstructions or 
hazards. 

 
 
 

Poor floor surfaces  
Variations in floor levels  
Hot or cold conditions  
Strong wind  
Poor lighting  
Restrictions on movement due to 
clothing 

 

Obstructions, noise, chemicals   
 
Persons who are NOT permitted to carry out these 
tasks 

 
 

Is a safe working procedure necessary for this task? YES       NO   Procedure number: 
Have all staff who work on this task been trained?          YES        NO   Who else needs training? 

 
 

OVERALL RISK ASSESSMENT LOW          MEDIUM HIGH 
DATE OF ASSESSMENT……………………………………. 
DATE ISSUED TO EMPLOYEE(S)…………………………. 
 
NAME EMPLOYEES (print)………………………………… 
 
SIGNED BY 
EMPLOYEE………………………………………… 

REVIEW DATE …………………………………………………….. 
 
SIGNED ASSESSOR………………………………………………… 

 
 



Risk Assessment 
Slips, Trips and Falls 

 
 

Location Original 
Assessment Date 

Review Date Assessed By 

    

Description of Job / 
activity being 
assessed 

Slips and Trips and falls  

People that could be harmed:        Staff, Public, Traders 

Hazard L S RR Precautions in place 

Slips due to waste 
on floor 
 
Slips or trips due 
to equipment or 
articles on the 
market. 
 
Trips due to 
uneven paving. 
 

   Site checked during opening and closing for potential 
problems, damaged floors, pot-holes, tripping hazards or 
wet / icy floors. Checklist completed. 
 
Staff to clear and grit walkways in icy or snowy 
conditions. 
Equipment and furniture not to be positioned in 
walkways, cables not to cross walkways. 
 
All potential slip and trip hazards to be coned or taped off 
so that they are clearly identified. 

Site to be checked for debris and cleared as necessary. 

 

Additional Precautions / Action(s)                                                              
 

By Who & When 

Uneven floor or paving requiring repair to be reported to the 
Council 

Market Manager 
As soon as possible 
 

Manager to Sign and Date here: 
 

 



 
Risk Assessment 

Movement of Vehicles on Site 
 

Location Original 
Assessment Date 

Review Date Assessed By 

        
Description of Job / 
activity being assessed 

Movement of Vehicles on Site - Always separate pedestrians and 
moving vehicles - where this can't be done movements must be supervised. 

People that could be harmed:        Staff, Public, Traders 

Hazards L S RR Precautions in place 
Struck by moving 
vehicles 

Crushed feet due to 
being run over 

Struck by a falling 
load 

Trapped between 
moving vehicle and 
stationary/fixed 
object 
 
Fall of person on 
the same level. 
 

   Any staff involved in vehicle marshalling to wear high visibility 
garments. 

Plan the movement and liaise with the driver. 

Note site ground conditions are clear and, have no tripping 
hazards. 

Check vehicles do not have a load that can shift or fall. 

No staff to stand directly behind or in front of the vehicle in case 
the driver loses control. 

No staff to stand between moving vehicles and stationary 
objects e.g. parked vehicles, barriers, buildings etc. 
 
All staff to carry torches or similar during hours of darkness. 
 
Watch for 3rd parties walking into danger areas. 

Do not climb onto ledges or truck bodies. 

 
Additional Precautions / Action(s)                                                     By Who  

 
Traders to be briefed on this and other risk 
assessments 
 

Market Manager 

Manager to Sign and Date here: 
 
 
 



 
 

Appendix Two: 
Competitor Markets 
 
Andover Market 
A typical market with large stalls selling fruit and vegetables, and clothes. These stalls were busy. The 
smaller stalls selling phone cases and screen repairs, batteries and watch repairs, showers, and dog 
beds had a much lower number of customers. There was also a small ‘garden centre’ stall with potted 
plants and flowers set on the floor to the front.  

The appearance of the stalls was quite basic, and did not reflect well against the historic character of 
the surrounding Victorian and Georgian buildings. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Bitterne Market 
Bitterne is a small market, with only six stalls on the day Activate visited. These were in a poor condition, 
with a very limited offer, and low level of footfall. 

 
 
 
  



 
 

Chichester Market 
Although the stall layout was not clearly defined, the market was close to the high street, and benefitted 
from its customers. The retail offer was limited, but the quality of stalls and produce was good. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Fareham Market 
Fareham Market contains many of the same traders as Gosport, although on the day Activate visited, 
the weather was poor and so only approximately half of them were there. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 

Petersfield Market 
Petersfield Market was well presented, with clear signage and trader branding on display. Produce 
appeared to be of good quality and there was a reasonable footfall of varying demographics. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Portchester Market 
Retail mix at Portchester was very limited, with the majority of stalls selling fruit and veg, and a few 
selling ladies clothing, cards and flowers. There was no clear layout and the stalls themselves were 
not in the best condition. 

 

 
 
 
  



 
 

Southampton Market 
Another typical market selling mobile phones and accessories, clothing, homeware and some hot food. 
Likely fewer stalls than normal due to the impact of Covid-19. Some effort made at uniformity of stalls, 
and fairy lights. However, no original stalls or interesting products, mostly generic market items, with 
no signage or activities to draw footfall. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Waterlooville Market 
Includes a popular fruit and vegetable stall together with flowers, clothing and accessories. Products 
often appeared to be cheaper quality. 

 

 



 
 

 
Appendix Three: 
Draft Lettings Strategy 
 
This Lettings Strategy sets out how the retail mix within the Gosport Market will be curated in order 
to achieve the vision contained in this report.   
 
 
Objectives: 
 
1. Preserve the variety of local, independent businesses w ithin the market 

The existence of a variety of local, independent business provides a crucial USP for any market.  
Such a local focus will help generate interest and engagement with the local community. 

 
2. Promote market regeneration and economic sustainability 

In our experience markets “make places”, transforming towns into destinations.  Customer research 
has shown that people are prepared to regularly travel considerable distances to shop in markets.  
They also have a proven pivotal role in sustaining and encouraging community cohesion.  For 
example, research undertaken for the annual Love Your Local Market event shows this link between 
markets and community initiatives such as entrepreneurship projects, retraining and reskilling 
schemes, local fundraising and showcasing local traders.  The potential operators identified through 
this Lettings Policy will broaden the appeal of the market as a shopping destination. 

 
3. Create a regular programme of complementary specialist stalls and themed markets 

Responding to the results of the Customer Research, it is proposed to run trial markets introducing 
specialist local, fresh produce and artisan craft stalls, who will both complement and expand the 
range and quality of the existing market offer.  If successful, a regular programme of monthly 
themed markets should be run to increase footfall and animation for the town and the market.  

 
4. Provide opportunities for small, local enterprises, businesses or community groups 

Markets are low-cost, low-risk routes for start-up businesses and an opportunity to test products 
and services on a target audience. 

 
5. Changes Perception 

Trial markets and events which attract footfall, help to change perceptions about the space and 
increase its attractiveness for both customers and potential future tenants. 

 
 
How the Objectives will be met:  
 
1. Existing Traders 

The existing Gosport Market traders will be invited to free training to help improve the appearance 
and promotion of their businesses. 

 
2. Encouraging new  Businesses to Gosport 

New traders, particularly the artisan craft and local produce types requested by respondents to the 
Customer Research, will be invited to participate in trial events in order to evaluate their 
effectiveness before committing to a regular programme of themed, specialist markets. Local 
groups such as Hampshire Fare and artisan craft collectives will be approached to provide lists of 
potential tenants.  
 
After the initial trial events, new regular traders to complement the existing mix should be 
proactively targeted through partnerships with the Chamber of Commerce, Enterprising Gosport, 
Hampshire Fare, local colleges and through social media and offline advertising. The evidence of 
increased footfall, dwell time and spend from the trial markets can be used to create marketing 
materials for new potential lettings. 



 
 

 
New businesses will be selected on the basis of:  

 
i. Quality of product/ service: we will request evidence and/or demonstration of quality where 

appropriate. 
 

ii. Local connections  
    

ii i. Contribution to diversity of goods and services in the market:  in drawing up the target 
list, we will prioritise products or services not currently represented within the market. 

 
iv. Demand for the product/ service: we will continue to refer to the Customer Research, to 

consider the demand for a proposed stall offer. 
 

v. Additional benefits to the market or local community: we will ask potential new tenants 
to demonstrate their commitment and contribution to their local community and/or proposed 
contribution to the new market (for example cross promoting other traders, joint promotions, 
community events etc) 

 
vi. Branding and marketing:  we will chose businesses who actively promote themselves online 

and through social media.  These traders are more likely to add their own footfall to those already 
visiting the market.  

 
vii. Retail theatre: retail theatre is important to animate the space, and create a reason for visitors 

to return to the market.  Our target tenants will be encouraged to bring an element of this to the 
market.  

 
 
 

 
 
 



Appendix Four 
Draft Events Programme 
January • Farmers Market

February • Craft Beer and Vinyl Record Market
• February Half Term:

o children’s crafts
o family activities
o children’s rides

March • Craft Market

April • Farmers Market
• Easter

o children’s crafts
o family activities
o children’s rides

May • VE Day Event
o Tie with HAZ activities
o Medal and war memorabilia stalls

June • Craft Market

July • Farmers Market

August • Summer holidays
o children’s crafts
o family activities
o children’s rides

September • Vintage Fair

October • Farmers Market and British Food Fortnight activities
o children’s crafts
o family activities
o children’s rides

November • Craft Market

December • Christmas
o children’s crafts
o family activities
o children’s rides



 

Appendix Five 
Draft Marketing Plan 
 
Objectives 
 
1. To communicate key messages about the market  
2. To increase awareness of the market and its location 

 
These will be met through ongoing grassroots marketing, including: 
 
• Signage 

At the entrances to the market, to “announce” the customer’s arrival, as well as the dates and 
times of the market operation 
 

• Leaflets  
Maximising the opportunity presented by the new Travelodge and the reopened Museum, have 
leaflets on display promoting the market and its events 
 

• Website and Social Media 
Gosport Market would benefit from its own website and improved social media activity. This has 
had a huge impact on footfall in other markets. For example, Chester Indoor Market has 
implemented a strong online campaign based around the “personality” and “personal touch” of the 
individual traders. 
 
Professional photography was used to create on-site signage and posters, and also formed the 
basis of the dedicated website, of which the most popular section is “Meet the Traders” where 
interesting background is given on the individual tenants, and why customers should shop from 
them. 



 

• Trader Recruitment 
It is important to proactively recruit traders to complement the existing offer. In our 
experience, this is best done using the following process: 

• Creation of a target list of tenants to complement the existing market mix. 
• Production of a sales sheet, highlighting the benefits of trading at the market, as well as FAQs 
• Proactive targeting through: 

o Advert in Market Trader Yearbook 
o Boosted Facebook posts 
o Website and social media promotion 
o Trader “Refer a Friend” Scheme 
o On-site posters and banners 

Increasing trader recruitment will have the added advantage of additional income for the 
market, as well as seizing the opportunity offered by increased entrepreneurialism and loyalty to 
local, independent businesses exacerbated by the current Covid-19 situation. 

 

• Events 
 

British Food Fortnight  
 

With the increased local produce and regular Farmers Markets, British Food Fortnight is an ideal 
opportunity to reach out to potential customers increasingly concerned with buying local, fresh 
produce. 

Ideas include: 
• Online content, including videos, to showcase specific produce traders – eg early morning visit to the fish 

market, “how to” cook a particular cut of meat etc 
• Recipe cards which can be put online, or given out on-site, using produce bought in the market 
• Children’s activities in the market around food and encouraging cooking or growing your own 
 
Activity to be promoted through: 
• Website 
• Social media 
• On-site banners and posters 
• Local PR and advertising 

 
 

Christmas 
 

partner with local schools and charities to create events and activities on-site, including: 

• Choir singing 
• Salvation Army 
• Children’s rides 



Appendix Six 
Market Management Options 

The Activate team have previously experienced different management models when operating markets on 
behalf of private landlords, pension funds, local authorities and property developers. The structure of the 
contract in terms of roles and responsibilities and remuneration can vary. Often this is determined by the 
size and scale of the site, historical working practises and increasingly how to ensure the operator can be 
incentivised to deliver year-on-year income growth.  

The three models which are most often used are summarised below: 

Advantages Disadvantages 

Lease Model • Fixed yearly rent and
s/c contribution

• Long term commitment
from operator

• Operator pays all
operating costs (inc
rates and void unit
costs)

• Landlord has minimum
involvement

• Operator curates site
how they want – does
not necessarily
contribute to wider
place strategy

• Landlord does not
benefit from income
growth

• Retail mix often
determined by need to
meet income targets
rather than quality of
tenant

Lease & Profit 
Share Model/  

Joint Venture 

• Lower fixed rent and
s/c

• Profit share typically
60/40
(operator/landlord)

• Capex typically shared
between landlord and
operator

• Landlord benefits from
income growth and
exceptional income (eg
events)

• More attractive to
operators if site is still
being established

• Operator pays all
operating costs

• Increased shared risk
between landlord and
operator

• Requires robust
business plan

• Can disincentivise
operator from
generating profit which
goes to landlord

• Reducing number of
private operators with
the financial resource
to invest in any capex
required



Management 
Agreement 

• Operator provides
fully integrated
management solution
for which they are
paid agreed monthly
fee

• Landlord retains greater
control and ability to
influence change

• Majority of operating
costs covered by s/c
from tenants

• Landlord benefits from
experienced operators
without day-to-day
operational overheads

• Landlord retains liability
for rates and void unit
costs

• Majority of financial risk
remains with landlord



Gazebo / Stall Hire 

The advantages of hiring equipment include that they can be used for one-off or short-term trial events, 
and do not require long-term storage. 

One option is a self-assemble market stall for hire from Janus Ridgeway (www.tradersupplies.co.uk). 
These are traditional table stalls with a covered table area measuring 6ft x 3ft (1.8m x 0.9m). 

Another alternative are traditional style wooden market barrows, such as those offered by Event Men 
(www.eventmen.co.uk) - also 6ft by 3ft (1.8m x 0.9m) counter. 

Standard gazebos are larger and arguably offer more protection during inclement weather. Companies 
such as YaHire deliver 3x3m gazebos nationwide.  

Janus Ridgeway 
• Self-assemble market stalls
• 20 for a one-off event

£914.00 
Including delivery, collection and VAT 

Event Men 
• Traditional market barrows
• Per barrow per week

£50.00 
Plus delivery, collection and VAT 

YaHire 
• Heavyweight gazebos, including weights and sides
• 18 for a weekend event

£2,345 
Including delivery and collection, plus VAT 

Appendix Seven - Stall Options 

http://www.tradersupplies.co.uk/
http://www.eventmen.co.uk/
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.eventmen.co.uk%2Fgallery%2Fnggallery%2Fslideshow&psig=AOvVaw1sJRYhnkluaGk--8g-8Rhx&ust=1604417574561000&source=images&cd=vfe&ved=0CAIQjRxqFwoTCPCu4K6X5OwCFQAAAAAdAAAAABAE


Gazebo / Stall Purchase 

If it is decided to run regular craft markets, it will become more economical to either purchase 
equipment, or to require traders to bring their own. 

Janus Ridgeway (www.tradersupplies.co.uk) offer a range called the Tansley Elite Market Stall: 

The Tansley Elite is 6ft x 3ft (1.8m x 0.9m) and consists of a high quality zinc plated frame and fitted 
PVC roof and counter skirt tarpaulins, which is available in a wide range of colours, or can even be 
printed with any design.  It's designed to be quickly and easily erected by 1-2 people in less than 5 
minutes. 

Big Kahuna Huts (www.bigkahunahuts.co.uk) sell flat pack carts - a sturdy 6ft x 3ft (1.8m x 0.9m) table 
top on wheels with a large underneath counter for storage.  

Janus Ridgeway 
• Tansley Elite market stalls From  £349.99 ea 

Plus delivery and VAT 
Big Kahuna Huts 
• Traditional market barrows
• Per barrow per week

From £1,799.00 ea 
Plus delivery and VAT 

Various 
• Gazebos From £500 ea 

http://www.tradersupplies.co.uk/
http://www.bigkahunahuts.co.uk/


Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Economic Development Board held 22 September 2021
	Minutes

	6 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan - GBC Response to HCC Consultation
	LCWIP Appendix 2 - Suggested list of LCWIP Projects for HCC to consider

	7 2021-36 DRAFT CULTURAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY, EVIDENCE BASE AND ACTION PLAN
	7B Main Strategy Document (Part 1)
	7C Cultural Strategy Evidence Base Final Draft
	7B Action Plan Final Draft
	07A 'Gosport Cultural Strategy' IIA 18.10.21

	8 Fareham Local Plan 2037: Statement of Common Ground between Fareham Borough Council and Gosport Borough Council
	08A Fareham Borough SoCG Appendix 1
	08B Fareham Borough SoCG  APPENDIX 2

	9 High Street Heritage Action Zone Project G14: High Street Markets Development
	09A Gosport Market Interim Report, Nov 20
	Executive Summary
	Market Audit
	Market Trader Audit
	Saturday

	Market Trader Audit 2
	Tuesday

	Market Audit
	Options Analysis
	Trader Consultation
	Competitor Market Report
	Survey Results
	Conclusions
	Appendix One
	Cash Handling
	Original Assessment Date
	Location

	Manual Handling
	Slips and Trips
	Original Assessment Date
	Location

	Vehicle Movement
	Original Assessment Date
	Location

	Competitor Market Appendix
	Lettings Strategy
	Draft Events Prog
	Marketing Plan
	Operating Models


	12 HSHAZ Lease of 51-52 High Street, Gosport
	13 EXEMPTIONS FROM CORPORATE PROCUREMENT REGULATIONS FOR HSHAZ STRATEGIC INITIATIVES



